Performance and Methane Emissions of RFI Selected Cattle in Drylot and Under Open Range Conditions

by

Nicky Lansink

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Animal Science

Department of Agricultural, Food and Nutritional Science University of Alberta

© Nicky Lansink, 2018

Abstract

Residual feed intake (RFI) is a moderately heritable trait that can be used to measure feed efficiency in beef cattle, and thereby reduce feed related costs. RFI has been primarily evaluated under drylot conditions where diet, feed intake and activity levels are controlled and foraging behaviour is eliminated. Although previous studies have tried to measure RFI on monoculture pasture, it is difficult to accurately determine individual feed intake. The objective of this study was to determine whether there is a difference in performance (change in weight, change in backfat, and pregnancy status) between cattle with molecular breeding values (MBVs) for high and low RFI while foraging under open range conditions. This research also examined differences in methane (CH₄) emissions and dry matter intake (DMI) of high and low RFI heifers with phenotypic RFI values derived in drylot. This research was conducted at the University of Alberta Mattheis Research Ranch. A total of 450 commercial Hereford/Angus cows, with predicted MBVs for RFI, were separated into groups of high, low and medium efficiency. High RFI cows were bred to high RFI bulls, low RFI cows were bred to low RFI bulls and medium RFI cows were bred to medium RFI bulls, where the bulls had their own phenotypes to produce groups of high, low and medium RFI calves. Production metrics, such as cow weight gain, change in backfat and pregnancy status, along with calf growth were collected for the 2015 grazing season. A subset of 60 replacement heifers, selected based on the MBVs of associated dams (30 high and 30 low RFI) were tested for actual feed intake and CH₄ production using GrowSafe and GreenFeed technologies, respectively. A smaller subset of 18 heifers were tested for individual feed intake and CH₄ production while grazing forage oat pasture using an open-path laser system to monitor emissions and a paired n-alkane methodology to predict feed intake. There were no significant differences in the change in weight, change in backfat or pregnancy status between high and low genomically predicted RFI (gRFI) cows. Additionally, high and low gRFI calves had similar growth over the grazing period. High RFI_{FAT} (RFI corrected for backfat) replacement heifers had significantly greater DMI in drylot when compared to the low RFIFAT heifers. Despite differences in DMI, high and low RFIFAT heifers did not differ in growth while in drylot. Methane production in drylot was not significantly different,

however low RFI_{FAT} heifers had significantly greater CH₄ yields. On pasture, there was no significant difference in DMI or CH₄ production or yield between high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers, although there was a trend towards high RFI_{FAT} heifers having greater DMI and producing more CH₄. Ultimately the results indicate that selection for RFI in cow-calf herds on pasture will not compromise productivity of those cattle and it should not impact their ability to produce offspring. Additionally, selection is likely to reduce feed intake and CH₄ emissions on both pasture and in drylot. Future research is necessary to validate the pasture DMI and CH₄ emission results.

AKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to start by thanking my supervisors Dr. Edward Bork and Dr. Graham Plastow from the faculty of Agriculture, Life and Environmental Sciences at the University of Alberta. Both Dr. Bork and Dr. Plastow were always available to provide guidance and support throughout my Master's studies. They allowed me to have full control over the direction of my thesis, while still managing to keep me focussed and on track, and for that I am very thankful. Next, I would like to thank my fellow graduate student, Carly Moore, for her continued support and help throughout the project, this project would not have been such an enjoyable experience without her.

I have many experts, volunteers and helpers to thank. I would like to thank Dr. Carolyn Fitzsimmons, a committee member, for her mentorship, support and help with data collection. I would like to thank Dr. John Crowley for his assistance with the molecular breeding values, Dr. Ghader Manafiazar for his assistance with statistical analysis, as well as Dr. Mohammed Abo-Ismail for his assistance in calculating breed composition and retained heterozygosity. I also want to acknowledge the team at Livestock Gentec for their continued support and assistance with sampling. I want to recognize Yan Meng for her tireless efforts in helping me with lab work and processing samples. I want to thank Dr. John Basarab and Lisa McKeown, from Alberta Agriculture and Forestry, for their help with sampling, analysis and for always being available to answer any of my questions. I would like to acknowledge Dr. Tom Flesch, from the department of Earth and Atmospheric Sciences at the University of Alberta, for his enthusiasm in helping with the pasture methane collection and his help throughout the writing and analysis process. I would like to thank Don Armitage, manager of the University of Alberta Mattheis Research Ranch, for his endless support, his wisdom and his help with the cattle. Additionally, I want to thank the Rangeland Research Institute for allowing me to conduct my studies at the Mattheis Ranch. Most importantly I must acknowledge the Doerksen family for allowing us to use their cattle in this study, and for their assistance with the cattle and with data collection. Without the Doerksen family this project

would not have been possible. I must also thank the funding agencies that contributed to this research: Emissions Reduction Alberta, Alberta Agriculture and Forestry and Delta Genomics.

Finally, I express my deepest gratitude to my parents, Tony and Leonie Lansink, and my partner Hal Nixdorff for providing me with endless support and continuous encouragement throughout my years of study. This accomplishment would not have been possible without them, thank you.

Author,

Nicky Lansink

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1:Literature Review & Introduction	1
Introduction to Feed Efficiency	1
Testing for Feed Efficiency	1
Residual Feed Intake (RFI)	2
RFI in Drylot	3
RFI on Pasture	5
Performance of Cattle with Divergent RFI	5
Relationship between RFI and Carcass Characteristics	6
Relationship between RFI and Fertility	8
Biological Variation in RFI	9
RFI and Methane Production	15
Methanogens and Methanogenesis	17
Methane Production from Cattle on Pasture	19
Ongoing Research	19
Thesis Structure	20
Chapter 2: Production metrics of cows and calves on pasture with molecular breeding values for RFI	[21
Introduction	21
Materials and Methods	24
Results	29
Discussion	31
Conclusion	34
Chapter 3:Dry matter intake and methane emissions of heifers with divergent RFI in drylot	44
Introduction	44
Materials and Methods	47
Results	53
Discussion	55
Conclusion	59
Chapter 4:Methane production and dry matter intake of replacement heifers on pasture	73
Introduction	73
Materials and Methods	75
Results	81
Discussion	83
Conclusion	.88
Chapter 5:Synthesis	.103
Research Conclusions	.103
Industry Implications	.105
Future Research	.106
Literature Cited	.107
Appendix A – Analysis of Molecular Breeding Values	.120
Appendix B – Feed Sample Analysis	.125
Appendix C – Alkane Pellets	.128
Appendix D – Paddock Layout and Forage Management	.132

LIST OF TABLES

Chapter 2
Table 1 – ANOVA table of high, medium and low gRFI cow and calf production metrics
Table 2 – Production metrics of high, medium and low gRFI calves
Table 3 – Production metrics of high, medium and low gRFI cows
Chapter 3
Table 1 – Composition of barley silage fed during drylot dry matter intake trial
Table 2 – Composition of diets 1 and 2 used in the GreenFeed Emissions Monitoring System62
Table 3 – ANOVA table of high and low RFI _{FAT} heifer drylot dry matter intake
Table 4 – Dry matter intake and performance of high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers in drylot
Table 5 – ANOVA table of CH4 and CO2 production and yield in drylot
Table 6 – Mean and standard deviation of CH4 and CO2 production and yield in drylot
Chapter 4
Table 1 – Alkane pellet nutritional composition used in the dosing period
Table 2 – Nutritional composition of forage oats grazed during dosing and warm-up periods
Table 3 – ANOVA table of dry matter intake and production metrics of heifers on pasture
Table 4 – LSM values for dry matter intake and production metrics of heifers on pasture
Table 5 – ANOVA table of CH_4 production and yield of heifers on pasture
Table 6 – LSM values for CH_4 production and yield of heifers on pasture
Annendix A
Table A1 – Mean parameters of α RFI groups of cows 123
Table A_2 – Average retained heterozygosity and breed composition distribution of high
medium and low gRFL cows
Annendix C
Table C1 – Percentage of ingredients present in the n-alkane pellet feed blend 131
Table C_2 – n-alkane pellet ingredient preparation by batch [31]
rable 62 in-alkane penet ingredient preparation by baten

LIST OF FIGURES

Chapter 2
Fig. 1 – Regression of phenotypic RFI _{FAT} and calf 205-dy adjusted weaning weights
Fig. 2 – Regression of phenotypic RFI _{FAT} and calf weaning weights
Fig. 3 – Regression of the change in cow weight and predicted RFI value
Fig. 4 – Regression of the change in cow backfat and predicted RFI value
Fig. 5 – Proportion of predicted high, medium and low RFI cows that became pregnant in the
first and second breeding cycles, and the proportion of cows that were open43
Chapter 3
Fig. 1 – Regression of replacement heifer dry matter intake and phenotypic RFI _{FAT}
Fig. 2 – Bargraph of total CH ₄ production of high and low RFI _{FAT} heifers in drylot in each
time bin
Fig. 3 – Regression of daily CH ₄ production and phenotypic RFI _{FAT} of heifers in drylot69
Fig. 4 – Regression of average daily CH4 production and average daily dry matter intake of
heifers in drylot70
Fig. 5 – Regression of phenotypic RFI _{FAT} and average daily CH ₄ yield of heifers in drylot71
Fig. 6 – Regression of average daily CH4 yield and average daily dry matter intake of heifers
in drylot72
Chapter 4
Fig. 1 – University of Alberta Mattheis Ranch Pivot 4 set up to monitor pasture dry matter
intake and CH ₄ emissions90
Fig. 2 – Layout of individual feeding pens and handling facility set up for individual feeding of
alkane pellets and collection of fecal samples
Fig. 3 – OP-FTIR unit set up to monitor pasture CH ₄ emissions
Fig. 4 – Image produced by WindTrax software showing CH ₄ emissions on pasture95
Fig. 5 – Schedule of CH ₄ observations collected over an eight-day period96
Fig. 6 – Regression of daily dry matter intake and individual RFI _{FAT} for each observation day101
Fig. 7 – Diurnal pattern of CH ₄ production of high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers on pasture102
Appendix D
Fig. D1 - University of Alberta Mattheis Ranch Pivot 4 set up to monitor pasture dry matter
intake and CH ₄ emissions

LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS

AAFC - Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada ADF – acid detergent fibre ADG – average daily gain ARD - Alberta Agriculture and Rural Development AAF – Alberta Agriculture and Forestry ANCOVA – analysis of covariance ANOVA – analysis of variance BCRC – Beef Cattle Research Council BFend - backfat at the end of the trial **BW** – body weight C_{31} – alkane with 31 carbons C_{32} – alkane with 32 carbons Ca – calcium CH₄ – methane CO₂ – carbon dioxide **CP** – crude protein **CVAS** – Cumberland Valley Analytical Services **DM** – dry matter DMI – dry matter intake DNA – deoxyribonucleic acid D_i – dose rate EFI – expected feed intake FCR – feed conversion ratio $\mathbf{F_i}$ – fecal C₃₁ concentration \mathbf{F}_{j} – fecal C₃₂ concentration GEMS - GreenFeed Emissions Monitoring System **GHG** – greenhouse gas gRFI – genotypic RFI H_i – forage C_{31} concentration H_j – forage C₃₂ concentration

H+-Hydrogen ion IGF-1 - Insulin-like Growth Factor 1 **IPCC** – Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change **IS** – pellet intake LSM - least square mean MAS - marked assisted selection MBV – molecular breeding value ME – metabolizable energy MIDWT - metabolic midweight NDF - neutral detergent fibre NRC - National Research Council **OP-FTIR** – Open Path Fourier Transform Infrared **P** – phosphorus pRFI – phenotypic RFI QTL – quantitative trait loci **RFI** – residual feed intake RFID - radio frequency identification RFI_{FAT} – RFI adjusted for backfat rRNA – ribosomal ribonucleic acid SAS - Statistical Analysis Software SDMI - standardized daily dry matter intake SF₆-sulfur hexafluoride S_i – pellet C_{31} concentration S_j – pellet C_{32} concentration SNP – single nucleotide polymorphism TDN – total digestible nutrients VFA – volatile fatty acid 50K - fifty thousand

HSD - Honest Significant Difference

Chapter 1: Introduction and Literature Review

Introduction to Feed Efficiency

Feed efficiency in beef cattle is a concept which came about shortly after World War II when nutrition, management and feeding innovations allowed for more efficient production of beef (Riggs 1958). Riggs (1958), explained that success in the beef industry began with a better understanding of chemical composition and digestibility of feedstuffs. Ultimately, efficiency was achieved when the correct feedstuffs were used in the optimal conformation and ratios. Today, approximately 70-75% of total dietary energy intake is used for maintenance, leaving only about 30% of feed intake for growth and reproduction (Ferrell and Jenkins 1985; Montano-Bermudez et al. 1990; National Research Council (NRC) 1996). Feed is one of the largest variable costs in the beef industry (Alberta Agriculture and Rural Development (ARD) 2005; Ramsey et al. 2005), making it an important determinant of profitability. With intentions of increasing profitability, the beef industry looks to maximize production efficiency while minimizing input costs. Selecting for more efficient cattle is one way that costs may be reduced.

Testing for Feed Efficiency

Historically, cattle efficiency measures were dependent on the feed conversion ratio (FCR), a ratio of feed intake to body weight gain. Animals with a low FCR consume less feed per kilogram of body weight gain, while animals with higher FCR consume more feed for unit of weight gain. Industry has moved away from using FCR however, because it has little value as a trait used to genetically improve efficiency, even with its moderate heritability (Crews 2005). The primary limitation of FCR is that it represents a gross measure of feed intake, meaning it does not distinguish between maintenance and growth requirements (Carstens and Tedeschi 2006). It is difficult to select for low maintenance requirements because the feed to gain ratio is related to growth rate and body size (Arthur et al. 2001). As a result, selecting for increased growth and improved FCR is likely to result in increased maintenance requirements (Van der Werf 2004; Crews 2005) rather than growth. Genetic evaluation for FCR is also unpredictable and can be problematic because usually more emphasis is placed on the trait with greater

genetic variance (Gunsett 1984; Kennedy et al. 1993; Van der Werf, 2004). Koots et al. (1999) and Berry (2012) explained that the genetic correlation between the numerator and the denominator in a FCR relationship is positive, suggesting selection for improved FCR leads to cattle that grow faster, but with a greater mature size and increased maintenance and feed requirements (Bishop et al. 1991; Archer et al. 1999; Herd and Bishop 2000; Crews 2005; Kelly et al. 2010, 2010a). Feed conversion and gross feed efficiency calculations are not phenotypically independent of growth and body size (Meyer et al. 2008), meaning that selection for cattle with superior FCR will inadvertently result in larger cattle with higher maintenance requirements. Selection decisions based on FCR are therefore likely to decrease feed efficiency in the long run.

Residual Feed Intake

Residual feed intake (RFI) is a measure of feed efficiency, calculated as the difference between actual and expected feed intake (Koch et al. 1963; Arthur et al. 1996; Basarab et al. 2003; Nkrumah et al. 2006). RFI is a concept which was initially proposed by Byerly (1941) and first defined by Koch et al. (1963). RFI is now identified as the measure of choice when determining efficiency in beef cattle (Herd and Arthur 2009). Koch et al. (1963) proposed that feed intake should be separated into two components, including (1) feed intake for a given level of production, and (2) the residual portion of feed. Remaining (i.e. residual) feed could be used to identify animals that deviate from the expected level of intake, with animals having greater negative residuals identified as being more efficient (Koch et al. 1963). Calculating RFI requires estimation of an animal's expected feed intake, calculated using performance data from contemporary groups of animals while also considering the animal's weight and their expected growth over a given period of time (Carstens 2006). By definition, RFI is considered independent of production, growth and body size (Koch et al. 1963; Kennedy et al. 1993; Crews 2005). Herd et al. (2014) explained that selection for animals with low RFI resulted in decreased feed intake without compromising body size or growth. Basarab et al. (2003) concluded that low RFI cattle had lower feed costs by \$45.80

head⁻¹ over a 120-day feeding period (\$0.101kg⁻¹ as fed); suggesting that selecting for RFI could reduce overall production costs.

RFI can be used as a tool by producers to increase the efficiency of their cattle, especially considering that, along with other feed intake measures, RFI is moderately heritable ($h^2 = 0.29-0.46$) (Archer et al. 1998; Arthur et al. 2001; Schenkel et al. 2004; Bouquet et al. 2010). Moderate to high heritability in genetic variation suggests that there is an opportunity to select for more efficient cattle with lower maintenance energy requirements (Bishop 1992; Carstens et al. 1989). Arthur et al. (2001a) noted significant improvements in RFI after only two generations of selection by breeding the most efficient dams with the most efficient sires. Selecting for RFI using a multi-trait selection index can result in a 0.75% to 1.0% genetic change per year (Basarab et al. 2013).

RFI is considered to be repeatable across different phases of the beef production cycle, as long as cattle are on similar diets (Kelly et al. 2010a). Durunna et al. (2011) reported lower phenotypic repeatability (rp=0.33 to 0.42) between successive feed intake tests where cattle were on diets differing in energy content (e.g., low vs. high energy). From the grower to the finisher phase, 51% to 58% of cattle were re-ranked (e.g., cattle with a negative RFI value on a grower diet had a positive RFI value on a finisher diet, or vice versa) for RFI due to the change in dietary energy (Durunna et al. 2011). Similar results were noted by Kelly et al. (2010), where 54% re-ranking in RFI occurred. Yet other studies (Crews et al. 2003; Carstens and Tedeschi, 2006; Kelly et al. 2010a) have identified a moderate to high positive repeatability (0.62) between RFI measured in animals on a grower diet and a finisher diet.

RFI in Drylot

Although selecting for RFI is likely to result in more efficient cattle, measuring individual feed intake and body weight gain is an expensive, and sometimes difficult, process (Moore et al. 2009). Phenotypic measures of RFI have been collected in several non-ruminant livestock species including pigs (Gilbert et al. 2007), laying hens (Luiting and Urff, 1991) and fish (Silverstein et al. 2005), where animals are often

fed and housed individually. In beef cattle, phenotypic measures of RFI are commonly collected in a drylot setting where the environment and feed intake are uniform and tightly controlled (Basarab et al. 2003; Wang et al. 2006). GrowSafe[®] (GrowSafe Systems Ltd., Airdrie, Alberta, Canada) equipment automatically monitors individual animal feed intake and is often used to assess individual feed intake, and RFI, in a group of young growing cattle with a maximum age difference of 60 days (Basarab et al. 2003, 2011). Cattle being tested for RFI in drylot are subject to a 21-28-day dietary adjustment period (Basarab et al. 2003), which is followed by a 76-day test in which individual feed intake and animal growth are measured (Wang et al. 2006). Cattle are weighed on two consecutive days at the start of the 76-day trial, at 14-28-day intervals throughout the trial and then again on two consecutive days at the end of the trial period (Basarab et al. 2003). At least six weights are collected over the duration of the trial; more weights results in increased accuracy of growth rates. RFI values of slaughter cattle, heifers and bulls are adjusted for body fatness, as the latter is independent of RFI (Basarab et al. 2003, 2007, 2011; Schenkel et al. 2004; Crews, 2005). Therefore, ultrasound backfat measurements are also collected at the beginning, and sometimes the end, of the trial (Basarab et al. 2003 and 2011). Due to variation in DMI within and between-animals, as well as variation in growth patterns, tests must be long enough to accurately capture an animal's growth rate while also eliminating within-animal variations of DMI. Although individual feed intake can be accurately measured in 35-42 days (Wang et al. 2006), greater trial durations are necessary to accurately measure an animal's growth rate (Culbertson et al. 2015; Manafiazar et al. 2017) which is why current RFI trials are typically 76 days in length. Although Culbertson et al. (2015) concluded that a 56-day test would provide reliable and stable phenotypic RFI values, current test durations tend to be at least 70 days, allowing for days with data interruptions (i.e. power outages, data interference) to be eliminated, while still collecting sufficient days of data for the calculation of RFI.

RFI on Pasture

Previous RFI studies with cattle on pasture involved grazing of monoculture pastures and they have proven challenging due to the difficulty in calculating individual feed intake (Meyer et al. 2008). Moreover, RFI scores from the same cattle tested in drylot and on pasture will not necessarily be the same because feed type, feed intake, activity levels and the environment can vary widely. Biotic and abiotic factors in the environment can affect forage type and quality across a rangeland (Bailey et al. 1996), meaning that cattle productivity is driven by the forages and habitats which they select. It is important to understand the performance of RFI selected cattle on pasture because it can help determine whether RFI has an effect on the forages which cattle select, and whether foraging on pasture will have an effect on the performance of cattle selected for low RFI. Manafiazar et al. (2015) studied feed intake of 20 (10 high and 10 low RFI) beef heifers on pasture using n-alkanes. High RFI heifers consumed significantly more forage (kg DM day⁻¹) when expressed as a percentage of body weight (Manafiazar et al. 2015). Although not significantly different, Meyer et al. (2008) observed lower grazed forage intake of low RFI cows, when compared to high RFI cows, identified as being high or low RFI as heifers in drylot. Additionally, no differences were noted in body weight change, or body condition score change, between high and low RFI cows, suggesting similar performance on pasture (Meyer et al. 2008). Another pasture-based study, conducted by Herd et al. (2002a), studied divergently-selected backgrounding steers and reported that, although not statistically significant, low RFI steers had lower DMI and superior average daily gain (ADG). These studies prove that selecting for RFI in cattle on pasture should reduce their overall feed intake without hindering their growth and production.

Performance of Cattle with Divergent RFI

Previous studies have shown reduced feed intake by low RFI cattle when compared to their high RFI counterparts (Archer et al. 1998; Basarab et al. 2003; Castro Bulle et al. 2007; Fitzsimons et al. 2013; Manafiazar et al. 2015; McDonnell et al. 2016). Variation in feed intake was most often related directly to

variation in maintenance requirements (Herd et al. 2004). More specifically, Archer et al. (1998) observed that low RFI breeding bulls consumed 2.5 kg day⁻¹ less feed than high RFI bulls over a 120 day test period. Similarly, Basarab et al. (2003) found that low RFI steers consumed 0.55 kg day⁻¹ and 0.93 kg day⁻¹ less feed than medium and high RFI steers, respectively. Castro Bulle et al. (2007) noted that low RFI steers had significantly lower feed intake than high RFI steers (6.61 kg day⁻¹ vs. 7.52 kg day⁻¹). Similarly, Fitzsimons et al. (2013) tested heifers with differing RFI and reported that low RFI heifers consumed 9% and 15% less feed than medium and high RFI heifers, respectively. In addition, steers identified as low RFI in drylot consumed 5.3% less forage when fed meadow bromegrass (*Bromus riparius* Rehm) under penned conditions (Manafiazar et al. 2015). Although most studies have identified a lower DMI in low RFI cattle, Lawrence et al. (2012) did not detect any significant differences in DMI between grazing beef heifers of differing RFI classification.

A positive correlation has been identified between DMI and RFI, indicating that low RFI cattle consume less feed than high RFI cattle. RFI is moderately (r=0.47) to highly (r=0.72) correlated with feed intake (Arthur et al. 2001, 2001a; Herd et al. 2002; Basarab et al. 2003, Nkrumah et al. 2007; Kelly et al. 2010a). Nkrumah et al. (2004) found a significant correlation (r=0.77) between RFI and DMI of cattle fed high corn finishing rations. Fitzsimons et al. (2013) also noted a significant positive correlation (r=0.63) between RFI and DMI of beef heifers consuming a grass silage diet. Finally, McDonnell et al. (2016) compared the DMI of high and low RFI cattle across three different diets, including grass silage, perennial rye grass pasture (*Lolium perenne* L.) and a corn silage and concentrate total mixed ration (TMR) and found a significant correlation (r=0.5) between RFI and DMI only when cattle were fed the TMR (McDonnell et al. 2016). These results demonstrate the importance of evaluating RFI using several different feed ingredients, including forages that would be grazed on pasture.

Relationship between RFI and Carcass Characteristics

By definition, RFI is independent of growth and body size (Koch et al. 1963; Kennedy et al. 1993; Crews 2005), implying that there is no expected difference in growth between high and low RFI cattle (Kennedy

et al. 1993), although it should be noted that low growth rates can be seen in both efficient and inefficient cattle. Not only should high and low RFI cattle have similar growth, they also tend to have similar carcass characteristics (Basarab et al. 2003; Hill and Ahola, 2012). Castro Bulle et al. (2007) reported similar dressed carcass yield, backfat thickness, marbling score, and yield grade between high and low RFI cattle; low RFI steers tended to gain less, although not significantly (P=0.078), compared to high RFI steers. Fitzsimons et al. (2013) also reported no differences in muscle depth, muscularity scores, fat depth or ultrasonic fat measures between high and low RFI heifers. No correlation was found between RFI and the following carcass measures; muscle depth, muscularity score, ultrasonic fat and body condition score (Fitzsimons et al. 2013). In contrast to these investigations, a weak positive correlation has been reported between RFI and ultrasound measures of fat depth (Arthur et al. 2001a; Basarab et al. 2003; Robinson and Oddy, 2004). More specifically, Basarab et al. (2003) and Arthur et al. (2001a), reported slight positive relationships (r=0.14 and r=0.11, respectively) between RFI and ultrasonic measures of fat depth at the 12th and 13th rib. Furthermore, RFI was noted to have a positive correlation (r=0.22) with ultrasound backfat measures (Basarab et al. 2003). Similarly, Richardson et al. (2001) concluded that RFI selection over a single generation was associated with a reduction in overall carcass fat content, indicating low RFI cattle tend to have lower fat measures.

Aside from carcass fat characteristics, Crowley et al. (2010) stated that improvements in feed efficiency should result in cattle with increased muscularity and as explained by Lawrence et al. (2011), increased muscularity appears to be associated with increased concentrations of creatinine, which is produced as a result of muscle breakdown. In sheep, creatinine concentrations were positively and negatively associated with muscle mass and fat depth, respectively (Cameron 1992; Clarke et al. 1996). Similarly, Richardson et al. (2001) reported a relationship between body chemical composition and RFI. More specifically, steer progeny of low RFI cows had less fat and more protein than progeny of high RFI cows (Richardson et al. 2001), and leptin concentrations were greater in high RFI steers (Richardson et al. 2004). Increased leptin concentrations are associated with increased fatness in cattle (Chillard et al. 1998; Minton et al. 1998), suggesting that high RFI steers are fatter than low RFI steers. Along with leptin concentrations, urea concentrations were reported to have a negative relationship with lean growth in sheep (Cameron 1992; Clarke et al. 1996) and muscle protein content in dairy bulls (Robinson et al. 1992), while having a positive relationship with RFI in growing steers (Richardson et al. 2004). Collectively, these studies suggest that high RFI cattle are fatter than their low RFI counterparts.

Relationship between RFI and Cow Fertility

Past selection for FCR, which resulted in increased mature cow size and increased body weight gain, was also associated with a delay in the onset of puberty (Lesmeister et al. 1973). More recent studies considering the relationship between RFI and cow-calf production efficiency have identified that cows which produced low RFI progeny tended to calve 5 to 6 days later, likely resulting from a delay in the onset of puberty (Basarab, et al. 2007) as a result of lower body fat. Arthur et al. (2005) observed no significant difference in calving date of high and low RFI cows, though low RFI cows tended to calve later; overall cow productivity (i.e. ability to reproduce, maintain body weight and body condition, and ability to raise a healthy calf) remained the same between the two groups (Arthur et al. 2005). This same investigation found that high RFI cows had significantly more backfat, although it did not appear to have an effect on calving date (Arthur et al. 2005). Studies conducted in other multi-parous species have identified a positive correlation between egg number and RFI in poultry (Hagger 1994), as well as a weak positive correlation between RFI and litter size in mice (Hughes and Pitchford 2004), suggesting that selection for RFI over several generations could have a negative effect on fertility. Shaffer et al. (2011) conducted a study on a total of 137 yearling Angus, Angus-cross, and Hereford heifers, and analyzed their performance based on phenotypic RFI values. Results indicated that low RFI heifers reached puberty significantly later, and although not significantly different, tended to have lower pregnancy rates and lower conception rates compared to high RFI heifers. Linear relationships between RFI and age at puberty showed that the latter could be reduced by an average of 7.5 days with a one unit increase in RFI (Shaffer et al. 2011), and overall body fatness could be used to predict the onset of puberty. Greater levels of

backfat tend to increase luteinizing hormone activity (Schillo et al. 1992), resulting in earlier onset of puberty (Shaffer et al. 2011).

Selecting for RFI may also have an effect on fertility of breeding bulls. Wang et al. (2012) found that sperm motility was significantly lower in low RFI bulls as compared to high RFI bulls. More specifically, 10.2% of low RFI bulls, and 4.4% of high RFI bulls, did not meet the minimum sperm motility requirement of 60% (Wang et al. 2012). Although sperm motility was lower in efficient bulls, the average number of progeny per sire was significantly higher (P < 0.01) in low RFI bulls (Wang et al. 2012). Wang et al. (2012) speculated that a greater number of progeny per sire may come as a result of low maintenance requirements in low RFI cattle, therefore resulting in greater energy reserves for breeding. Wang et al. (2012) also suggested that feeding behaviors may contribute to the differences in progeny per sire, as low RFI cattle tend to spend less time eating (Durunna et al. 2011), making more time available for breeding. Fox et al. (2004) studied net feed intake of Bonsmara bulls to determine its effects on scrotal circumference and fertility. Net feed intake was not correlated with scrotal circumference and there was no difference in semen concentrations or breeding soundness between bulls with differing net feed efficiencies (Fox et al. 2004). There is a possibility that selecting for RFI can compromise fertility of bulls and breeding females, as a result of reductions in overall body fatness and possible reductions in sperm motility.

Biological Variation in RFI

RFI is a complex concept and differences in RFI come as a result of several different biological processes. Herd et al. (2004a) identified 5 major biological processes that contribute to differences in RFI: 1) feed intake, 2) feed digestion, 3) anabolism and catabolism, 4) activity levels and 5) thermogenesis. Herd and Richardson (2004) reported that 73% of the variation in RFI could be explained by activity, body composition, and metabolic processes, which is in agreement with findings from Nkrumah et al. (2006), Basarab et al. (2003), and Carstens et al. (2002). Further research by Herd and Arthur (2009) revealed that protein turnover, stress susceptibility, and feeding patterns were also potential contributors to differences

in RFI. Maintenance of cell structure and function, along with protein turnover and ion transport, are also possible sources of metabolic expenditure and heat loss (McBride and Kelly 1990; Baldwin and Sainz 1995).

Nutrient Digestibility

About 10% of the variation in RFI can be explained by inherent differences in feed digestibility (Herd and Arthur 2009). Thus far, several studies have reported RFI to be negatively correlated with digestibility (Nkrumah et al. 2006; Krueger et al. 2009; McDonald et al. 2010), indicating that low RFI cattle tend to have greater digestibility (Herd and Arthur 2009). Nkrumah et al. (2006) reported greater crude protein (CP) and dry matter (DM) digestibility in low RFI steers. More specifically, low RFI steers had 75.3% DM digestibility, compared with 73.4% and 70.9% DM digestibility in medium and high RFI steers, respectively (Nkrumah et al. 2006). Low RFI steers had 74.7% CP digestibility, compared with 73.5% and 69.8% CP digestibility in medium and high RFI steers, respectively (Nkrumah et al. 2006). Although Nkrumah et al. (2006) did not report significant differences in DM or CP digestibility (P=0.10, P=0.09, respectively) between RFI groups, these differences were notable. Basarab et al. (2013) found a similar trend, with RFI negatively correlated with DM and CP digestibility (r=-0.55, r=-0.47, respectively). In contrast, research conducted by Gomes et al. (2013) found no significant difference (P=0.18) in apparent DM digestibility between high (72.3%) and low RFI (75.2%) steers on a finishing diet; however, these results were based on the collection of fecal samples, orts, and urine samples. When using lignin and acid-insoluble ash markers, DM digestibility did not appear to differ between high and low RFI cattle (Cruz et al. 2010; Lawrence et al. 2011).

Differences in the efficiency of microbial protein production has also been known to supply varying amounts of amino acids (Kahn et al. 2000), as evidenced by differences in amino acid profiles in the portal vein (Lush et al. 1991), which can affect digestion and overall nutrient availability. Differences in nutrient retention and excretion also help to explain differences in digestibility. When analyzing nitrogen retention and excretion, nitrogen retention was greater, although not significantly (P=0.34),

within low RFI steers (60 g day⁻¹) when compared to high RFI steers (53.2 g day⁻¹) (Gomes et al. 2013). Nitrogen excretion was greater in high RFI steers (97.3 g day⁻¹ vs. 108.8 g day⁻¹, P=0.31, Gomes et al. 2013), with no significant differences in nitrogen digestibility between high and low RFI cattle (Cruz et al. 2010; Lawrence et al. 2011).

Blood Metabolites

When studying differences in overall blood composition between high and low RFI cattle, Fitzsimons et al. (2013) noted 9% lower (P < 0.05) creatinine concentrations in high RFI cattle, along with significantly higher blood metabolite concentrations of glucose and urea, when compared to low RFI cattle. Creatinine was reported to have a negative correlation (r = -0.41) with RFI (Fitzsimons et al. 2013), which supported earlier research by Tatham et al. (2000) where a positive correlation between plasma creatine: urea ratios and RFI was reported. Fitzsimons et al. (2013) also determined the concentrations of the following metabolites in high, medium and low RFI cattle; beta-hydroxybuterate, non-esterified fatty acids, triglycerides, total protein, albumin and globulin, none of which were reported to differ with RFI. High RFI cattle were reported to have greater concentrations of total plasma protein, urea and aspartate amino transferase, providing evidence of greater protein turnover (Richardson and Herd 2004). Higher levels of total plasma protein were also reported in cattle with high RFI (Richardson et al. 2006), reflecting differences in rates of protein degradation and synthesis. In addition, Richardson et al. (2004) detected a genetic association between RFI and white blood cell variables, as well plasma cortisol, suggesting that high RFI cattle are more susceptible to stress due to greater white blood cell counts and cortisol concentrations. Knott et al. (2008) noted similar results in high RFI rams, as they had greater concentrations of plasma cortisol. This suggests that high RFI animals may have greater stress responses, potentially leading to greater energy expenditure, increased protein degradation and lipolysis (Knott et al. 2008). Furthermore, Karisa et al. (2014) examined blood metabolites of 16-high and 16-low RFI steers and successfully validated and accounted for 32% of the phenotypic variation in RFI. In the study, Karisa et al. (2014) found that among other metabolites, creatine, hippurate and carnitine were significantly

associated with RFI in the discovery population when the cattle were 317 days old and in the validation population when the cattle were 360 days old. Although more research is necessary, the findings of Karisa et al. (2014), Knott et al. (2008) and Fitzsimmons et al. (2013) indicate that differences in blood metabolites likely play a significant role in the phenotypic expression of RFI.

Muscle Metabolism

Moore et al. (2005) noted greater concentrations of insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) in blood of high RFI cattle. IGF-1 concentrations had a genetic correlation of 0.57 with RFI, suggesting that several genes associated with RFI are also associated with IGF-1 concentrations (Moore et al. 2005). Johnston et al. (2002) also noted that beef cattle vary in IGF-1, which they concluded to be associated with muscle metabolism (catabolism and anabolism). Oddy and Owens (1996) explained that increased levels of IGF-1 in calves resulted in significantly greater protein deposition, suggesting that IGF-1 may be associated with muscle metabolism. Furthermore, Oddy et al. (1998) reported a 20% difference in energy expended, calculated on a muscle mass basis, between cattle selected for and against growth rate, suggesting that differences in rates of protein synthesis and degradation do exist. Calpastatin, an inhibitor of the calpain system, reportedly differs between cattle with divergent efficiencies (McDonagh et al. 2001). Calpains are proteases that initiate protein degradation (Huang and Forsberg 1998). Calpastatin activity was significantly less in the M. Longissimus dorsi of low efficiency steers (high RFI) than high efficiency steers (low RFI), resulting in greater calpain activity and therefore greater protein degradation (McDonagh et al. 2001). Tatham et al. (2000) also noted greater protein turnover in high RFI bulls as a result of high creatine phosphate turnover, intended to provide short term energy to muscle cells (Bessman and Carpenter 1985). Increased calpastatin activity, which reduces calpain activity, tends to be highly related to reductions in beef tenderness (Morgan et al. 1993; Wulf et al. 1996), suggesting that low RFI cattle produce less tender beef. Although Baker et al. (2006) did not conclude any difference in meat quality and palatability from high and low RFI cattle, it is possible that low RFI steers, with reduced calpain activity (McDonagh et al. 2001), yield less tender meat.

Energy Expenditure and Thermoregulation

Differences in metabolism and tissue turnover are also associated with energy expenditure (Herd et al. 2004). Nearly 90% of cellular energy is produced by mitochondria, which are abundant in the metabolically active cells of the kidney, liver, brain, and muscles (Ojano-Dirain et al. 2007). Kolath et al. (2006) reported no significant difference in mitochondrial function of high and low RFI cattle; however, low RFI steers were reported to have increased rates of mitochondrial respiration, while respiration in high RFI steers appeared to be impaired by continuous electron movement through the electron transport chain. Energy expenditure also appears to be regulated by adrenergic receptors, as manipulation of such receptors by α and β adrenergic agonists results in variations in energy expenditure (Lindsay et al. 1993; Hunter et al. 1993). Blaxter (1962) explained that the primary route of energy expenditure in cattle is through evaporative heat loss due to heat exchange in the nasal turbinates and lungs. High RFI steers reportedly had 9.3% greater heat production, and therefore heat loss, relative to low RFI steers, likely due to a similar difference (10.2%) in metabolizable energy intake (Basarab et al. 2003). Furthermore, a RFI study in chickens revealed that low RFI hens had smaller nude body areas, better feather coverage and less activity, suggesting less energy and heat loss (Luiting et al. 1994). This implies that thermoregulation and energy expenditure may have an effect on RFI in beef cattle. When thinking about thermoregulation it is also important to consider the effects of heat stress. St-Pierre et al. (2003) describes heat stress as a negative balance of net energy flowing from the animal to the environment and the amount of heat produced by the animal. Essentially heat stress occurs when temperatures exceed an animal's thermal neutral zone, resulting in reduced body heat loss. Cattle experiencing heat stress will have a reduced DMI and rate of gain (Lippke 1975). More efficient cattle, with lower DMI, and therefore a lower heat increment of feeding, are likely to be more tolerant of high temperatures, which are common during the summer months in North America.

Activity Levels

Variation in RFI also comes as a result of variation in activity levels (Herd et al. 2004). Activity levels of mice selected for high feed intake with respect to body weight (low efficiency), had activity levels that were three times greater than the activity of mice selected for low feed intake (high efficiency) (Bünger et al. 1998). Similar results were noted in beef cattle (Richardson et al. 2000; Arthur et al. 2001a). More specifically, a phenotypic correlation of 0.32 was reported between RFI and daily pedometer count (Richardson et al. 2000), while high RFI bulls averaged 6% more steps per day than low RFI bulls (Arthur et al. 2001a). Arthur et al. (2001a) explained that the increase in activity and energy expenditure was due to an increase in distance walked, and increased time standing and ruminating, along with variation in energy expended feeding, walking and ruminating (Herd et al. 2004).

Feeding Behavior

Along with energy expenditure and activity levels, Herd and Arthur (2009) suggested that feeding patterns and feeding behavior result in variation in RFI. Past research has confirmed moderate to strong positive correlations (r=0.08 to 0.62) of RFI to feeding frequency, feeding duration and eating rate (g min⁻¹) (Robinson and Oddy 2004; Basarab et al. 2007; Nkrumah et al. 2007; Golden et al. 2008; Bingham et al. 2009; Montanholi et al. 2010; Kelly et al. 2010; Durunna et al. 2011). High RFI cattle have been shown to require 2 to 5% more energy for feeding activities (Herd et al. 2004; Basarab et al. 2011), in-part due to 14-22% more frequent daily feeding events than low RFI cattle. Basarab et al. (2013) reported that RFI was positively correlated to the number of bunk visits and to feeding event duration. Furthermore, feeding duration and feeding frequency behaviors are moderately heritable ($h^2=0.28$ to 0.38) and repeatable (r= 0.37 to 0.62) (Nkrumah et al. 2007; Kelly et al. 2010a), suggesting that ideal feeding behaviors can be selected for with relative certainty. Although low RFI cattle have lower DMI, fewer feeding events and lower feeding duration, Basarab et al. (2013) suggested that these animals can still

competitively acquire forage within extensive grazing systems due to lower stress susceptibility and greater adaptability.

RFI and Methane Production

Not only does selecting for low RFI cattle reduce feed costs, in many cases it also reduces methane (CH₄) production. Methane is a greenhouse gas (GHG) produced by ruminants during digestion and fermentation (Beauchemin et al. 2009) and has 25 times the global warming potential of carbon dioxide (CO₂; IPCC, 2014), and therefore making it the focus of much concern amidst concerns of climate change. Beauchemin et al. (2009) explained that nearly 12 to 17% of GHG emissions come from ruminants. In North America, cattle are responsible for approximately 8% of GHG emissions (Beauchemin et al. 2010; Basarab et al. 2012). High levels of CH₄ production tend to be associated with the breeding cow herd because a cow's diet consists largely of forages rather than concentrates (Allen et al. 1992; Verge et al. 2008; Capper 2011), and because cows have a much longer life span than grower and feeder cattle. Reducing cow herd CH₄ production is therefore a key factor in reducing the beef carbon footprint. Previous research shows that feedlot finished beef produced 17 CO2 equivalents kg⁻¹ of carcass (Verge et al. 2008; Beauchemin et al. 2010; Basarab et al. 2012), while grass finished beef produced 40 CO2 equivalents kg⁻¹ carcass (Cederberg et al. 2011). Selecting for cattle with low RFI may be one way in which beef cattle produce less CH₄, resulting in a smaller carbon footprint and increasing sustainability of the industry. More specifically, low RFI cattle require fewer resources to achieve market weight and they require less feed to maintain their body weight as mature cows, all the while producing fewer GHGs.

Previous studies have indicated that low RFI cattle produce less CH₄ compared to high RFI cattle (Nkrumah et al. 2006; Hegarty et al. 2007; Jones et al. 2011; Fitzsimons et al. 2013). Nkrumah et al. (2006) found that low RFI feedlot steers produce 28% less CH₄ than high RFI cattle on concentrate diets in drylot. The mechanism underlying the difference in CH₄ production is not entirely understood, in-part due to conflicting results from previous studies. Waghorn and Hegarty (2011) observed no differences in CH₄ production between dairy cows with differing RFI classifications. Similar results were reported by

McDonnell et al. (2016); absolute CH₄ production did not differ between heifers with high and low RFI. While CH₄ production is often a function of diet and DMI (Blaxter and Clapperton 1965; Johnson and Johnson 1995; Grainger et al. 2007), it is unclear whether low RFI cattle produce less CH₄ as a result of lower DMI or differences in digestive efficiency (Kelly et al. 2010a; Lawrence et al. 2011).

Hegarty et al. (2007) explained that an increase in feed intake increases fermentation, which also increases the amount of hydrogen available for methanogens to produce CH₄. Lack of consistency in diet between studies may be the cause of contrasting study results. It has been reported that CH₄ production can be reduced by feeding grain rather than forage based diets (Grainger and Beauchemin 2011; Hristov et al. 2013). Moe and Tyrrell (1979) explained that feed sources with low fibre, or high carbohydrate content, can reduce CH₄ production. Similarly, improvements in diet quality can reduce CH₄ production per animal unit (Eckard et al. 2010). Although Jones et al. (2011) observed no difference in CH₄ production between high and low RFI pregnant cows when grazing low quality pasture, they did observe 27% lower CH₄ production within low RFI lactating cows when grazing high quality pastures. Kerley and Lardy (2007) explained that poor quality pastures with low crude protein content (<80-90 g kg⁻¹) fail to meet nitrogen requirements for the rumen microbial population, thereby affecting CH₄ production. Nkrumah et al. (2006) restricted all study animals to a daily feed intake of 2.5 x maintenance in an attempt to determine if factors other than DMI had an effect on CH₄ production. In that study, low RFI animals produced 28% less CH₄ than high RFI animals, suggesting inherently lower CH₄ production

Measures of CH₄ yield, calculated as CH₄ production relative to DMI (g kg⁻¹ DMI), more accurately describe inherent differences in CH₄ production. Although CH₄ production (g day⁻¹) is known to differ significantly between high and low RFI cattle, CH₄ yield may not differ. While Fitzsimons et al. (2013) reported CH₄ production to be significantly greater in high RFI heifers, CH₄ yield did not differ between RFI groups. Similarly, although RFI was positively correlated with CH₄ production (g kg⁻¹), RFI was negatively correlated with CH₄ yield (g kg⁻¹ DMI) (Fitzsimons et al. 2013). Hegarty et al. (2007) and Waghorn and Hegarty (2011) noted similar results; CH₄ yield was not significantly different between RFI groups and RFI was unrelated to CH₄ yield. These findings demonstrate that differences in CH₄ production may not be directly associated with RFI, but rather that they may result from differences in DMI due to differences in RFI.

Methanogens and Methanogenesis

Ruminal methanogenesis, the process of CH₄ production, represents an energy loss to ruminants (Hristov et al. 2013). It is estimated that about 3 to 7% of gross energy intake is lost to CH₄ production from cattle fed high grain and forage diets, respectively (Hristov et al. 2013). Methanogenesis is regulated by methanogens, which are CH₄ producing bacteria in the rumen that live in symbiosis with ruminal protozoa (Lange et al. 2005) and bacteria (Wolin et al. 1997). Methanogens work to minimize the partial pressure of hydrogen in the rumen while continuing to produce H+ for fermentation (Wolin et al. 1997; Russell 2002; McAllister and Newbold 2008). Research suggests that diet type often dictates the type of microbes and methanogens present in the rumen (Theodorou and France 2005), and also that RFI has an effect on microbial populations (Guan et al. 2008), both of which can therefore factor into differences in CH₄ production from cattle (Moss et al. 2000).

Zhou et al. (2009, 2010) reported that differences in methanogenic profiles were likely associated with differences in RFI, a conclusion based on studies conducted at the molecular level in which 16S rRNA libraries were constructed from the pooled DNA of the rumen microbial community of high and low RFI steers extracted from their ruminal fluid. Low RFI steers expressed less diversity in the overall methanogenic community compared to high RFI steers, especially when fed low energy diets (Zhou et al. 2009, 2010). Carberry et al. (2012) noted similar results, with the abundance of *Methanobrevibacter smithii* genotypes differing between high and low RFI cattle, independent of their diet. Through the use of metagenomics, differences in microbial enzymes between high and low RFI cattle were identified (Ghoshal et al. 2012). Differences in microbial profiles reportedly have a greater effect on RFI than differences in the total number of microbes (Guan et al. 2008; Zhou et al. 2009, 2010; Hernandez-

Sanabria et al. 2010). These results were evident in steers fed growing (Hernandez-Sanabria et al. 2010) and finishing diets (Guan et al. 2008; Hernandez-Sanabria et al. 2010). Differences in rumen microbial profiles were also noted between high and low RFI heifers on forage diets (Carberry et al. 2012). More specifically, Zhou et al. (2009) reported a greater proportion of *Methanosphaera stadtmanae* and *Methanobrevibacter* sp. AbM4 in high RFI cattle compared to low RFI cattle. Miller and Wolin (1985) explained that *Methanosphaera stadtmanae* utilize methanol, while *Methanobrevibacter* sp. AbM4, which is similar to *Methanobrevibacter smithii*, utilizes acetate as its main substrate for CH₄ production (Zhou et al. 2009). The above results suggest that cattle which favor the use of organic substrates for CH₄ production may be less efficient (Basarab et al. 2013). It is also important to note that differences in dietary energy content affect associations between RFI and overall methanogen profile (Zhou et al. 2010).

Volatile fatty acids (VFA), the final products of ruminal fermentation, are generally determined by diet type (Janssen, 2010). Bacteria within the *Prevotella* genus play a role in the breakdown and use of starch (Cotta, 1992) and proteins (Wallace et al. 1993); nearly 60% of ruminal bacteria can be found within the *Prevotella* genus (Stevenson and Weimer, 2007). Hernandez-Sanabria et al. (2010) identified several *Prevotella* sp. that were dominant in high RFI cattle and appeared to be linked to reduced FCR, lower ratios of straight to branched chain VFAs, and increased butyrate production. Ramin and Huhtanen (2013) linked acetate and butyrate production with hydrogen production, while propionate production was involved with the utilization of hydrogen. Furthermore, when comparing high and low RFI pregnant heifers, low RFI heifers were observed to have greater propionic acid concentrations and lower acetate:propionate ratios while on a grass silage diet (Lawrence et al. 2011). This was confirmed by Fitzsimons et al. (2013), who reported slightly lower acetate:propionate ratios and higher propionic acid concentrations in low RFI heifers. Propionate is the main VFA that contributes to gluconeogenesis, a process that produces glucose from non-carbohydrate precursors (University of California, Davis, 2013). Propionate concentrations depend on the intake of digestible energy, such as starch (Stewart et al. 1997). Starch fermentation encourages propionate production, which provides hydrogen with an alternative pathway to CH₄ production (Murphy et al. 1982). This may help to explain why high-starch, concentratebased diets result in reduced CH₄ emissions (McGeough et al. 2010; Grainger and Beauchemin 2011; Hristov et al. 2013).

Methane Production from Cattle on Pasture

Methane production from cattle grazing under open range conditions can be measured using open path Fourier transform infrared spectrometry (OP-FTIR) techniques (Jones et al. 2011; McGinn et al. 2011) or sulfur hexafluoride (SF₆) tracer techniques (Srivastava and Garg, 2002). FTIR techniques are noninvasive, while the SF₆ tracer technique requires administration of a permeation tube into the rumen and attachment of a sampling canister to the animal's head (Srivastava and Garg, 2012). Similar to CH₄ production in drylot, high RFI cattle tend to have greater CH₄ production on pasture (Jones et al. 2011). Jones et al. (2011) noted that low RFI cows had significantly lower (27%) CH₄ emissions than high RFI cows when grazing high quality pastures, although no differences were noted when cattle were on poor quality pasture. McCaughey et al. (1999) also observed differences in CH₄ production from cattle when grazing different forages. Methane production was significantly lower when cattle grazed alfalfa-grass pastures as compared to grazing grass pastures. Methane production, as a percent of gross energy intake, was also lower in cattle grazing alfalfa-grass pastures (McCaughey et al. 1999). Eckard et al. (2010) also reported improved diet qualities to be associated with reduced CH₄ production in ruminants. It is not clear whether cattle on drylot have the same CH₄ production, particularly in comparison to other cattle, as they would on pasture.

Ongoing Research

Although research with cattle on drylot is abundant, it is important that further research be conducted with cattle on pasture. As the majority of Canadian cattle herds spend significant periods of time foraging on native and tame pastures, it is important to understand how selecting cattle for RFI will affect the performance of cattle in such an environment. Cattle in all areas of production are reared from cow herds,

and therefore it is important to consider how selection decisions made in the cow herd will affect subsequent components of the beef production cycle. Further RFI research of cattle on pasture will provide practical implications, in the form of herd selection tools, which producers can use to make herds more efficient. Such tools will allow producers to be more productive and profitable, while practicing more sustainable grassland management.

Thesis Structure

The overall goal of this thesis is to understand whether selecting for RFI in extensive cow calf systems on pasture will have an effect on performance and efficiency of the herd. In this case, performance refers to: weight gain, changes in backfat thickness, CH₄ production and pregnancy status. Analyzing the performance of these cattle will provide an understanding of how to select for the most productive cattle on pasture, ultimately increasing the efficiency of cow-calf herds.

Chapter two focusses on how specific production metrics are affected by selection for RFI. Such production metrics include weight gain, weaning weights, birth weights, changes in backfat thickness, and pregnancy status. Chapter three analyzes DMI and CH₄ emissions of high and low RFI replacement heifers in drylot. While chapter four concentrates on CH₄ production and CH₄ of replacement heifers on pasture. More specifically, it examines CH₄ production and CH₄ yield of individual heifers in drylot as well as CH₄ production and yield of high and low RFI groups of heifers on pasture. The thesis will conclude by setting out the implications of the results for industry and highlighting areas for future research.

Chapter 2: Production metrics of cows and calves on pasture with molecular breeding values for RFI

INTRODUCTION

Profitability in the beef industry depends on a producer's ability to reduce input costs, which are often related to feeding, while optimizing outputs of calf size and gain. Feed costs are one of the largest variable costs (ARD 2005; Ramsey et al. 2005) and account for up to 70% of a producer's total costs (AAF 2014). Approximately 70-75% of dietary energy intake is used to meet maintenance requirements, while less than 30% is used for growth and production (Ferrell and Jenkins, 1985; Montano-Bermudez et al. 1990; NRC 1996). Energy used for production is often allocated towards lean protein and fat accumulation, with the production of adipose tissue being a more energy expensive process than lean muscle production (Ricks et al. 1984). Selecting for feed efficient cattle, with lower maintenance requirements, is one way in which production costs can be mitigated.

In the past, beef producers selected for cattle with superior feed conversion ratio (FCR), a metric comprised of feed intake to body weight gain. Because the trait is a ratio of characteristics, selecting for cattle with high FCR inadvertently resulted in larger cattle, with increased growth and ultimately greater maintenance requirements that, in turn, required more feed (Van der Werf 2004; Crews 2005; Kelly et al. 2010 and 2010a). Today, residual feed intake (RFI), or net feed intake, is commonly used as a tool for assessing feed efficiency (Herd and Arthur 2009). The concept of RFI was first described by Koch et al. (1963), where the energy necessary for maintenance was quantified separately from the energy necessary for growth and reproduction. RFI is calculated as the difference between an animal's actual intake and their expected intake for a given level of production (Koch et al. 1963; Arthur et al. 1996; Basarab et al. 2003; Nkrumah et al. 2006). Cattle with low RFI values are efficient while cattle with high RFI values are inefficient. RFI is a valuable trait due to its moderate heritability, ranging from 0.29 to 0.46 (Archer et al. 1998; Arthur et al. 2001; Schenkel et al. 2004; Bouquet et al. 2010), and its independence from body weight and size (Koch et al. 1963; Kennedy et al. 1993; Crews 2005; Crowley et al. 2010). This means

that selection for RFI is not likely to affect growth, but it also means that RFI cannot be readily detected from physical appearance alone.

Measuring phenotypic RFI values is an expensive, time consuming, and sometimes difficult, process (Moore et al. 2009). Genomic selection tools have the potential to predict RFI through the use of specific genetic markers which could be used to identify and therefore select more efficient beef cattle for herd retention. Comparison between genotypes and phenotypes of cattle with extreme differences in RFI values (i.e. high vs low) have identified single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) that appeared to be associated with RFI (Bardense et al. 2007). Such markers can be used for marker assisted selection (MAS) a method of creating genomic predictions (Lande and Thompson 1990). MAS relies on specific SNPs that appear to be associated with a trait, often times analyzing SNPs that are in linkage disequilibrium with specific quantitative trait loci (QTL) (Lande and Thompson 1990). The accuracy of genomic evaluations depends on the estimated effects of the SNPs as well as the linkage disequilibrium (i.e. correlation of an allele at one locus with a different allele at another locus) between the SNP and its causal variants (Hayes et al 2009). In 2007, Bardense et al. identified 161 SNPs associated with RFI (P < 0.01), when using a MegAllele Genotyping Bovine 10K SNP panel (Hardenbol et al. 2005). SNP locations revealed that the RFI trait may be controlled largely by micro-RNA motifs, promoter sequences and mRNA sequences, with several SNPs located in genes that control cellular energy use, cell growth, translation, and transcription (Bardense et al. 2007).

Nkrumah et al. (2007a) found that measures of RFI were associated with eight different QTL (located on chromosomes 5, 6, 7, 11, 14, 16, 17, 18, 19 and 28), which are areas of the genome that are responsible for a portion of the genetic variance in a trait (Soller 1978). Further research conducted by Sherman et al. (2008) mapped the same QTL as Nkrumah et al. (2007a), along with additional QTL, at a greater marker density (14-18 SNPs per QTL region) to identify more SNPs associated with RFI on chromosomes 2, 5, 10, 20 and 28. Although the two experiments were similar, Sherman et al. (2008) likely identified different QTL as a result of mapping at a greater marker density and as a result of

reporting SNPs that were associated with RFI but not associated with dry matter intake (DMI) or FCR. Both studies indicate that genomics can likely be used to predict RFI, which in turn, can reduce the cost and time associated with selecting for RFI. More recently, a different approach, known as genomic selection, has become the preferred method for predicting breeding values. Meuwissen et al. (2001) proposed the idea of constructing breeding values, estimated from genotypic expressions at many marker locations across the entire bovine genome (not just in a small number of QTL regions), in an attempt to increase the rate of genetic improvement. This method sums the effects of each marker to produce a molecular breeding value (MBV) for a specific trait, such as RFI (Meuwissen et al 2001). With the development of the 50,000 SNP panel (Matukumalli et al 2009), it became possible to create genomic selection for RFI. MBV for phenotypic traits (for example RFI) are calculated, whether by MAS or genomic selection, using prediction equations acquired from reference populations of cattle for which both genotypes and phenotypes used are normally assessed in drylot under controlled intake conditions (Nkrumah et al. 2007a).

As indicated above, due to its independence from body size and production, selecting for RFI is not likely to compromise cattle performance in other economically important traits, specifically growth (Kennedy et al. 1993), body condition (e.g. backfat thickness) (Castro Bulle et al. 2007; Fitzsimons et al. 2013), or fertility (Arthur et al. 2005). Given that RFI is commonly evaluated in a drylot environment (Basarab et al. 2003; Wang et al. 2006), performance data on these animals must be interpreted in this context (i.e. in a controlled environment where diet is fixed, and many behaviors eliminated). As a result, performance and RFI values of cattle in drylot may not be representative of cattle performance on pasture, where diet (Kelly et al. 2010) and feed intake are likely to differ and complex foraging behaviors are introduced (Bailey et al. 1996). Furthermore, MBV that are constructed using a reference population with phenotypes derived in drylot, may not be the most accurate estimation of their RFI on pasture. The majority of cattle in Alberta and Western Canada are raised in pasture environments. Even feedlot cattle

spend part of their life on pasture, which is why it is important to understand how selecting for low RFI in beef herds may affect their performance under open range conditions.

The objective of this study was to determine if there is a difference in performance, as expressed by body weight gain, change in backfat, pregnancy status and time of conception, between cattle with MBV for high and low RFI while foraging under open range conditions. In addition, the study also evaluated the performance of phenotypically high and low RFI calves on pasture, using phenotypes which were collected in drylot after weaning (Chapter 3). The following three hypotheses were formulated: (1) that there would be no difference in the change in body weight over the grazing season between high and low RFI cows and calves because the trait is independent of body size and growth, (2) that low RFI cows would accumulate more backfat than high RFI cows over the grazing period because low RFI cows have lower maintenance requirements and greater energy available for backfat accumulation (especially considering that growth is independent and thus similar between high and low RFI animals), and (3) that there would be no difference in pregnancy status and time of conception between high and low RFI cows.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This research was conducted between October 2013 and November 2015 at the University of Alberta Mattheis Research Ranch, in collaboration with Gemstone Cattle Company. All animal procedures were reviewed and approved by the University of Alberta Animal Care and Use Committee (AUP00001284), and all animals were cared for in accordance with the Canadian Council on Animal Care (1993).

Experimental Design

A total of 450 commercial Hereford-Angus cows were genotyped with a BovineSNP50 Beadchip (Illumina Inc., San Diego, CA) 50,000 SNP (50K) panel, to produce molecular breeding values (MBV) for RFI in the winter of 2014; derivation of the MBVs is explained in Appendix A. In addition to producing MBVs, the genotypes were also used to determine breed composition and to calculate retained heterozygosity for each of the cows. Retained heterozygosity explains how much heterosis was retained over generations of crossbreeding, with crossbred cattle have greater retained heterozygosity than purebred cattle. Breed composition and retained heterozygosity was evaluated using the methods outlined in Appendix A. Cows were split into three groups for breeding in June of 2014 according to their genotypic RFI (gRFI) value, including 80 low gRFI cows (gRFI values \leq -0.07), 290 medium gRFI cows (gRFI values >-0.07 but <0.04), and 80 high gRFI cows (gRFI values \geq 0.04). Mean gRFI values for the high, medium and low herds were 0.074 (SD = 0.03), -0.018 (SD = 0.03), -0.108 (SD = 0.04), with accuracies of 0.338 (SD =0.06), 0.390 (SD =0.06), and 0.401 (SD =0.08), respectively. The overall range in RFI was -0.213 to 0.14 (Appendix A). All three groups of cows were kept separate for the entire 2014 breeding season. On July 14, 2014, high RFI cows were exposed to two bulls with known high RFI based on actual drylot tests, low RFI cows were exposed to two bulls of known low RFI, while medium RFI cows were exposed to a battery of 27 bulls having moderate RFI. All bulls were genotyped but selected based on phenotypic RFI values. On September 15, 2014, after approximately three breeding cycles, all bulls were removed. The herds were then combined and thereafter cows were maintained as one herd for the remainder of the study period.

Stringent culling by the herd owner in the fall of 2014 and missing data for some cow-calf pairs reduced the number of cows in the high, medium and low RFI groups the following spring to 74, 219, and 59, respectively. In 2015 at the time of calving, cows ranged in age from three to thirteen years, with the majority (54%) being three years old. High, medium and low RFI cows had an average age of 4.1 years (SD = 2.25), 3.7 years (SD = 1.10), and 3.9 years (SD = 1.25), respectively. After wintering on pasture and receiving supplemental hay/greenfeed as necessary, calving began on April 16, 2015. Production measures were collected on both cows and calves over the duration of the 2015 summer grazing season. The 2015 breeding season began on July 15, 2015 when the bulls were first exposed to the entire herd.

Data Collection

Birth weights were collected on all calves throughout the calving season (April 16 – June 8, 2015), at which time calves were also sexed and tagged for visual identification. Additionally, calf and dam

phenotypic descriptions were recorded and calf DNA samples collected using TypiFix (Gene Check, Inc., Greeley, CO, USA) cattle ear tags. Weights were collected within 24 hours of birth using a duffle bag and a hanging scale (Chatillon Type 140, AMETEK Inc., Largo, FL, USA); calves were placed in the bag and the handles of the bag attached to the hook of the scale, with weights then collected by holding onto the scale and lifting the bag. Actual calf birth weights were collected on just over half of the calves (57%), and excluded those when the environment (cow) was deemed non-safe. Estimated birth weights were recorded for all calves (including those actually weighed, with estimates done prior to weighing), along with the name of the individual making the estimation. All cow-calf pairs were grazed together throughout the summer and fall, and therefore exposed to the same environment at all times. Immediately after weaning, heifers and steers were weighed using a Cattleac (Cattleac Cattle Equipment and Acc. Inc., Weatherford, Oklahoma, USA) squeeze and scale system, while a Gallagher (Gallagher Group Ltd., Hamilton, New Zealand) scale head recorded animal weights to the nearest pound. Weights were subsequently converted to kg.

After the end of the calving period, cow weights and ultrasound backfat measurements were collected on June 10, 2015, just prior to the start of the main grazing season. All cows were temporarily separated from calves and weighed using a Silencer (Silencer Cattle Chutes, Raymond, Alberta, Canada) chute and squeeze system. Ultrasound backfat measurements were taken between the 12th and 13th ribs by a certified ultrasound technician. Cow weights and ultrasound backfat measurements were also collected on October 26, 2015, immediately after weaning, using the same equipment and processes as in June. Both weights in the spring and fall were recorded to the nearest pound using a Gallagher scale head and subsequently converted to kg. All backfat measurements were recorded in cm and later converted to mm of backfat.

All cows were also pregnancy tested on October 26, 2015 via rectal palpation by a certified veterinarian. Palpation indicated the timing of conception, specifically identifying whether the cow
became pregnant in the first breeding cycle, the second breeding cycle, or whether they did not become pregnant at all.

Calculations and Statistical Analysis

General linear models in R (R Core Team 2016) were used to regress estimated calf birth weights to actual birth weights, grouped separately by individual observer (to eliminate observed bias), with the following R² values; 0.75 (P < 0.0001) (n = 90), 0.51(P < 0.0001) (n = 123), and 0.53 (P = 0.101) (n=3) for estimates taken by three different observers. These relationships were then used to generate predicted actual birth weight values for those 168 calves that only had estimates, which consisted of 46, 104 and 18 high, medium and low gRFI calves, respectively. Only actual or predicted (based on estimated birth weights when actual birth weights were not available) birth weight values were used for further analysis.

Calf weaning weights were individually adjusted to 205-d weaning weights using the following formula; 205-d Weaning Weight = [((Wean Weight (kg) – Birth Weight (kg)) / Age (days)) x 205] + Birth Weight (Gould 2015). This process allowed standardization of weaned weights among calves of different ages which was necessary to directly interpret differences among animals in relation to maternal MBVs for RFI. Calf growth values were then quantified as the difference between adjusted wean weights and birth weights.

Data and residuals were visually examined for normality for all cow and calf parameters using the qqplot and qqnorm functions in R (R Core Team 2016). Five outliers were removed from both cow backfat (3 high and 2 low outliers) and cow weight gain measures (3 low and 2 high outliers) to meet assumptions of normality (different cows were considered outliers in each analysis). This analysis used linear mixed effects models in the nlme package in R (Pinheiro et al. 2016). Five different models were used, each with one of the following parameters as a response variable; birth weight, ADG, weaning weight, growth and 205-d adjusted weaning weight. The fixed effects (independent variables) in the models were gRFI group and the dam's age, while the calves within each group were considered random. Due to the significant effects of the dam's breed composition, it was added as a fixed effect along with the dam's retained heterozygosity as a covariate in the weaning weight, 205-d adjusted weaning weight, and

growth models. Additionally, calf sex was added to the birth weight model. Type III analysis of variance (ANOVA), in the car package (Fox and Weisberg 2011) in R, which accommodates unbalanced designs (i.e., unequal sample sizes among treatment groups), was used to determine differences in the calf parameters among the different gRFI groups. When the models were significant, post-hoc multiple comparisons were done using Tukey's Honest Significant Difference (HSD) Test, in R's agricolae package (de Mendiburu 2016), to determine differences among the groups of predicted high, medium and low RFI calves for all parameters analyzed. Phenotypic, or actual, RFI (pRFI) values were collected for 60 heifers in a subsequent drylot feed intake trial, described in detail in Chapter 3. Simple linear regressions in R were used to compare 205-d adjusted weaning weights (kg) to calf pRFI values, as well as growth (kg) to calf pRFI values. Both of the regression analyses were grouped by age to account for the effect of age on body weight. In both analyses, three different regression lines were produced, one for each of the following age groups, young calves (< 170 days of age), middle-aged calves (173 – 181 days of age) and old calves (> 182 days of age). Regressions were done using the pRFI values. Significance was determined at p-values lower than 0.05.

The changes in cow backfat and cow weight over the summer grazing period, between genomically predicted high, medium and low RFI cows, was analyzed using linear mixed models in the nlme package in R. Two separate models were used in which the response variables were the change in weight and the change in backfat, while the fixed effects (independent variables) were gRFI group and cow age, and each animal was considered a random effect. Breed composition and retained heterozygosity of the cows was not included in the model as they did not have significant effects. Type III ANOVA was done to identify differences in the changes in cow backfat and weight among the high, low and medium gRFI cows. Post-hoc multiple comparisons were done using Tukey's HSD Test, given that the models were significant. Simple linear regressions in R were used to compare cow weight gain (kg) to cow gRFI value, as well as the change in cow backfat (mm) to gRFI value. In both of the regression analyses the cows were grouped by age to account for effects of cow age on backfat and weight gain.

Each of the analyses had two regression lines, one representing cows younger than five years of age and the other representing cows five years of age and older. Significance was determined at p-values lower than 0.05.

A contingency test was used to evaluate the proportion of predicted high, medium and low gRFI cows that became pregnant in the first and second breeding cycles, as well as the cows that were open. A Chi-square test of independence was conducted in R (R Core Team 2016), to determine if there was a difference in the distribution of pregnancy status among the three groups of cows, including whether gRFI grouping and pregnancy status remained independent of one another.

RESULTS

Calf Responses

All ANOVA values related to the calf production metrics are presented in Table 1. Calf birth weights, weaning weights and 205-day adjusted weaning weights were similar among groups of high, medium and low gRFI calves. Additionally, growth and ADG were similar among all three groups of calves. ANOVA results showed that breed composition had a significant effect on growth, weaning weight and 205-day weaning weight, suggesting that breed differences and heterosis would likely have affected the significance of those results. Least square means (LSM) and standard errors (SE) for the calf production metrics in relation to gRFI of the dams are summarized in Table 2. Although there were no differences, growth and ADG tended to be greatest in high gRFI calves and lowest in low gRFI calves. When using the actual weaning weights as a percentage of mature cow weight, the LSM values remained similar among calves from the high, medium and low gRFI cows, at 33.8%, 33.4% and 33.8% (P > 0.05), respectively. When using the 205-day adjusted weaning weights as a percentage of mature cow weight, LSM values were 41.8%, 40.5% and 40.7% (P > 0.05) for the high, medium and low gRFI groups, respectively. Regression of phenotypic RFI values and both 205-day adjusted (Fig. 1) and unadjusted

(Fig. 2) calf weaning weights showed little relationship, even when calf age was incorporated ($R^2 \le 0.027$), with none of the relationships being significant ($P \ge 0.57$).

Cow Responses

Results of the ANOVA analyses of the breeding cow herd are shown in Table 1, with LSM and SE responses in Table 3. High (n=70), medium (n=207) and low (n=58) gRFI cows had similar ages (P > 0.05), with an average age of 4.12, 3.70, and 3.95 years, respectively. LSM values for cow weights show that high gRFI cows were significantly heavier than medium and low gRFI cows in both the spring and fall (Table 3). ANOVA results revealed that cow age, as well as RFI, had a significant effect on spring and fall cow weights (Table 1). Weight gain over the summer grazing period tended to be greater in medium gRFI cows, lower in high gRFI cows, with low gRFI cows in the middle, although none of the groups differed significantly. Regressions of cow weight gain against gRFI showed slight negative relationships, in both cases the R² values were low (i.e. $R^2 = 0.0018$ and $R^2 = 0.071$) with neither of the relationships being significant (Fig. 3), although it appears that cow age had an effect on the relationships.

LSM and SE values related to the change in cow backfat are summarized in Table 3. The average spring cow backfat measures for high, medium and low gRFI cows did not differ from one another (P > 0.05). Although all gRFI cow groupings tended to increase in average backfat thickness over the grazing season, average fall cow backfat measurements were similar among high, medium and low gRFI cows. Changes in backfat over the summer grazing period tended to be greatest in low gRFI cows, lowest in medium gRFI cows, with high gRFI cows in the middle, although once again these remained similar to one another (P > 0.05). Regressions of the change in cow backfat over the grazing season against gRFI value showed slight negative relationships, neither were strong (i.e. $R^2 = 0.0007$ and $R^2 = 0.06$) or significant (P > 0.05) relationships (Fig. 4). Once again, it was evident that cow age had an effect on the relationships. However the ANOVA revealed that there was no significant interaction between RFI and cow age (Table 1).

Cow pregnancy results, from the chi-square analysis, revealed no significant difference in pregnancy status distribution between high (n=73), medium (n=209) and low (n=59) gRFI cows (Fig. 5). All three groups had the greatest number of cows conceive during the first breeding cycle, while the percentage of open cows was the smallest proportion in all three gRFI groups of cows. More specifically, of the high gRFI cows (n=74) 50% became pregnant in the first breeding cycle, 32% in the second breeding cycle and 18% were open. Of the medium gRFI cows (n=208) the percentage that became pregnant in the first breeding cycle, in the second breeding cycle and the percentage of open cows was 52%, 35% and 13%, respectively. Of the low gRFI cows (n=59) the percentage that became pregnant in the first breeding cycle, the second breeding cycle, and the percentage of open cows was 49%, 41% and 10%, respectively.

DISCUSSION

Cow Production Metrics

It was hypothesized that cow weight gain and growth would not be affected by selection for RFI. Based on the results, this hypothesis was supported as cow weight gain over the summer grazing period was not affected by RFI, and the regression analysis showed no relationship between a cow's gRFI value and change in weight over the summer grazing season. However, these relationships appeared to depend on cow age, with RFI more likely to impact weight gain in older cows than younger cows, with a trend towards low gRFI cows putting on more weight in older cows, likely resulting from a comparatively smaller number of old cows (i.e. greater than five years of age). These results validate other studies of mature lactating cows that also concluded no difference in growth relative to gRFI. Black et al. (2013) separated replacement heifers into groups of high, medium and low RFI, based on phenotypic RFI values. Subsequent performance measures of these same animals as three-year-old lactating cows indicated no difference in growth or ADG over a 70-day trial period, in which the cows were fed forage-based diets (Black et al. 2013). Despite no difference in body weight change or ADG, DMI was different among all

groups, with low RFI cows consuming significantly less than their high RFI counterparts (Black et al. 2013). Results from the current study also confirm earlier results by Arthur et al. (2005) in which 185 Angus cows, with 1.5 generations of divergent selection for RFI, had no significant differences in body weight, or weight gain, when comparing body weights collected 4 times throughout the year.

While it was hypothesized that low gRFI cows would accumulate more backfat over the grazing period as a result of lower maintenance requirements, the current study did not support this notion. Instead, selection for RFI in the cow herd on pasture did not compromise the ability of those cattle to accumulate backfat over the course of the grazing period, as there was no significant difference in the change in backfat of cows among each of the gRFI groups. Despite this, a non-significant negative relationship between gRFI value and changes in backfat was observed, suggesting efficient cows may have had a tendency to put on more backfat. These results are supported by earlier research which failed to find differences in backfat between high and low RFI cows (Black et al. 2013). A previous study conducted by Basarab et al. (2007) examined phenotypic relationships between progeny and maternal productivity of high, medium and low RFI cattle. Basarab et al. (2007) found that cows that produced high RFI calves consistently had less backfat than the cows that produced low RFI calves, somewhat validating the trend identified in the current study in which efficient cattle had a tendency to put on more backfat. Although, body composition is not the same among mature cows, and yearling heifers and steers, previous studies did not identify differences in backfat between high and low RFI steers (Castro Bulle et al. 2007) or heifers (Fitzsimons et al. 2013). Although the current results are not supported by all literature, the results are still positive for the use of RFI as they suggest that selecting for RFI in beef cattle is unlikely have a negative effect on cow body condition.

It was hypothesized that there would be no difference in pregnancy rates among cows in the different gRFI groups. This hypothesis was supported as the results confirmed that cow pregnancy rates did not vary in relation to gRFI. Pregnancy rates also remained very similar across all three gRFI groups with nearly 50% of the cows in each group becoming pregnant in the first breeding cycle. These findings

validate results from Arthur et al. (2005), in which overall pregnancy rates were 90.2% and 90.5% for high and low RFI cows, respectively. Although the low RFI cows in that study had significantly less backfat, which had a tendency to delay their time of calving, it did not affect the overall pregnancy rate (Arthur et al. 2005). A study by Shaffer et al. (2011) found that low RFI beef heifers reached puberty significantly later. Although not significant, the study also found that low RFI heifers tended to have lower pregnancy rates and lower conception rates than their high RFI counterparts (Shaffer et al. 2011). Reproductive performance is known to be related to backfat measures (Drennan and Berry 2006), in which reduced fat can negatively impact conception and pregnancy rates, as well as delay the onset of puberty (Basarab et al. 2007). It is likely that because backfat measures did not differ between cows in the current gRFI groupings examined, neither the timing of conception nor their ability to conceive were compromised.

Calf Production Metrics

It was hypothesized that there would be no difference in calf size and calf growth among calves of different gRFI groups, this hypothesis was supported. Birth weights, along with weaning weights and 205-day adjusted weaning weights for calves in all three gRFI groups were not statistically different. Additionally, ADG and calf growth over the grazing period was similar among high, low and medium gRFI calves. In addition to similar weaning weights and growth, weaning weights as a percentage of mature cow weight was similar across the three groups, even though the low gRFI cows were significantly lighter than the high gRFI cows but had similar body weights to medium gRFI cows (Table 3). This result may reflect ongoing selection by producers in this commercial beef herd for smaller framed cows. This process was intended as a means of producing more kg of beef per hectare by enabling more cattle to be supported, while also actively selecting for RFI, thereby explaining why low gRFI cows may have been smaller in size. Medium gRFI cows were likely also significantly lighter than high gRFI cows as a result of ongoing selection, which explains why they had significantly lower gRFI values than the high gRFI cows. Regressions of the phenotypic heifer calf RFI values against the adjusted 205-day

weaning weights and actual weaning weights (Fig. 1 and Fig. 2, respectively) showed little to no relationship, which also supports the initial hypothesis that growth would be independent of RFI and is consistent with previous studies (Koch et al. 1963; Kennedy et al. 1993; Crews 2005; Castro Bulle et al. 2007; Fitzsimons et al. 2013).

Previous research conducted by Castro Bulle et al. (2007) examined performance traits of individually penned high and low RFI beef steers, in which their results indicated no differences in initial body weight, final body weight or ADG following a 122-day trial period. Although growth of the steers was not significantly different over the length of the trial, low RFI steers had significantly lower DMI (Castro Bulle et al. 2007). Similar results were noted by Fitzsimons et al. (2013) in which there were no differences in initial weight, final weight and ADG between high and low RFI beef heifers, even though there was a 15% difference in DMI between the two groups of heifers. Results from Castro Bulle et al. (2007) and Fitzsimons et al. (2013) both validated previous studies that identified RFI as being independent of body size and growth (Koch et al. 1963; Kennedy et al. 1993; Crews 2005); also validating the results of the current investigation.

Research Limitations

This research was limited by knowledge of individual cow milk production, a trait which may have provided some insight into the differences in energy supplied to calves in each of the three gRFI groups. Additionally, the cows in this study had a smaller range in RFI when compared to previous studies such as Fitzsimons et al. (2013) and Manafiazar et al. (2015) which had ranges in RFI of -0.50 to 0.54, when compared to the range of -0.21 to 0.14 in the current study, making it difficult to directly compare the results.

CONCLUSION

Based on the current study's experimental design, the observations and the results, selection for RFI in cattle on pasture is not likely to affect cow productivity, in terms of a cow's ability to maintain body

weight, put on backfat and become pregnant. Additionally, selection for RFI is not likely to affect calf growth or fall weaning weights. The results suggest that selecting for more feed efficient cattle will not compromise overall herd productivity. Future research should look into whether differences in grazing behaviour and terrain selection should be considered when trying to increase the efficiency of cattle on pasture. This is important as previous research has identified that activity levels contribute to differences in RFI, which can be readily expressed in a pasture environment.

			Calf Production Metrics	
	Birth Weight (kg)		Average Daily Gain (kg day-1	
	F-Value	P-Value	F-Value	P-Value
RFI Group	1.27 (2, 206)	0.28	6.00 (2, 206)	0.003
Calf Sex	18.21 (1, 206)	< 0.0001	7.14 (1, 206)	0.008
Cow Age	1.45 (5, 206)	0.21	2.51 (5, 206)	0.03

	Weaning Weight (kg)		205-D Weaning Weight (kg)		Growth (kg)	
	F-Value	P-Value	F-Value	P-Value	F-Value	P-Value
RFI Group	0.79 (2, 203)	0.46	0.51 (2, 203)	0.60	0.76 (2, 203)	0.47
Calf Sex	0.01 (1, 203)	0.91	0.02 (2, 203)	0.90	0.11 (1, 203)	0.74
Cow Age	3.71 (5, 203)	0.003	3.39 (5, 203)	0.006	3.94 (5, 203)	0.002
Retained Heterozygosity	0.87 (1, 203)	0.35	0.60 (1, 203)	0.44	$0.40_{(1, 203)}$	0.53
Breed Composition	2.89 (2, 203)	0.06	3.56 (2, 203)	0.03	3.66 (2, 203)	0.03

			Cow Production	<u>Metrics</u>		
	Change in Weight (kg)		Spring Weight (kg)		Fall Weight (kg)	
	F-Value	P-Value	F-Value	P-Value	F-Value	P-Value
Cow Age	6.92 (1, 286)	0.078	29.39 (1, 308)	< 0.0001	8.66 (1, 308)	0.004
RFI Category	1.17 (2, 286)	0.23	5.13 (2, 308)	0.006	12.22 (2, 308)	< 0.0001
Cow Age: RFI Category	1.96 (2, 286)	0.14	1.21 (2, 308)	0.301	6.59 _(2, 308)	0.002
	Change in Bac	kfat (mm)	Spring Ba	ackfat (mm)	Fall Backf	0.002
	F-Value	P-Value	F-Value	P-Value	F-Value	P-Value
Cow Age	0.611 (1, 286)	0.44	1.65 (1, 308)	0.199	1.35 (1, 308)	0.247
RFI Category	1.22 (2, 286)	0.3	0.804 (2, 308)	0.449	2.25 (2, 308)	0.107
Cow Age: RFI Category	1.22 (2, 286)	0.3	0.794 (2, 308)	0.453	2.33 (2, 308)	0.099

Table 1. ANOVA table of cow and calf production metrics for high, medium and low gRFI cattle

Birth Waights (Irg)	Least Square	SE
Birth weights (kg)	Means	SE
High gRFI	37.40 ^a	1.24
Medium gRFI	38.37ª	1.18
Low gRFI	39.47ª	1.48
Weaning Weights (kg)		
High gRFI	192.88ª	6.09
Medium gRFI	187.35 ^a	5.88
Low gRFI	184.82ª	7.55
205-Day Adjusted Weaning Weights (kg)		
High gRFI	229.10 ^a	6.24
Medium gRFI	224.02ª	6.02
Low gRFI	224.85ª	7.73
Growth (kg)		
High gRFI	197.50 ^a	6.23
Medium gRFI	191.41ª	6.01
Low gRFI	190.63ª	7.72
Average Daily Gain (kg day-1)		
High gRFI	0.96ª	0.03
Medium gRFI	0.89ª	0.03
Low gRFI	0.85ª	0.04

Table 2. Calf production metrics for each of the high, medium and low gRFI calves assessed during the 2015 grazing season.

Spring Weight (kg)	Least Square Means	SE	
High gRFI	518.0ª	6.31	
Medium gRFI	487.0 ^b	3.79	
Low gRFI	494.0 ^b	7.35	
Fall Weight (kg)			
High gRFI	566.4ª	7.23	
Medium gRFI	537.6 ^b	4.33	
Low gRFI	522.8 ^b	8.41	
Change in Cow Weight (kg)			
High gRFI	45.36ª	4.22	
Medium gRFI	51.78ª	2.41	
Low gRFI	44.67ª	4.58	
Spring Backfat (mm)			
High gRFI	1.21ª	0.1	
Medium gRFI	1.24ª	0.06	
Low gRFI	1.26^{a}	0.11	
Fall Backfat (mm)			
High gRFI	2.28ª	0.17	
Medium gRFI	2.14ª	0.1	
Low gRFI	2.11ª	0.2	
Change in Cow Backfat (mm)			
High gRFI	0.904ª	0.1	
Medium gRFI	0.833ª	0.06	
Low gRFI	0.914 ^a	0.1	

Table 3. Production metrics for each of the high, medium and low gRFI cow groups assessed during the 2015 grazing season.



Fig. 1. Regression of phenotypic RFI value with respect to calf 205-day adjusted weaning weights, with calves grouped by age at weaning. Blue points represent the youngest calves (n=14; < 170 days of age), orange points represent the middle-aged calves (n=15; 173-181 days of age) and grey points represent the oldest calves (n=14; > 182 days of age). Corresponding lines represent the linear relationships of the different age groups.

Young calves: y = 229.42 + 8.65x, $R^2 = 0.021$, adjusted $R^2 = -0.061$, P-value = 0.62 Middle-aged calves: y = 229.81 - 0.55x, $R^2 = 0.0002$, adjusted $R^2 = -0.077$, P-value = 0.96 Old calves: y = 220.10 - 5.32x, $R^2 = 0.013$, adjusted $R^2 = -0.069$, P-value = 0.70



Fig. 2. Regression of phenotypic RFI value with respect to calf weaning weights, with calves grouped by age at weaning. Blue points represent the youngest calves (n=14; < 170 days of age), orange points represent the middle-aged calves (n=15; 173 – 181 days of age) and grey points represent the oldest calves (n=14; > 182 days of age). Corresponding lines represent the linear relationships of the different age groups.

Young calves: y = 180.12 - 6.54x, $R^2 = 0.027$, adjusted $R^2 = -0.054$, P-value = 0.57 Middle-aged calves: y = 184.26 - 3.21x, $R^2 = 0.010$, adjusted $R^2 = -0.067$, P-value = 0.73 Old calves: y = 194.14 - 5.87x, $R^2 = 0.018$, adjusted $R^2 = -0.064$, P-value = 0.65



Fig. 3. Regression of the change in cow weight (kg) against predicted RFI value, with cows grouped by age. Blue points represent cows younger than 5 years of age (n=245), and orange points represent cows that were 5 years of age and older (n=47). Corresponding lines represent the linear relationships of the different age groups.

Younger cows: y = 49.64 - 21.55x, $R^2 = 0.002$, adjusted $R^2 = -0.0023$, P-value = 0.51 Older cows: y = 39.56 - 156.49x, $R^2 = 0.071$, adjusted $R^2 = 0.055$, P-value = 0.061



Fig. 4. Regression of the change in cow backfat (mm) against predicted RFI value, with cows grouped by age. Blue points represent cows younger than 5 years of age (n=246), and orange points represent cows that were 5 years of age and older (n=46). Corresponding lines represent the linear relationships of different age groups.

Younger cows: y = 0.83 - 0.33x, $R^2 = 0.0007$, adjusted $R^2 = -0.0034$, P-value = 0.67 Older cows: y = 0.89 - 2.70x, $R^2 = 0.060$, adjusted $R^2 = 0.039$, P-value = 0.101



Fig. 5. Proportion of predicted high, medium and low RFI cows that became pregnant during the first and second breeding cycles, as well as the proportion of cows that remained open following the 2015 breeding season.

Chapter 3: Dry matter intake and methane emissions of heifers with divergent RFI in drylot

INTRODUCTION

Selecting for low RFI cattle reduces feed-related costs as a result of reduced feed intake (Archer et al. 1998; Basarab et al. 2003; Castro Bulle et al. 2007; Fitzsimons et al. 2013; McDonnell et al. 2016). As described by Basarab et al. (2003), efficient (i.e. low RFI) cattle consume less feed and have lower feed costs. Basarab et al. (2003) reported savings of \$45.80 head⁻¹ ($$0.101 \text{ kg}^{-1}$) over the duration of a 120-day feeding period when compared to high RFI cattle. Not only is RFI associated with dry matter intake (DMI), it is also associated with methane (CH₄) production, which is especially important when considering sustainability of the beef industry. Emissions of CH₄ are often the focus of climate change efforts because CH₄ is a greenhouse gas (GHG) that has 25 times the global warming potential of carbon dioxide (CO₂; IPCC 2014).

Ruminants produce CH₄ as a byproduct of digestion and fermentation (Beauchemin et al. 2009), it is also emitted from manure and manure compost sources (Hao et al. 2001). In North America, ruminant CH₄ production accounts for approximately 8% of GHG emissions (Beauchemin et al. 2010; Basarab et al. 2012), most of which are associated with breeding cow herds as a result of their largely forage-based diets (Allen et al. 1992; Verge et al. 2008; Capper 2011) and longer life span. Increases in feed intake lead to greater CH₄ production due to increased hydrogen available for CH₄ production with more extensive fermentation (Hegarty et al. 2007).

Individual DMI is often evaluated under drylot conditions where cattle diet and feed intake are controlled (Basarab et al. 2003; Wang et al. 2006), and often employ specialized testing technology such as GrowSafe equipment (GrowSafe Systems Ltd., Airdrie, Alberta, Canada). The latter is comprised of automated feed intake monitoring equipment, similar to a feed bunk, but which collects daily DMI information from each animal with each visit to the feed bunk. Wang et al. (2003) explained that feed

intake is monitored over a 76-day period following an initial 21-28-day dietary adjustment phase, with several body weights collected throughout the length of the trial. The duration of the trial is important because it determines accuracy of growth rate and associated daily DMI measures. Longer trials generally increase the accuracy of growth rate (Culbertson et al. 2015; Manafiazar et al. 2017) ultimately enhancing the reliability of DMI measurements. RFI is often adjusted for backfat thickness (RFI_{FAT}), especially in growing heifers as they tend to be at different levels of sexual maturity, which in turn can alter intrinsic productivity (Basarab et al. 2011).

Production of CH₄ is often affected by DMI (Blaxter and Clapperton 1965; Johnson and Johnson 1995; Grainger et al. 2007), as cattle with lower DMI have lower CH₄ production. Measures of CH₄ yield, which standardize the quantification of CH_4 production relative to DMI (g kg⁻¹ DMI), provide insight into inherent differences in CH₄ production. High and low RFI cattle often differ in overall CH₄ production; however, that does not mean they differ in CH₄ yield. As described in a study by Fitzsimons et al. (2013), CH₄ production was reduced in low RFI heifers, while CH₄ yield did not differ between the groups (due to correspondingly lower DMI in the low RFI heifers). Similar results were noted by Hegarty et al. (2007) and Waghorn and Hegarty (2011), where CH₄ yield did not differ between RFI groups. These findings indicate that CH₄ production may result from differences in DMI, as a result of differences in RFI. In contrast, Nkrumah et al. (2006) suggested that differences in CH₄ production result from inherent differences in RFI values among cattle. Nkrumah et al. (2006) restricted all study animals to a daily feed intake of 2.5 times maintenance, and found that low RFI cattle produced 28% less (P= 0.04) CH₄ than high RFI cattle, ultimately suggesting that CH₄ production is independent of DMI, and there are likely inherent mechanisms which contribute to differences in CH₄ production. Although CH₄ yield values determine which animals produce more CH₄ per kilogram of intake and they reflect inherent differences in efficiency, CH₄ production measurements are more valuable in terms of sustainability as they relate to the overall CH₄ released into the environment.

Similar to CH_4 production, CO_2 production is also affected by DMI. Manafiazar et al. (2016) reported that DMI values, standardized over the length of a test period, were highly correlated with mean daily CO_2 emissions ($R^2 = 0.39$) as well as that over a 14-day period ($R^2 = 0.79$). This suggests that a large proportion of the variation in CO_2 emissions can be explained by DMI. The association between DMI and CO_2 emissions indicates that RFI may be linked to CO_2 production. Differences in CO_2 production can be used to estimate energy expenditure (Stewart et al. 2008) which is associated with activity levels and the muscular work necessary for eating and digestion (Caton and Dhuyvetter 1997), greater CO_2 production results in a greater energy expenditure prediction. Because energy expenditure associated with eating is a result of the amount of time spent eating (Osuji 1974), cattle with greater DMI, that spend more time eating, are more likely to produce more CO_2 as a result of increased respiration. Because selecting for RFI tends to lead to reductions in DMI, it is also likely to reduce CO_2 production, and ultimately decrease GHG emissions, allowing for more sustainable beef production. Along with the negative effects of releasing GHG into the atmosphere, CH_4 and CO_2 emissions also affect the overall efficiency of cattle as it relates to the amount of energy available of growth and production.

Individual CH₄ emissions can be measured using different methods, with one such method using sulfur hexafluoride (SF₆) gas (Johnson et al. 1994). The SF₆ method requires each individual animal to be equipped with a halter-mounted collection canister, connected to a tube to capture the individual animal's exhaled gases, including those expelled during eructation. Permeation tubes containing SF₆ tracer gas are inserted in each animal's rumen, allowing each canister to collect CH₄ and SF₆ gas necessary for gas chromatography analysis (Johnson et al. 1994). Although the SF₆ tracer method is able to assess CH₄ emissions from individual animals, the intrusive nature of the equipment has the potential to interfere with natural animal behaviours. Another method that measures individual CH₄ emissions takes a more technologically advanced approach, wherein animals voluntarily visit an individual feeding stall where non-dispersive lasers within the feeding stall actively measure CH₄ emissions (Manafiazar et al. 2016).

Although the second method does not limit or interfere with individual animal behaviour, it is possible that not all animals will visit the unit.

The objective of this study was to determine if there is a difference in DMI, as well as CH_4 production and yield, within beef cattle fed under drylot conditions. It was hypothesized that (1) high RFI heifers would have higher DMI in drylot, (2) that high RFI heifers would have greater CH_4 and CO_2 production in drylot, (3) that CH_4 yield would be similar between high and low RFI heifers in drylot, and (4) that DMI would be correlated to CH_4 production in drylot.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This research was conducted between January 2016 and April 2016 at the Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada (AAFC), Lacombe Research and Development Centre (Lacombe, Alberta, Canada) in collaboration with Gemstone Cattle Company. All animal procedures were reviewed and approved by the University of Alberta Animal Care and Use Committee (AUP00001284), together with the AAFC Lacombe Animal Care Committee; all animals were cared for in accordance with the Canadian Council on Animal Care (1993).

A total of 60 replacement heifers from the 2015 calf crop associated with the Gemstone Cattle Company near Gem, AB, were selected based on their dam's predicted RFI values (30 high and 30 low), as well as structural soundness, age and weight. All animals were largely Hereford with some Angus influence. All heifers were tested for individual feed intake using GrowSafe equipment (GrowSafe Systems Ltd, Airdrie, Alberta, Canada) at the AAFC Lacombe Research and Development Centre. Simultaneously, observations of individual animal CH₄ production were collected using a GreenFeed Emissions Monitoring System (GEMS) (C-Lock Inc., Rapid City, South Dakota, USA). The average age of all heifers at the start of the trial was 276 days (SD = 16.275) with a range of 66 days, while the average weight was 267.57 kg (SD = 23.13) with a range of 98 kg. Dams of the high and low RFI heifers had average predicted RFI values of 0.0536 and -0.0774, respectively. Prior to the start of the trial all heifers were tagged with high performance half-duplex radio frequency identification (RFID) tags (HDX Ultra EID Tag, Allflex USA, Texas, USA) in order to be identified by the GrowSafe and GreenFeed Emissions Monitoring systems. Access to both the GEMS unit and the GrowSafe bunks was limited to a single animal at a time to ensure that only one RFID tag was identified each time the systems were accessed.

Dry Matter Intake

Replacement heifers were subject to 76 days of feed intake observations, from February 19, 2016 to April 26, 2016, following a 21-day acclimatization period, in a drylot pen with eight GrowSafe automatic feed intake bunks. The bunks measured each individual heifer's daily feed intake (kg DM d⁻¹) along with feeding behaviors such as the number of daily feeding events (events day⁻¹), head down time (min day⁻¹) and feeding event duration (min d⁻¹) (Basarab et al. 2007 and 2011). Heifers were weighed before morning feeding on two consecutive days at the beginning of the trial along with two consecutive days at the end of the trial. Two additional weights were collected at approximately 28-d intervals throughout the trial. Ultrasound backfat measurements were collected on the first and last days of the trial. Heifers were on a 100% barley silage diet, and fed twice a day in the morning and afternoon. Bedding (i.e. woodchips and shavings) was added to the pen as needed and water access was *ad libitum*.

Barley silage samples were collected once a week for the entire duration of the trial. Samples from each month were mixed, and then sub-sampled in duplicate. One of the duplicate samples was dried at 80°C for 72 hours and weighed to determine average dry matter (DM) content, while the other sample was dried at 55°C for 72 hours, ground to 1mm in a Wiley[™] mill and analyzed by Cumberland Valley Analytical Services (CVAS Inc., Maugansville, Maryland, USA) to determine average crude protein (CP), acid-detergent fibre (ADF), neutral-detergent fibre (NDF), calcium (Ca), phosphorus (P) and total digestible nutrient (TDN) content over the length of the trial (Table 1). CVAS analytical procedures are referenced in Appendix B.

Methane Emissions

Emissions of CH₄ were monitored for 28 consecutive days, from February 19, 2016 to March 8, 2016, using a GEMS, at the same time that individual feed intake measurements were collected. Heifers were on a 100% barley silage diet for the duration of the measurement period. Observations were collected as described by Manafiazar et al. (2016). The GEMS attracted heifers by dropping pellets into a feeder. Each heifer received six pellet drops per visit, with a 36 sec interval between each drop; the average drop size was 32.3 g (SD = 0.318). After the sixth drop, heifers had to wait 4 hours to receive another drop, allowing for a maximum of six visits per day. Heifers had to remain at the GEMS unit for 3-5 min in order to gather adequate CH₄ and CO₂ measurements.

During an animal's visit to the GEMS unit, air was drawn past their head and into the collection pipe of the system. The system continuously measured the rate of airflow along with background concentrations of CH₄ and CO₂ to accurately quantify trace gas flux during each visit. A non-dispersive infrared laser, positioned inside the collection pipe, was used to analyze CH₄ and CO₂ concentrations. Measurements were only kept for analysis when the head proximity sensor, positioned within the unit, determined that the animal's head was in the proper position for sampling (Huhtanen et al. 2015). Calibration of the system required the release of propane tracer gas, a semi-pure nitrogen gas and a spangas mixture of CO₂, CH₄ and pure nitrogen. Propane tracer gas was released inside the unit on a regular basis for a duration of 5 min in order to calculate the dilution air. The span-gas and semi-pure nitrogen were remotely released into the unit on a daily basis to calibrate CH₄ and CO₂ measurements. At the start of every month CO₂ recovery tests were performed by releasing a known amount of CO₂ directly into the GEMS, this was done three times and for three min each time. Calibration measurements were included in the individual CH₄ and CO₂ concentration calculations.

The pellets in the GEMS were wheat-based (pellet 1), and on day 17 of observations the pellets were replaced with a different wheat-based pellet (pellet 2). Pellets used in the GEMS were analyzed to determine DM content and nutritional value. Pellet samples were collected at least once a week, with a

total of 5 samples collected. After collection, samples were split in half in order to assess DM content as well as nutritional value. DM pellet samples were dried at 80^oC for 72 hours, while the nutritional value samples were dried at 55^oC for 72 hours and then ground to 1 mm using a Wiley[™] mill. Nutritional samples were analyzed by CVAS (see Appendix B for analytical procedures). The nutritional values of pellet 1 and pellet 2 are described in Table 2.

Calculations and Statistical Analysis

Dry Matter Intake

Out of the 60 heifers selected for the individual feed intake test, three heifers were excluded from the final analysis due to unreasonably low DMI values, potentially resulting from faulty RFID tags. Linear regression of each heifer's observed body weight, against the number of days on test, was used to calculate ADG, on-test body weight, and mid-point weight (Basarab et al. 2003; Wang et al. 2006). Each heifer's average daily feed intake was then converted to total dry matter intake (DMI), which was then used to determine total metabolizable energy (ME) intake based on the known DM and ME content of the diet (Table 4). Total DMI values included any daily pellet intake from heifers visiting the GEMS. Total ME of the diet was determined using the following two formulas (NRC 1996):

TDN (%) = 96.03 - [1.034 x ADF (%)]

ME (MJ kg⁻¹ DM) = ((% TDN/100) x 4.4 Mcal kg⁻¹ TDN) x 4.184 MJ DE Mcal⁻¹ x 0.82 MJ ME MJ⁻¹ DE

Total ME intake for each heifer was divided by 10 to standardize total DMI to an energy density of 10 MJ ME kg⁻¹ DM. Standardized DMI for each heifer was divided by 76 (duration on feed) to produce an average standardized daily DMI (SDMI; kg DM d⁻¹). Estimates of SDMI for each heifer were then regressed against ADG and metabolic midweight (MIDWT; BW kg^{0.75}). This was done using PROC GLM (SAS Institute, Inc. 2009) and Model 1:

Model 1: $Y_{ij} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 \text{ ADG}_i + \beta_2 \text{ metabolic MIDWT}_j + e_{ij}$

where Y_{ij} is the SDMI for animal *ij*, β_0 is the regression intercept, β_1 is the partial regression coefficient of SDMI on average daily gain, β_2 is the partial regression coefficient of SDMI on metabolic mid-weight and e_{ij} is the random error term. Measured RFI was adjusted for backfat thickness using model 2:

Model 2:
$$Y_{ijk} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 \text{ ADG}_i + \beta_2 \text{ metabolic MIDWT}_j + \beta_3 \text{ BFend}_k + e_{ijk}$$

where β_3 is the partial regression coefficient of SDMI on final ultrasound backfat thickness (BFend; mm). The following equations were used to calculate expected feed intake without adjusting for backfat (EFI_I) and expected feed intake adjusted for backfat (EFI_{II}):

$$\begin{split} EFI_{I} &= -1.71 \pm 1.10 + (1.05 \pm 0.60 \text{ ADG}) + (0.10 \pm 0.02 \text{ MIDWT}^{0.75}), \text{ } \text{R}^{2} = 0.57, \text{ } \text{P} < 0.0001 \\ \\ EFI_{II} &= -1.73 \pm 1.24 + (1.05 \pm 0.61 \text{ ADG}) + (0.10 \pm 0.02 \text{ MIDWT}^{0.75}) - (0.002 \pm 0.06 \text{ } \text{BF}_{\text{END}}), \text{ } \text{R}^{2} = 0.57, \text{ } \text{P} < 0.0001 \end{split}$$

Unadjusted RFI and RFI adjusted for backfat thickness (RFI_{FAT}) were determined for each heifer as the deviation of SDMI from the expected feed intake (EFI; RFI = SDMI - EFI_I) and SDMI from EFI_{II} (RFI_{FAT} = SDMI - EFI_{II}). Three heifers (out of 60) were not assigned RFI values as a result of inadequate feed intake reads likely due to a faulty tag, and as a result of periods of low growth or weight loss during the trial, affecting feed intakes of those animals. RFI_{FAT} was used to rank the heifers from lowest to highest. All subsequent analyses and comparisons were done using RFI_{FAT} values and groupings rather than RFI.

Differences in DMI were analyzed using a mixed effects model in the nlme package in R (Pinheiro et al. 2016) where daily DMI, RFI_{FAT} group and heifer age (days) were fixed effects, with individual animal as a random effect. Type III analysis of variance (ANOVA) in the car package (Fox and Weisberg 2011) in R, was used to determine differences in DMI between the high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers. Post-hoc multiple comparisons were conducted using a Tukey's Honest Significant Difference (HSD) test in the lsmeans package in R (Russell and Lenth 2016). Initial and final body weight and backfat measurements were analyzed using a mixed effects model in the nlme package in R (Pinheiro et al. 2016). The different models had response variables of initial or final body weight or backfat, along with the fixed effect of RFI_{FAT} group and heifer age as a covariate, with individual animal as random effects. Type III ANOVA was conducted to determine differences in body weight and backfat between high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers. Post-hoc multiple comparisons were done using Tukey's HSD test in the Ismeans package in R (Russell and Lenth 2016). Simple linear regression of average daily DMI and RFI_{FAT} was conducted in R (R Core Team 2016).

Methane Emissions

Heifer CH₄ production was analyzed based on the heifers' phenotypic RFI_{FAT} values, collected in drylot using GrowSafe equipment. Thirteen heifers (out of 60) were excluded from the analysis due to a lack of adequate CH₄ or phenotypic RFI_{FAT} data. Data for the remaining 47 animals were analyzed using mixed linear models in the mixed procedure package in SAS (Statistical Analysis Software Institute Inc. 2013), with the following specifications: CH₄ production was a dependent variable, while RFI_{FAT} group, day of measurement, and their interaction, were fixed effects (independent variables), and the number of visits per day was a covariate. Individual animal was nested within each day, and day was included as a repeated measure. The same model was used to determine CO₂ production, but with CO₂ concentration as the dependent variable. Type III ANOVA, in the car package (Fox and Weisberg 2011) in R was conducted on both resulting datasets. Simple linear regressions of average daily CH₄ production and RFI_{FAT}, as well as average daily CH₄ production and average daily DMI, were analyzed in R (R Core Team 2016).

Daily CH₄ and CO₂ flux observations were analysed to determine the diurnal pattern of CH₄ and CO₂ production throughout the day. Production of CH₄ occurs when cattle are consuming feed, and because high and low RFI cattle have different feeding behaviors (Robinson and Oddy 2004; Basarab et al. 2007; Nkrumah et al. 2007; Golden et al. 2008; Bingham et al. 2009; Herd and Arthur 2009; Montanholi et al. 2010; Kelly et al. 2010; Durunna et al. 2011), it is important to consider that they may also be producing different amounts of CH₄ at different times during the day. Therefore, CH₄ production concentrations were separated into eight different time bins, with each one grouping all CH₄ production

measurements over three hour long time periods starting at 0000 hours. The analysis was conducted using the mixed procedure package in SAS with RFI_{FAT} group, day, interaction between day and RFI_{FAT} group, time bin (i.e. a three-hour time period), and the interaction between time bin and RFI_{FAT} group as fixed effects. The mixed model used a covariate of available time, referring to the time which the heifers spent at the GEMS unit.

CH₄ yield per heifer was calculated by averaging the individual CH₄ production concentrations over time and dividing this average by the average individual DMI calculated over the entire length of the feed intake trial. This analysis was conducted using the GLM procedures package in SAS (Statistical Analysis System Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA), with the fixed effect of RFI_{FAT} group and the number of measurements collected each day as a covariate. Differences in CH₄ and CO₂ yield were analyzed using a Tukey's HSD test in SAS. Simple linear regressions of average daily CH₄ yield and RFI_{FAT}, as well as average daily CH₄ yield and average daily DMI were analyzed in R (R Core Team 2016).

RESULTS

Dry Matter Intake Observations

Based on the phenotypic values collected from the individual feed intake trial, high RFI heifers (n = 29) had an average RFI value of 0.37 (SD = 0.44) while low RFI heifers (n = 28) had an average RFI value of -0.39 (SD = 0.26). Average RFI values adjusted for backfat were 0.37 (SD = 0.44) and -0.39 (SD = 0.26) for high and low RFI heifers, respectively. The overall range in RFI_{FAT} was -1.05 to 1.95 with high RFI heifers ranging from 0.032 to 1.95 and low RFI heifers ranging from -1.05 to -0.04. Overall RFI and RFI_{FAT} values had means of 0.00 with the same SD of 0.53. Drylot individual feed intake ANOVA results are listed in Table 3 while LSM and SE are summarized in Table 4. Daily dry matter intake was significantly different between high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers, with high RFI_{FAT} heifers consuming 14% more dry matter on a daily basis. Despite a significant difference in DMI between high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers, ADG, feed conversion ratio (FCR), initial trial weight, final trial weight and metabolic mid

weight were similar (Table 4). The number of daily feeding events (events day⁻¹) was significantly higher in high RFI_{FAT} heifers (P = 0.03), however total feeding duration (min day⁻¹) did not differ between the two groups. More specifically, LSM values representing the number of daily feeding events (events day⁻¹) for the high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers was 127 (SE = 5.45) and 101 (SE = 5.56), respectively, while the LSM values for the total daily feeding duration (min day⁻¹) were 132.75 (SE = 4.41) and 135.54 (SE = 4.41) for high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers, respectively. Additionally, linear regression of average daily DMI and phenotypic RFI values show a significant positive relationship (R² = 0.41, P-Value < 0.0001) with low RFI heifers consuming significantly less barley silage than high RFI heifers (Fig. 1).

Methane and Carbon Dioxide Emission Observations

Drylot CH₄ and CO₂ production and yield ANOVA results are shown in Table 5. Overall CH₄ production was not significantly different between high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers, as low RFI_{FAT} heifers produced an average of 148.99 g head⁻¹ day⁻¹ and low RFI_{FAT} heifers produced an average of 148.66 g head⁻¹ day⁻¹. Overall average CO₂ production for the high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers was 5413.98 g head⁻¹ day⁻¹ and 5264.33 g head⁻¹ day⁻¹, respectively (Table 6). Although RFI_{FAT} group did not have a significant effect on CH₄ emissions, the day of emission observations, and the time of day that observations were collected, together with the interaction between RFI_{FAT} group and time bin, had a significant effect on CH₄ production, while CO₂ production was also significantly affected by the time in which heifers spent at the GEMS unit (Table 7). Both high and low RFI_{FAT} heifer groups produced the least CH₄ between 2100-2400 hours, with total CH₄ emission values of 128.67 g (SD = 2.49) and 129.59 g (SD = 2.48), respectively (P-Value > 0.05) (Fig. 6). Both groups produced the most CH₄ between 600-900 hours, with high RFI_{FAT} heifers producing a total of 162.92 g (SD = 2.49) and low RFI_{FAT} heifers producing a total of 164.92 g (SD = 2.53) (Fig. 2).

Methane and CO₂ yield of high and low RFI heifers in drylot were significantly different, with the low RFI heifers having greater CH₄ and CO₂ yields. Linear regression of the heifers' phenotypic RFI_{FAT} value with respect to CH₄ production showed no relationship ($R^2 = 0.002$, P-Value = 0.77) between CH₄ production and RFI_{FAT} value (Fig. 3), while Fig. 4 shows a positive relationship ($R^2 = 0.27$, P-Value < 0.001) between daily DMI and daily CH₄ production. Linear regressions of CH₄ yield reveal a significant negative relationship ($R^2 = 0.44$, P-Value < 0.0001) between RFI_{FAT} and CH₄ yield (Fig. 5), as well as a significant negative relationship ($R^2 = 0.28$, P-Value < 0.001) between CH₄ yield and dry matter intake (Fig. 6).

DISCUSSION

It was hypothesized that low RFIFAT heifers would have significantly lower DMI compared to the high RFIFAT heifers, and this hypothesis was supported. High RFIFAT heifers consumed 14% more feed throughout the course of the 76-day feed intake trial (Table 4). Previous studies found that low RFI cattle consume significantly less than high RFI cattle without compromising growth (Herd et al. 2014), which is in full support of the findings in this study, as DMI was significantly reduced without any effect on animal size and ADG. Additionally, the results of this study show a significant relationship between RFI_{FAT} and daily DMI ($R^2 = 0.41$, P-Value < 0.0001), representing a correlation of 0.64. Previous studies also identified significant relationships between RFI and DMI (Lancaster et al. 2009; Kelly et al. 2010; Lawrence et al. 2012; Fitzsimons et al. 2013). The current study is similar to that of Fitzsimons et al. (2013) as both involved replacement heifers on forage or grass silage based diets, with the biggest difference being that Fitzsimons et al. (2013) grouped DMI values by RFI rather than RFI_{FAT}. Fitzsimons et al. (2013) reported a significant correlation of 0.63 (P < 0.01) while the current study also reported a significant positive correlation (r = 0.66, P < 0.0001). The relationship in the current study likely presents a stronger and more significant correlation due to a much larger sample size. The current study was conducted with a total of 57 heifers while Fitzsimons et al. (2013) only studied 22 heifers. Lawrence et al. (2012) also identified a significant positive relationship between RFI and DMI ($R^2 = 0.66$, P < 0.001) of growing heifers consuming a grass silage diet, once again validating the results of the current study.

Despite significant differences in DMI between the groups of high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers, animal performance was not significantly different. Initial weight, final weight, mid weight and metabolic mid

weight were similar between high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers. Additionally, ADG and end of trial backfat measures were also similar between the two groups. Most of the variation in weights can be attributed to differences in heifer age. As identified in Table 3, age had a moderate or significant effect on initial weight, final weight, midweight, as well as metabolic midweight. Previous research supports the findings of the current study (Basarab et al. 2003; Nkrumah et al. 2004; Kelly et al. 2011; Fitzsimons et al. 2013). High and low RFI bulls that were tested for individual feed intake, on a highly concentrate diet with access to grass hay, had similar initial and final body weights, along with similar ADG and metabolic body weight measures (Kelly et al. 2011). Bulls only differed in rib fat and muscle depth measures in which high RFI bulls had greater muscle depth and greater backfat thickness (Kelly et al. 2011), which does not fully support the findings of similar backfat measures of high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers in the current study. In another study, backfat thickness, initial body weight, final body weight, and ADG of high and low RFI heifers on a grass silage diet was not significantly different (Fitzsimons et al. 2013), fully supporting the results of the current study.

It was hypothesized that CH₄ production in drylot would be significantly greater in high RFI heifers, and this hypothesis was not fully supported. Although high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers had similar overall CH₄ production, the interaction between RFI_{FAT} and day of sampling suggested that CH₄ production differed between RFI_{FAT} groups only on certain days. The differences in drylot CH₄ production were not directly aligned with the findings of previous studies in which high RFI cattle had overall greater CH₄ production than low RFI cattle (Nkrumah et al. 2006; Hegarty et al. 2007; Jones et al. 2011; Fitzsimons et al. 2013). Similar to the current study, Fitzsimons et al. (2013) studied feed intake and CH₄ production of high (n = 7), low (n = 7) and medium (n = 8) RFI heifers in drylot while consuming a grass silage diet. Although the experiments were similar, Fitzsimons et al. (2013) reported a significant difference in DMI as well as CH₄ production between the high and low RFI heifers. The sample size of the current study (n = 42) should not have affected the ability to find a significant difference as Fitzsimons et al. (2013) conducted the study with about half the sample size (n = 22) and reported significant differences. While the method used to measure CH_4 emissions in the current study has seldom been reported, it should be noted that it was different from the method used by Fitzsimons et al. (2013) (i.e. GEMS rather than SF_6 tracer technique). Manafiazar et al. (2017) concluded that the GEMS unit was a credible and repeatable way in which emissions could be monitored, and as such it was unlikely that the method of measuring CH_4 emissions affected the results of the current study.

Results from the current study are more directly aligned with the results from Waghorn and Hegarty (2011) and McDonnell et al. (2016), in which absolute CH₄ production did not differ between high and low RFI animals. Waghorn and Hegarty (2011) analyzed CH₄ production data of eight high and eight low RFI dairy cows on a forage based diet, while McDonnell et al. (2016) analyzed CH₄ emissions of 14 high and 14 low RFI cattle on various diets including pasture, grass silage and a total mixed ration. More specifically, McDonnell found that CH₄ production was greatest when cattle were consuming the total mixed ration and lowest when cattle were grazing on pasture. Furthermore, CH₄ production was only correlated with daily DMI when cattle were on pasture (r = 0.42, P-value < 0.05) and there was no correlation between RFI and CH₄ production (McDonnell et al. 2016), as was also seen in the current study (Fig. 3). McDonnell et al. (2016) reported that errors associated with the SF₆ tracer technique used to measure the enteric CH₄ emissions could have influenced the results. As reported by Waghorn and Hegarty (2011), no differences in CH₄ production existed between high and low RFI cows (P-Value = 0.09), a result which was reportedly associated with the higher CH₄ yields of low RFI cows.

While it was hypothesized that the high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers would have similar CH₄ yields, this hypothesis was rejected. Low RFI_{FAT} heifers had significantly greater CH₄ yields in drylot when compared to high RFI_{FAT} heifers. Previous research related to CH₄ yield is conflicting, as some studies report no differences in CH₄ yield between high and low RFI heifers on grass silage diets (Fitzsimons et al. 2013), nor in steers fed concentrate diets (Hegarty et al. 2007). Whereas both McDonnell et al. (2016) and Waghorn and Hegarty (2011) reported that low RFI cattle had greater CH₄ yields, these differences were only significantly greater in the study conducted by McDonnell et al. (2016). Methane yields

relative to RFI_{FAT} in the current study parallel the findings of McDonnell et al. (2016) and Waghorn and Hegarty (2011). Methane yield in the current study was negatively correlated with RFI_{FAT} (r = -0.66, P-Value = < 0.0001) and also negatively correlated with DMI (r = -0.53, P-Value < 0.001). This means that low RFI_{FAT} heifers produced more CH_4 per kilogram of DMI.

Although not examined in the current study, it is possible that low RFI_{FAT} heifers had greater CH₄ yield values as a result of greater digestibility and greater rumen retention times, resulting in more CH₄ produced per kilogram of feed consumed. McDonnell et al. (2016) examined apparent total tract digestibility of organic matter and gross energy, and found that low RFI animals had significantly greater organic matter digestibility (P-Value = 0.027), and slightly greater gross energy digestibility when compared to their high RFI counterparts. McDonnell et al. (2016) reported that an increase in dietary digestibility likely provided methanogens with more hydrogen for CH₄ production, hence the reportedly greater CH₄ yields. Along with differences in digestibility, it is possible that differences in rumen retention time could also have contributed to the differences in CH₄ yield, especially considering that increases in digestibility are often associated with greater rumen retention time (Waghorn and Hegarty 2011). The CH₄ yield results in the current study may also arise from greater diet digestibility and greater rumen retention time of low RFI cattle. Greater dietary digestibility could also explain the similar CH₄ production between the two groups. Although low RFI_{FAT} heifers had significantly lower DMI, they produced more CH₄ per kilogram of DMI, resulting in both groups producing similar amounts of overall CH₄.

It was hypothesized that CO₂ production in drylot would be significantly greater in high RFI heifers, and this hypothesis was supported. High RFI heifers produced more CO₂ in drylot than low RFI heifers, suggesting that selecting for low RFI will result in reduced greenhouse gas emissions associated with CO₂, potentially offsetting at least a portion of the increase in CH₄ yield observed therein. As identified in an earlier study, cattle that consume less feed (i.e. low RFI cattle) produce fewer greenhouse gases, with one of those gases being CO₂ (Beauchemin et al. 2010). Although CO₂ has 25 times less the

global warming potential of CH_4 (IPCC 2014), it still influences overall GHG emission levels due to its abundance. According to the results of the current study, CO_2 emissions are of greater importance in terms of selection for RFI because the difference in emissions was much greater between the high and low RFI heifers and the overall amount of CO_2 released into the atmosphere was much more significant than the amount of CH_4 . The results from the current study indicate that selection for RFI is more likely to reduce GHG production as a result of less CO_2 emissions.

Research Limitations

There were few research limitations in the current study. This study did not appear to be limited by the number of animals used or by the number of days in which DMI and CH_4 data were collected, particularly in comparison to other studies, which used fewer animals and collected data over a smaller number of days. However, cross-validation of some of the results in the current study was difficult due to the very small number of studies published to date that used the GEMS method to monitor enteric GHG emissions. In hindsight, the addition of apparent total tract digestibility and rumen retention times would have been valuable for interpreting CH_4 emission results.

CONCLUSION

Low RFI_{FAT} heifers have significantly lower daily DMI in drylot compared to high RFI_{FAT} heifers when consuming grass silage diets. Despite differences in feed intake, factors associated with production, such as weight gain and backfat measures, remained similar between high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers. Such results indicate that selecting for RFI will not compromise production traits while still reducing overall feed costs, a substantial economic advantage. Although the low RFI_{FAT} heifers consumed significantly less feed, overall CH₄ production did not differ from that of the high RFI_{FAT} heifers. The similarity in CH₄ production likely stemmed from the significantly greater CH₄ yields reported for the low RFI_{FAT} heifers. Results from the current study suggest that differences in total tract digestibility, as well as rumen retention time, are likely to influence CH₄ production and may also influence the expression of RFI, something which will need to be examined further in additional studies.

Table 1. Composition of Barley Silage fed to replacement heifers on dry matter basis.	
Dry matter (%)	36.72
Metabolizable energy (MJ kg ⁻¹) ^X	9.51
Crude protein (%)	10.93
Acid detergent fibre (%)	31.37
Neutral detergent fibre (%)	47.43
Total digestible nutrients (%)	63.03
Calcium (%)	0.39
Phosphorus (%)	0.26
^x Metabolizable energy (ME) MI kg ⁻¹ DM = ((TDN %/100) x 4.4 Mcal kg ⁻¹ TDN) x 4	184 MI DF Mcal ⁻

^xMetabolizable energy (ME), MJ kg⁻¹ $\overline{DM} = ((TDN, \%/100) \times 4.4 \text{ Mcal kg}^{-1} TDN) \times 4.184 \text{ MJ DE Mcal}^{-1} \times 0.82 \text{ MJ ME MJ}^{-1} \text{ DE (NRC 1996).}$

	Diet 1	Diet 2			
Dry Matter (%)	96.2	97.6			
Crude Protein (%)	15.9	17.3			
Acid Detergent Fibre (%)	9.55	7.8			
Neutral Detergent Fibre (%)	23.2	18.6			
Calcium (%)	1.8	1.28			
Phosphorus (%)	0.61	0.33			
Magnesium (%)	0.28	0.14			
Potassium (%)	0.73	0.48			
Sodium (%)	0.38	0.33			
Table 3. ANOVA	table of drylot DMI dat	ta.			
----------------	-------------------------	--------------------	-------------------	---------------------	--
	Dry Matter Intake		Feed Conver	rsion Ratio	
	F-Value	P-Value	F-Value	P-Value	
RFI Group	17.57 (1, 54)	0.0001	2.32 (1, 54)	0.13	
Calf Age	0.51 (1, 54)	0.48	0.081 (1, 54)	0.78	
	Initial Cal	f Weight	Final Calf Weight		
	F-Value	P-Value	F-Value	P-Value	
RFI Group	0.11 (1, 54)	0.74	0.42 (1, 54)	0.056	
Calf Age	5.78 (1, 54)	0.02	3.56 (1, 54)	0.065	
	Midwo	Midweight		Metabolic Midweight	
	F-Value	P-Value	F-Value	P-Value	
RFI Group	0.27 (1, 54)	0.60	0.005 (1, 54)	0.94	
Calf Age	3.81 (1, 54)	0.056	3.81 (1, 54)	0.056	
	Residual Fe	ed Intake	Residual Feed In	take – Fat Adj.	
	F-Value	P-Value	F-Value	P-Value	
RFI Group	53.97 (1, 54)	< 0.0001	53.98 (1, 54)	< 0.0001	
Calf Age	1.90 (1, 54)	0.17	1.91 (1, 54)	0.17	
	Average D	Average Daily Gain		fat	
	F-Value	P-Value	F-Value	P-Value	
RFI Group	0.22 (1, 54)	0.64	0.10 (1, 54)	0.75	
Calf Age	0.039 (1, 54)	0.84	0.52 (1, 54)	0.47	

	High RFI _{FAT}		Low RFI _{FAT}	
	LSM	SE	LSM	SE
Daily Dry Matter Intake (kg DM day-1)	6.21ª	0.13	5.43 ^b	0.13
RFI	0.36 ^a	0.07	-0.37 ^b	0.07
RFI Fat	0.36ª	0.07	-0.37 ^b	0.07
Initial Weight (kg)	269.11ª	4.27	267.08ª	4.35
Final Weight (kg)	314.05 ^a	5.82	308.61ª	5.92
Mid Weight (kg)	288.15ª	5.91	284.35ª	5.02
Metabolic Mid Weight (kg)	69.88ª	0.91	69.19 ^a	0.93
Backfat (mm)	4.09 ^a	0.3	3.96 ^a	0.30
Average Daily Gain (kg d ⁻¹)	0.58ª	0.03	0.56ª	0.03
Feed Conversion Ratio	12.22 ^a	0.64	10.81 ^a	0.65

Table 4. Dry matter intake and performance of heifers fed barley silage for 76 days in drylot at the Lacombe Research Centre.



Fig. 1. Linear regression of replacement heifer DMI with respect to phenotypic RFI_{FAT} value. y = 5.83 + 0.094x, R^2 = 0.41, Adjusted R^2 = 0.39, P-Value < 0.0001.

Table 5. ANOVA table of CH_4 and CO_2 production (g head⁻¹ day⁻¹) and yield (g kg⁻¹ DMI) of high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers fed barley silage and monitored for emissions using a GreenFeed Emissions monitoring system at the Lacombe Research Centre.

	CH4 Production		CO ₂ Production	
-	F-Value	P-Value	F-Value	P-Value
RFI _{FAT} Group	0.04 (1, 3644)	0.84	30.83 (1, 3644)	< 0.0001
Day	6.73 (28, 3644)	< 0.0001	7.17 (28, 3644)	< 0.0001
RFI _{FAT} Group: Day	1.46 (28, 3644)	0.056	1.26 (28, 3644)	0.17
Good Time	0.93 (1, 3644)	0.33	7.14 (1, 3644)	0.0076
Time Bin	44.91 (7, 3644)	< 0.0001	23.65 (7, 3644)	< 0.0001
RFI _{FAT} Group: Time Bin	2.28 (7, 3644)	0.026	4.07 (7, 3644)	0.0002
	CH₄ Yie	ld	CO ₂ Y	ield
	F-Value	P-Value	F-Value	P-Value
RFI _{FAT} Group	11.78 (1, 41)	0.001	10.10 (1, 41)	0.003
Day	0.00 (1, 41)	0.98	0.13 (1, 41)	0.72

nemers white in drylot.					
	High RFI _{FAT}		Low RF	Low RFI _{FAT}	
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	
Methane Production (g head-1 day-1)	148.99ª	36.07	148.66ª	36.11	
Methane Yield (g kg-1 DMI)	23.63ª	2.56	26.40 ^b	2.59	
Carbon Dioxide Production (g head-1 day-1)	5413.98ª	734.29	5264.33 ^b	696.07	
Carbon Dioxide Yield (g kg ⁻¹ DMI)	870.75ª	79.26	947.03 ^b	73.39	

Table 6. Means and standard deviations of CH₄ and CO₂ production and yield from high and low RFI_{FAT} replacement heifers while in drylot.



Fig. 2. Bargraph of the total CH₄ production of high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers in drylot (g head⁻¹ day⁻¹) in each of the eight successive three-hour time periods, starting at 0000 hours.



Fig. 3. Linear regression of daily CH₄ production (g head⁻¹ day⁻¹) and phenotypic RFI_{FAT} value of heifers in drylot. y = 146.53 - 1.56x, $R^2 = 0.002$, Adjusted $R^2 = -0.023$, P-Value = 0.77.



Fig. 4. Linear regression of average daily CH₄ production (g head⁻¹ day⁻¹) and average daily DMI (kg DM day⁻¹) of heifers in drylot. y = 76.40 + 11.81x, R2 = 0.27, Adjusted R² = 0.25, P-Value = 0.0005.



Fig. 5. Linear regression of phenotypic RFI_{FAT} value and average daily CH₄ yield (g kg DMI day⁻¹). y = 25.18 - 3.70x, R2 = 0.44, Adjusted R² = 0.43, P-Value = < 0.0001.



Fig. 6. Linear regression of average daily CH₄ yield (g kg DMI day⁻¹) and average daily dry matter intake (kg DM day⁻¹). y = 36.68 - 1.98x, R2 = 0.28, Adjusted R2 = 0.26, P-Value < 0.001.

Chapter 4: Methane Production and Dry Matter Intake of Replacement Heifers on Pasture

INTRODUCTION

Residual feed intake (RFI) of cattle is most often evaluated in a drylot environment where diet, feed intake and behaviour are controlled, and foraging behaviors are eliminated; all of which are aspects that add to the difficulty of measuring RFI on pasture. Assessing feed intake on pasture is important because it reflects common beef production practices in Alberta and Western Canada. Most cattle, including feedlot cattle, spend a substantial portion of their lives in a pasture environment. Accurately measuring dry matter intake (DMI) of cattle on pasture is challenging because it is difficult to quantify exactly what, and how much, each animal is consuming. Methods involving tracers, such as n-alkanes, can be used to estimate DMI on pasture (Mayes et al. 1986; Charmley et al. 2003; Manafiazar et al. 2015). DMI can be estimated using a paired n-alkane methodology that compares natural alkane concentrations to synthetic dosed alkane concentrations of fecal and feed samples. Information on DMI and growth of cattle grazing on pasture can give insight into RFI, despite the lack of control over feed intake and the environment. Although estimates of DMI on pasture can be determined, it does not mean that RFI values can always be calculated. In order to accurately capture RFI on pasture, feed intake data would need to be collected for at least 35-42 days, alongside approximately 76 days of weight gain data (Wang et al. 2006). Estimating dry matter intake on pasture is a labor-intensive process as it requires individual feeding, fecal sample collection, and feed refusal collection for each animal on trial twice a day (Manafiazar et al. 2015). Manually collecting such data for at least 35 days consecutively is a very physically demanding process, and therefore often only gets done for approximately 14 days (including the dosing and sampling period), which is not long enough to get accurate assessments of RFI on pasture.

Along with the complexity of measuring RFI, comes the difficulty of measuring methane (CH₄) emissions on pasture. CH₄ emissions are important to consider as they affect both sustainability of the industry as well as the efficiency of beef production. Cattle on pasture are subject to forage-based diets, which are typically high in fiber and can be lower in energy content (BCRC 2017), in turn contributing to increased CH₄ emissions. CH₄ is a potent greenhouse gas, with 25 times the warming potential of CO₂ (IPCC 2014). CH₄ production can be reduced by feeding grain rather than forage-based diets (Grainger and Beauchemin 2011; Hristov et al. 2013) as feed sources with low fibre or high carbohydrate content can reduce CH₄ emissions (Moe and Tyrrell 1979). Furthermore, improvements in diet quality have been shown to reduce CH₄ production per animal (Eckard et al. 2010). Hristov et al. (2013) estimated that about 3 to 7% of gross energy intake was lost to CH₄ production from cattle fed high grain and forage diets, respectively. Cattle on forage-based diets tend to have greater CH₄ emissions as a result of greater ruminal fermentation, while diets with greater starch promote propionate production, creating an alternate hydrogen sink to methanogenesis (Murphy et al. 1982). Because it is not always possible to alter pasture forage quality, selecting for cattle that eat less while maintaining growth may result in lower CH₄ emissions.

CH₄ emissions can be monitored using SF₆CH₄ collection canisters, which are strapped to each individual animal's head. Although the SF₆ method is a way of measuring individual CH₄ emissions, it has the potential to interfere with normal animal behavior and is limited by wind speeds and wind directions (Harper et al. 1999). Another method that involves CH₄ measurement using infrared lasers, monitors emissions from cattle in a group environment (Jones et al. 2011), the method does not measure individual CH₄ emissions. Using an open-path Fourier Transform Infrared Spectrometry (OP-FTIR) system, CH₄ emissions can be measured directly in a pasture environment while cattle are grazing. An OP-FTIR system utilizes an inverse dispersion technique method (IDM) to estimate CH₄ emissions (Flesch et al. 2004), a method which calculates emissions based on the incremental rise in CH₄ concentration over background levels (Bai et al. 2015).

The objective of this study was to determine if there is a difference in cattle DMI as well as CH₄ production and yield while grazing on pasture. It was hypothesized that (1) high RFI_{FAT} heifers would have greater DMI on pasture, (2) that high RFI_{FAT} heifers would have greater CH₄ production on pasture, and (3) that CH₄ yield would be similar between high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers on pasture.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This research was conducted between June 2016 and April 2017 at the University of Alberta Mattheis Research Ranch, in collaboration with the Gemstone Cattle Company. All animal procedures were reviewed and approved by the University of Alberta Animal Care and Use Committee (AUP00001284), and all animals were cared for in accordance with the Canadian Council on Animal Care (1993).

Dry Matter Intake and Methane Emissions

Prior to collection of pasture observations, all heifers were maintained as one group in a drylot pen, on a corn silage diet. Heifers were selected based on phenotypic RFI_{FAT} (i.e. RFI corrected for backfat) values in drylot as well as temperament. In total, 18 heifers, nine with relatively low and nine with relatively high RFI_{FAT} values based on a previous drylot test, given that temperaments were suitable for daily handling, were used in the trial. High and low RFI_{FAT} heifers had an average RFI_{FAT} value of 0.61 (SD = 0.280) and -0.56 (SD = 0.178), respectively. On average, the heifers were 515.11 (SD = 16.428) days old, weighed 300.08 kg (SD = 29.933), with a backfat of 3.65 mm (SD = 1.27) at the start of the trial. The trial was conducted from June 13, 2016 to July 5, 2016 at the University of Alberta Mattheis Research Ranch with temporary facilities arranged on an irrigation pivot. Heifers in the trial strip-grazed forage oats (*Avena sativa*; cv. CDC Baler) during the flag-leaf, early boot and boot stages of growth; refer to Appendix D for forage information.

Dry Matter Intake

Dry matter intake on pasture was determined using n-alkanes, in accordance with Manafiazar et al. (2015), which involved a 23-day procedure consisting of an initial warm-up period followed by a dosing period, and then a final sampling period. All 18 heifers spent a total of eight days (day -8 to day -1, inclusive) in the warm-up period, in which heifers were acclimatized to the forage and electric fence (Fig. 1). During the warm-up period, the electric fence was moved on a daily basis to give heifers frequent access to new forage. Twice throughout the warm-up period, heifers were taken to the handling facilities where they were individually fed small amounts of barley grain to familiarize them with the facilities and the procedure. The dosing period, which followed the warm-up period, took place over nine days (day 0 to day 8, inclusive) where heifers continued to graze together in the warm-up area. On day zero, heifers were weighed, fecal sampled through rectal palpation, and ultrasound backfat measurements taken. Initially the heifers were taken to the handling facilities once a day in the morning (8 a.m.), for feeding of $1000g (\pm 0.5 g)$ of alkane pellets in individual $3.05m \times 3.05m$ pens (Fig. 2). On day 5, the procedure was modified to individually feed heifers $500g (\pm 0.5g)$ of alkane pellets in the morning (8 a.m.) and in the afternoon (4 p.m.) as heifers would not eat 1000g at one time. Heifers were given a maximum of one hour to eat all of their pellets. Following feeding, all feed refusals were collected and weighed to estimate pellet intakes for each heifer. Orts for each feeding period were composited and stored at -20°C. Samples of alkane pellets were collected on each day throughout the dosing period and stored in a -20°C freezer prior to analysis. Alkane pellet preparation is explained in Appendix C and pellet nutritional information is found in Table 1; pellets were 82.7% digestible, with 17.5% crude protein.

The sampling period, following the dosing period, took place over five days (day 9 to day 14, inclusive). During the sampling period, high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers were strip-grazed separately in two groups and continued to be fed 500g (\pm 0.5g) of alkane pellets in the morning (8 a.m.) and afternoon (4 p.m.), orts continued to be collected and weighed for each heifer. Additionally, all heifers were fecal sampled, through rectal palpation, twice-a-day immediately after alkane pellet feeding; only one fecal sample was collected on day 14. All fecal samples were immediately kept on ice and stored at -20°C following the sampling period. On day 10, two heifers (one high RFI_{FAT}, one low RFI_{FAT}) were removed from the trial due to poor temperament. Additional body weights were collected on day 13. Daily forage pluck samples (i.e. emulating selective animal grazing), and daily forage clip samples were collected in all paddocks to determine forage quality (digestibility, crude protein and fiber) and forage dry matter content, respectively. Forage quality during the warm-up period and the sampling period is summarized in Table

2. Pasture had similar digestibility at the start and end of the trial, while protein was initially very high (30%), and by the end remained at 23.5%.

All composited ort samples were oven dried for 72 hours at 80°C to determine dry matter content. Daily feed samples were oven dried for 72 hours at 55°C, then ground to 1mm using a Wiley[™] mill. Alkane concentrations of feed and fecal samples were analyzed in the department of Agricultural, Food and Nutritional Sciences (University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta) in accordance with the method described by Manafiazar et al. (2015). Samples of 1g each were digested in 15 mL of ethanolic KOH, along with 0.25 mL of tetracontane (C₃₄) internal standard, and saponified at 90°C overnight. Following digestion, alkanes were extracted with aliquots of heptane, and the solvent layers removed and dried through evaporation. Solutes were re-dissolved in 2 mL of heptane and filtered through a silica column. The eluate was dried through evaporation and re-dissolved in 0.8 mL of n-undecane. Samples were analyzed by gas chromatography (GC) using a Bruker Scion 456 GC (Scion Instruments, Livingston, West Lothian, Scotland) instrument with a flame ionization detector (FID), while using a hydrogen carrier gas at 70 cm sec⁻¹. The instrument used an HP-1 25m x 0.32mm column with an injector and detector temperature of 325°C. The oven was programmed to an initial temperature of 150°C, held for 1 min, then increased to 325°C at 10°C min⁻¹, and held for 6.5 min. Each sample was run for a total of 25 min.

Methane Emissions

Enteric CH₄ emissions were measured on pasture from the same high and low RFI_{FAT} heifer groups using the OP-FTIR. Emissions were measured for 6 days, starting on day 8 (i.e. the dosing period) of the pasture DMI observations. High and low RFI_{FAT} heifers were kept in separate groups and grazed in long narrow strips (Fig. 1). The paddock design outlined in Hu et al. (2016) was modified to allow concurrent emission monitoring from two groups; details of the paddock layout are given in Appendix D. Emissions were calculated using an IDM, where CH₄ concentrations were measured upwind and

77

downwind of each RFI group. The downwind enhancement of CH₄ (i.e. the rise above the upwind concentration level) together with wind information, defined the group emission rate (Harper et al. 2013).

CH₄ concentrations were measured with an OP-FTIR system, its set up is shown in Fig. 3. The OP-FTIR spectrometer (Matrix-M IR Cube, Bruker Optik, Ettlingen, Germany) sent an infrared beam of light to a distant retroreflector, from which the beam was returned to a detector. The average gas concentration along the path was determined from an analysis of the infrared spectrum of the returned beam (Griffith et al. 2012). Trace gas concentrations were measured along four different OP-FTIR paths running outside and parallel to the long axis of the two paddock strips (Fig. 3). Depending on the wind direction, one set of paths measured upwind concentrations, and the other set measured the enhanced downwind concentrations. The four paths were measured with the single OP-FTIR instrument through the use of an automated aiming motor and mirrors. The aiming motor automatically cycled through the sequence of four paths every 7.5 min, and this was repeated continuously except for periods of adjustment or shut down (i.e. due to high wind and lightning storms). Due to the importance of the height of the concentration path above the ground for emission measurements in this type of configuration (Hu et al. 2016), the heights of the mirrors and reflectors were adjusted to create nearly constant path heights (as measured every 10 to 30 m along each path). A tower-mounted three-dimensional sonic anemometer (CST3, Campbell Scientific Inc., Logan, UT, USA), located next to the grazing strips, provided the necessary wind information for the emission calculations: friction velocity (u*), Obukhov length (L), roughness length (z_0), wind direction (β) and turbulent velocity fluctuations ($\sigma_{u,v,w}$). This information is described in detail by Flesch et al. (2004).

Emissions were calculated concurrently from the two RFI_{FAT} groups in a time series of 15 min average emission rates. The software, WindTrax (www.thunderbeachscientific.com), was used for this calculation, which combines the IDM model described by Flesch et al. (2004) with an interface allowing gas sources and sensors to be mapped (Fig. 4). The paddock boundaries and OP-FTIR paths were GPS located and mapped in WindTrax, with emissions calculated from the time series of OP-FTIR concentrations and the wind information. Each group of heifers was represented in WindTrax as point sources located in the centre of the strip, with an emission source set to approximately mouth height, 0.5 m above the ground. Not all 15-min periods were suitable for emission measurements. Observations were filtered based on wind and concentration sensor criteria (Flesch et al. 2004 and 2014; Hu et al. 2016). Observation periods were eliminated under the following four circumstances:

- **1.** Very low wind periods with friction velocities $(u^*) \le 0.1 \text{ m s}^{-1}$.
- 2. Roughness length $(z_0) \ge 0.2$ m. Lengths which exceeded this threshold were unrealistic for the surface cover and they indicated wind flows that did not meet model assumptions.
- 3. Wind directions (β) within $\pm 30^{\circ}$ from the long axis of the paddocks. This was done to ensure that all animal emissions passed through the downwind concentration measurement path, and not out the end of the strips. WindTrax plume maps (Fig. 4) were also created for each 15 min period and compared to photographs of the animal's positions during the period to ensure the plume passed through the proper measurement path.
- 4. Concentration observations that did not meet quality assurance parameters such as signal strengths, as measured by Specmax (reported by the OP-FTIR), of < 0.20; often times due to dew and heavy rain, which reduced signal strength to unreliable levels.</p>

Methane measurements were collected 24 hours day⁻¹, with heifers given access to a new strip of grass every morning (9 a.m.). Each time heifers were moved to a new strip of forage, the RFI_{FAT} groups were alternated between paddock blocks (i.e. moved to the other side of the OP-FTIR) to minimize potential differences in environmental conditions (including feed) between the two areas of the field (Fig. 5). Animal moves to new pastures required repositioning of the OP-FTIR, mirrors and reflectors every two days. Stationary field cameras, located on either side of the FTIR system, took photos every 5 min to verify the location of heifers within the paddock.

Calculations and Statistical Analysis

Dry Matter Intake

Daily fecal, feed and pellet samples were used to determine alkane marker concentration in feces over the entire 15 day test period (i.e. dosing and subsequent sampling period). Fecal concentrations of endogenous alkane was determined for all seven days in which fecal samples were collected. This was done using knowledge of pellets consumed and the concentration of endogenous alkanes in feed and feces. Estimates of forage intake were calculated for days 9 to 15. Feed intake estimates were calculated in accordance with Manafiazar et al. (2015), in which both naturally occurring alkanes and synthetic alkanes were analyzed in a paired *n*-alkane methodology. The following formula was used to estimate DMI for each individual heifer,

DMI (kg DM d⁻¹) =
$$[(F_i/F_j) \times (D_j) + ((IS \times S_j) - (IS \times S_i))] / [H_i - (F_i/F_j) \times H_j]$$

where H_i , S_i , and F_i , are forage, pellet and fecal concentrations of C_{31} (mg kg⁻¹ DM), respectively. H_j , S_j , and F_j , are forage, pellet and fecal concentrations of C_{32} (mg kg-1 DM), respectively. IS represents pellet intake (kg DM day⁻¹) while D_j represents the dose rate of C_{32} (mg day⁻¹).

Forage DMI was averaged for all animals and any DMI beyond three standard deviations of the mean were removed, in total one DMI measurement for each animal was removed, this estimate being from the very first fecal sample collected (i.e. 1 of 7 values). DMI values were not included for the high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers that were removed from the trial. Final DMI values for each heifer were averaged over the six day period. Analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) was conducted in R using the Car package (Fox and Weisberg 2011), in which the model included DMI as a response variable, with fixed effects of heifer RFI_{FAT} group and sampling day (i.e. during sampling period, days 9-15) as a covariate. Differences in initial and final body weight and backfat were analyzed with an Ime model in the nIme package in R (Pinheiro et al. 2016), in which RFI_{FAT} group and heifer age were fixed effects, and each individual heifer was considered a random effect. Values smaller than 0.05 were considered to be significant. Multiple comparisons were done using Tukey's Honest Significant Difference (HSD) test in the Ismeans program

in R (Lenth 2016). Linear regression of individual pasture DMI and drylot RFI_{FAT} value was conducted in R (R Core Team 2016) and grouped by each individual sampling day.

Methane Emissions

CH₄ concentrations were grouped into three hour time periods, dividing all of the CH₄ concentration data into eight different time bins throughout the day. Concentrations were grouped into time bins in order to accurately account for differences in high and low RFI_{FAT} heifer feeding behavior. Subsequent analysis was conducted using linear mixed models in the lme package in R (Pinheiro et al. 2016) in which RFI_{FAT} group and time bin were fixed effects, CH₄ concentration was a response variable, and day (n=6) was a random effect. ANOVA was conducted to determine the differences in total CH₄ production.

Methane production was also analyzed on a standardized kg of body weight basis. Because individual animal CH₄ measurements were not collected on pasture, CH₄ production was compared solely between the two RFI_{FAT} groups. Body weights of heifers in each of the RFI_{FAT} groups were averaged and divided by the overall average CH₄ production for that group. Differences in average CH₄ production per average body weight was analyzed using an lme model in R (Pinheiro et al. 2016), with CH₄ production per unit body weight as a response variable, RFI_{FAT} group and time bin (i.e. one of the three hour times periods in the day) as fixed effects, and day as a random effect. Methane yield values were calculated by dividing each RFI_{FAT} group's CH₄ production by average DMI. Differences in CH₄ yield were analyzed using a linear model in R in which methane yield was the dependent variable with fixed effects of methane yield, RFI_{FAT} group and sampling day. Multiple comparisons were conducted using Tukey's HSD test in the lsmeans package in R (Lenth 2016).

RESULTS

High RFI_{FAT} heifers had an average RFI_{FAT} value of 0.52 (SD = 0.49) while low RFI_{FAT} heifers had an RFI_{FAT} value of -0.59 (SD = 0.30) (P < 0.0001), both values based on feed intake in drylot (i.e. see Chapter 3). ANOVA results for differences in DMI between high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers are summarized in Table 3. Day of sampling had a significant effect on DMI. While age of the heifer had a significant effect on final body weight, as well as initial and final backfat, it did not have a significant effect on initial body weight. On average high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers were 427 (SD = 20.9) and 442 (SD = 6.7) days of age, respectively (P = 0.053) at the start of the pasture feed intake trial. High RFI_{FAT} heifers consumed an estimated average of 8.13 kg DM day⁻¹ (SD = 1.71) while low RFI_{FAT} heifers consumed an estimated average of 7.88 kg DM day⁻¹ (SD = 1.30). Least square means (LSM) of DMI, initial and final body weights, as well as start and end-of-trial backfat measurements are summarized in Table 4. High and low RFIFAT fat heifers had similar body weight measurements, along with similar final backfat measurements, the only significant difference being in final backfat, with high RFI_{FAT} heifers having more backfat. Although there were no significant differences, both high and low RFIFAT heifers gained weight and accumulated backfat while on the grazing trial. Multiple linear regression analysis of drylot phenotypic RFI_{FAT} values, with individual pasture DMI and day of sampling, resulted in a significant relationship (R^2 = 0.21, P-Value < 0.0001). In contrast, simple linear regression analysis of drylot phenotypic RFI_{FAT} values and individual total DMI revealed no relationship ($R^2 = 0.0001$, P-Value = 0.92). Regression of DMI and RFI_{FAT} plotted for each day of the pasture intake trial showed differences among heifers as well as differences within each animal from day to day (Fig. 6).

ANOVA results evaluating differences in CH₄ production and CH₄ yield between high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers are summarized in Table 5. Time of day had a significant effect on CH₄ production on a g day⁻¹ basis, as well as CH₄ production on a g kg⁻¹ of body weight basis. Time of day also had a significant effect on CH₄ yield (g kg⁻¹ DMI). LSM values for high and low RFI_{FAT} heifer CH₄ production and yield are summarized in Table 5. Although high RFI_{FAT} heifers produced more CH₄ (203.3 ± 27.5SD g head⁻¹ day⁻¹), it was not significantly greater than the low RFI_{FAT} heifers (195.6 ± 27.5SD g head⁻¹ day⁻¹). Standardized CH₄ production and CH₄ yield also did not differ significantly between high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers. Due to the difficulty of measuring feed intake on pasture, CH₄ emissions were standardized on an animal weight basis. The diurnal pattern of CH₄ production, as shown in Fig. 7, revealed that CH₄

production was greatest for both high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers between the hours of 0900 and 1200, right after heifers were given access to a new strip of forage. Methane production between high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers was only significantly different between the hours of 0000 and 0300. Methane production for both high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers was lowest between the hours of 0600 and 0900. Methane production was steady from approximately 1800 to approximately 0600, and the greatest fluctuations occurred between approximately 0900 and 1800.

DISCUSSION

It was hypothesized that DMI on pasture would be significantly different between high and low RFIFAT heifers, as seen in drylot (see Chapter 3); however, that hypothesis was rejected. High and low RFIFAT heifers had similar DMI on pasture. Previous research conducted in drylot has found that low RFI cattle had lower DMI than their high RFI counterparts (Lancaster et al. 2009; Kelly et al. 2010; Lawrence et al. 2012; Fitzsimons et al. 2013). However, research regarding the measurement of DMI on pasture is limited. Manafiazar et al. (2015) found a significant difference in DMI on pasture between high and low RFIFAT heifers using the alkane method, which was also used in the current study. More specifically, Manafiazer et al. (2015) found that high RFI_{FAT} heifers had a daily DMI of 8.66 kg DM day⁻¹, while low RFIFAT heifers had a daily DMI of 8.20 kg DM day⁻¹, a difference of 0.46 kg DM day⁻¹, as opposed to a difference of 0.25 kg DM day⁻¹ in the current study. It is possible that the results in the current study could have been more significant if a larger number of heifers were tested. In the current study, DMI was only measured on nine high and nine low RFIFAT heifers while Manafiazar et al. (2015) analyzed DMI on 24 high RFIFAT heifers and 24 low RFIFAT heifers from pasture intake trials in 2012 and 2013. The greater sample size in the latter study may have increased the ability to find significant differences. Using our variance and effect size (0.25), a power analysis suggests that a total of 214 heifers would have been needed to detect a significant difference in DMI between low and high RFI groups at an alpha of 5%. Although DMI was not significantly different between high and low RFIFAT heifers, it is notable that the daily DMI values we report are similar to those reported by Manafiazar et al. (2015).

Differences in daily DMI may also have been more detectable between high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers had observations been collected over a longer period of time. Because measurements were only collected on pasture for six days, daily fluctuations in DMI could have affected the accuracy of the overall DMI estimates. Drylot DMI trials run for at least 35 days in order to collect representative (and therefore accurate) measurements (Wang et al. 2006). The length of a 35-day trial eliminates variation within and between animals, including variation in environmental conditions during the trial. The short length of the pasture feed intake trial coupled with high daily fluctuations in DMI suggests the data collect may have been insufficient to capture stable long-term DMI values of heifers. Due to the labor intensive process of strip-grazing animals and the facilitation of CH₄ measures, DMI values were not evaluated over a longer period of time, something which could have increased the accuracy of the DMI estimates.

The use of n-alkanes to predict DMI could have affected the accuracy of the heifers' DMI values. A review by Dove and Mayes (1991), along with studies by Mayes et al. (1986) and Moshtaghi-Nia and Wittenberg (2002), reported that comparing dosed and natural alkanes provided accurate DMI estimations of beef cattle on pasture; however, estimations were only accurate when cattle were consuming the same forage, and the material consumed were also the forage sampled for quality and analyzed for alkane concentrations. Consequently, the accuracy of DMI values observed here could have been affected by the consumption of diverse plants or forages with differing alkane profiles, such as weeds (Dove and Mayes 1991). Although efforts were made to have the high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers consume a monoculture of forage (i.e. the pasture had been sprayed to eliminate broadleaf weeds), some weeds were still found within the forage sward, and spraying would not remove volunteer grasses growing with the forage oats. Thus, it is possible that the heifers consumed small amounts of weeds such as dandelion, Canada thistle, buckwheat or lambs-quarter's, as well as other grassy vegetation, which assuming they had different alkane concentrations, may ultimately have affected DMI estimations. In doing so, it is possible that the consumption of small amounts of weeds affected the overall difference in DMI detected between high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers.

While it was hypothesized that CH₄ production on pasture would be significantly different between high and low RFIFAT heifers, this hypothesis was rejected. CH4 production did not differ between the two RFI_{FAT} groups. Very few studies have used the OP-FTIR method to monitor CH₄ emissions of cattle with differing RFI values; instead, many studies have used the SF_6 tracer method on pasture. The study conducted by Jones et al. (2011) was one of the first to utilize OP-FTIR technology to measure emissions of cattle on pasture. The latter study used the method to monitor CH₄ emissions of high and low RFI beef cows foraging on high quality and low quality annual Mediterranean pastures in Western Australia. Jones et al. (2011) reported no significant difference in CH_4 emissions between high and low RFI cows when consuming low quality forages, a result that was likely driven by low crude protein concentrations, which were too low to meet the minimum nitrogen requirements of rumen microbial populations (Kerley and Lardy 2007). This result is in agreement with the results of the current study, as CH4 emissions did not differ between high and low RFIFAT heifers. However, Jones et al. (2011) also found that when cows were grazing high quality pastures there was a significant difference in CH₄ emissions between high and low RFI groups, a finding inconsistent with the results of the current study. Although heifers in the current study were also consuming high quality, high protein forages, CH_4 emissions did not differ between the two RFI_{FAT} groups. The lack of a difference in CH₄ production closely followed heifer DMI, which also failed to differ. This response was expected given that CH₄ production tends to mirror DMI (Blaxter and Clapperton 1965; Johnson and Johnson 1995; Grainger et al. 2007). As a result, CH_4 production was unlikely to differ between high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers as a result of the similarity in DMI.

It is also possible that the results of the current study are not in full agreement with the results of Jones et al. (2011) due to a relatively low number of overall CH₄ observations. In the current study, a total of 101, 15-min observation periods, collected over the six-day sampling period, were considered to be quality observations (i.e. not affected by weather, turbulence or winds moving parallel to the grazing strips). In personal communication with Dr. Flesch (November 2016), a minimum of 100 quality

85

observations were necessary in order to conduct an accurate analysis. Due to wind and lightning storms affecting most of the six days of the observation period, the OP-FTIR unit was shut down several times throughout the trial. System shut-down reduced the number of 15-min observations, limiting the overall number of quality observations collected. Although additional grazing strips were fenced off, CH₄ observations could not be extended due to time constraints on equipment use. Had CH₄ observations been collected over a longer period of time, there could have been an increase in the number of quality emission observations, possibly increasing the likelihood for more significant results. Jones et al. (2011) also collected CH₄ observations for six consecutive days, 24 hours each day, with the data from one of those days being omitted due to inclement weather. Although Jones et al. (2011) reduced the number of quality observations collected, it did not appear to have an effect on observations of overall CH₄ production; this is likely because Jones et al. (2011) tested 48 animals as opposed to 16. According to a power analysis, using an effect size of 0.1, at a significance level of 0.05, it would take 25 days to detect a significant difference in methane emissions between the high and low RFI heifers on pasture.

Although poor diet quality had an effect on CH₄ production in the study conducted by Jones et al. (2011), it is unlikely that diet quality had an effect on the CH₄ production data presented in the current investigation. Kerley and Lardy (2007) reported that dietary crude protein concentrations lower than about 80 g kg⁻¹ do not meet the nitrogen requirements of several rumen microbes potentially affecting overall CH₄ emissions. Therefore, poor quality diet in that study likely affected feed intake and digestion rates (Waldo 1986). In contrast however, crude protein content of heifer diets in the current study were nearly 30% on a dry matter basis during the warm-up period and dropped to just below 25% on a dry matter basis during the sampling period, both values of which were well above the crude protein content of common forages found in Alberta and Western Canada (BCRC 2017). This suggests that low protein content probably did not affect the methane emissions observed here.

When considering the diurnal pattern of CH₄ production, Jones et al. (2011) showed that emissions throughout the day were highly variable for high and low RFI_{FAT} cattle on both high and low quality forages. Peak standardized CH₄ production (g kg BW⁻¹ day⁻¹) occurred just before 12 p.m. on most days, on both the poor quality and high quality pastures (Jones et al. 2011), which is in agreement with the findings of the current study. CH₄ production (g head⁻¹ hour⁻¹) for both high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers here was greatest between the hours of 0900 and 1200, shortly after entry to fresh pasture. CH₄ production was only significantly different between the first three hours of the day (i.e. 0000 to 0300 hours) and well after satiation on new pasture, with high RFI_{FAT} heifers briefly producing significantly more CH₄ than their low RFI_{FAT} counterparts. This pattern may reflect an important difference in postingestive fermentation of very high quality fresh forage consumed in the middle of the previous day right after pasture entry. For example, this may reflect differences in the efficiency of more complex feed breakdown by microbes in the rumen of animals with differing RFI as long as 15-18 hr after consumption, and warrants further investigation.

McGinn et al. (2006) used the SF₆ tracer method to collect enteric methane emissions from grazing cattle and compared them to enteric emissions from cattle on the same diets in CH₄ collection chambers and found that the technique was most appropriately used with grazing cattle. McGinn et al. (2006) concluded that using the SF₆ tracer technique would result in greater uncertainty when cattle were fed high concentrate diets, suggesting that the technique is ideal for monitoring CH₄ emissions of high and low RFI cattle on pasture. Although the SF₆ tracer technique are limited to cattle in a drylot environment (Hegarty et al. 2007; Fitzsimons et al. 2013), and are therefore not representative of the current study. Fitzsimons et al. (2013) monitored CH₄ emissions of heifers selected for divergent RFI while on a grass silage diet, which may be more representative of the current study than results from Hegarty et al. (2007) as they were collected from steers on concentrate-based diets. Fitzsimons et al. (2013) reported different results than those of the current study as there was a significant difference in both CH₄ production and DMI, results of which were not significantly different in the current study. It is likely that the environment, and method of CH₄ measurement, resulted in inconsistent results, signifying the need for further research of DMI and associated CH₄ emissions by beef cattle grazing on pasture.

Research Limitations

This research was limited by the number of animals in the study and the number of days in which intake and methane data could be collected. The results might have been more conclusive had a larger number of high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers been used, resulting in greater statistical power. Additionally, more days of data collection, specifically CH₄ observation days, may have resulted in a greater opportunity to detect significant results. Due to unfavorable weather conditions the OP-FTIR unit did not capture as many CH₄ observations as initially expected, resulting in a relatively low number of overall emissions, barely achieving the minimum number of observations necessary to conduct a statistical analysis. As a result of time constraints and limitations in the availability of the OP-FTIR unit, additional experimental days could not be added to increase the overall number of CH₄ observations. The laborintensive process of animal handling also limited the number of heifers that could be worked with in the trial and poor animal temperament posed a safety risk, resulting in the removal of additional animals from the trial, potentially reducing the overall statistical power of the study.

CONCLUSION

Measuring DMI and CH₄ production of high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers on pasture resulted in similar results between the two groups of heifers. Although neither of the results were significantly different, both metrics showed a (non-significant) trend towards low RFI_{FAT} heifers consuming less forage and producing less overall CH₄, a response that may have been constrained by sample sizes. Furthermore, the OP-FTIR method has only been used to measure CH₄ emissions of high and low RFI cattle grazing cattle in one previously published study (Jones et al. 2011), meaning that the results of the current study need to be further tested in future investigations. The results of this study indicate that cattle selected for low RFI or RFI_{FAT} will, at a minimum, have similar overall CH₄ emissions on pasture, and therefore should not reduce the sustainability of the beef industry, especially considering that a large percentage of cattle in

North America are exposed to pasture environments. Future studies should be done on larger groups of animals that are more representative of common production practices, including open-range grazing, ultimately providing the beef industry with more rigorous information on the role of RFI in altering cattle DMI and CH₄ emissions.



Fig. 1. Pivot 4 at the University of Alberta Mattheis Research Ranch, fenced off and set-up for grazing during the warm-up period and for strip grazing during collection of CH_4 observations. The warm-up area was positioned between pivot tracks to prevent interference with pivot use. Long, fenced off alleyways were used to move cattle between the handling facilities, warm-up area, and the grazing strips. The original image was sourced from Google Earth.



Fig. 2. Layout of individual feeding pens, scale and chute set-up for individual feeding of alkane pellets to heifers and the collection of animal weight and fecal samples during the pasture intake trial on Pivot 4 at the University of Alberta Mattheis Ranch.

values are on a dry matter basis $(n = 6)$.	
Dry Matter (%)	89.3 (1.83)
Crude Protein (%)	17.5 (0.59)
Acid Detergent Fiber (%)	11.6 (0.85)
Neutral Detergent Fiber (%)	19.0 (0.34)
Total Digestible Nutrients (%)	82.7 (0.52)
Calcium (%)	0.19 (0.01)
Phosphorus (%)	0.54 (0.005)
Magnesium (%)	0.22 (0.004)
Potassium (%)	0.56 (0.01)

Table 1. Summary of n-alkane pellet nutritional composition during the dosing period. All nutritional values are on a dry matter basis (n = 6).

Standard deviations are shown in brackets

sampling periods (n = 0). An values are on a dry matter basis.					
	Warm-Up Period	Sampling Period			
	(day -8 to -1)	(day 9 to 14)			
Dry Matter (%)	20.9 (2.95)	19.5 (2.67)			
Crude Protein (%)	30.0 (2.15)	23.5 (0.91)			
Acid Detergent Fiber (%)	21.7 (1.65)	24.5 (0.69)			
Neutral Detergent Fiber (%)	45.3 (1.82)	48.6 (1.66)			
Total Digestible Nutrients (%)	66.9 (1.05)	65.4 (0.89)			
Calcium (%)	0.26 (0.15)	0.25 (0.07)			
Phosphorus (%)	0.41 (0.03)	0.35 (0.03)			
Magnesium (%)	0.24 (0.04)	0.24 (0.02)			
Potassium (%)	3.57 (0.18)	4 (0.39)			

Table 2. Summary of the nutritional composition of pasture forage oats during the warm-up (n = 9) and sampling periods (n = 6). All values are on a dry matter basis.

Standard deviations are shown in brackets



Fig. 3. Pasture CH_4 emissions set-up on Pivot 4 at the University of Alberta Mattheis Research Ranch. Four different measurement paths are depicted, one along either side of the high and low RFI_{FAT} paddocks with a rotating OP-FTIR spectrometer in the center, positioned on a portable OP-FTIR trailer.



Fig. 4. Image produced by the WindTrax software showing CH_4 emissions emitted from within the high and low RFI_{FAT} grazing strips. The low RFI_{FAT} cattle are grazing the green strip on the left while the high RFI_{FAT} cattle are grazing the red strip on the right. With winds out of the south-east, emissions are nearly perpendicular to the measurement paths, as desired.



Fig. 5. The schedule of CH_4 observations over an eight day period. Low RFI_{FAT} cattle are depicted by the green strips and high RFI_{FAT} cattle are depicted by the red strips on either side of the OP-FTIR unit. Strips are not shown to scale. Cattle were adjusted to strip-grazing on day one and CH_4 measurements were not collected.

	DMI (kg day ⁻¹)			
	F-Value	P-Value		
RFI Group	0.41 (1, 14)	0.533		
Sampling Day	31.89 (1, 79)	< 0.0001		
	Initial BW	/ (kg)	Final BW	(kg)
	F-Value	P-Value	F-Value	P-Value
RFI Group	0.12 (1, 13)	0.76	0.002 (1, 13)	0.96
Age	0.37 (1, 13)	0.56	19.70 (1, 13)	< 0.001
	Initial Backfat (mm)		Final Backfa	nt (mm)
	F-Value	P-Value	F-Value	P-Value
RFI Group	0.17 (1, 13)	0.68	5.41 (1, 13)	0.04
Age	42.93 (1, 13)	< 0.0001	19.04 (1, 13)	< 0.001

Table 3. Summary ANOVA table for DMI and animal size and condition metrics for each of the high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers while grazing on pasture.

	High RFI _{FAT}		Low RFIFAT	
	LSM	SE	LSM	SE
Daily DMI (kg day ⁻¹)	8.13 ^a	0.28	7.88 ^a	0.28
Initial BW (kg)	304.6 ^a	9.89	309.3 ^a	9.99
Final BW (kg)	342.3 ^a	10.35	341.6 ^a	10.41
Weight Gain (kg)	31.3 ^a	2.33	27.9 ^a	2.73
Initial Backfat (mm)	3.5 ^a	0.29	3.3 ^a	0.35
Final Backfat (mm)	4.9 ^a	0.34	3.9 ^b	0.34

Table 4. Summary least square means for DMI and associated animal production metrics of high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers (n=16) while grazing on pasture.

DMI – dry matter intake

BW – body weight
	Daily CH₄ Produ	Daily CH ₄ Production (g head ⁻¹)		
	F-Value	P-Value		
RFI Group	0.42 (1, 194)	0.52		
3-Hr Time Bin	3.96 (1, 194)	0.048		
	Weight Adjusted CH4 Prod	luction (g kg ⁻¹ BW day ⁻¹)		
	F-Value	P-Value		
RFI Group	0.43 (1, 194)	0.51		
3-Hr Time Bin	3.79 (1, 194)	0.053		
	Weight Adjusted CH ₄ Yield (g kg ⁻¹ DMI day ⁻¹)			
	F-Value	P-Value		
RFI Group	0.65 (1, 14)	0.44		
3-Hr Time Bin	31.90 (1, 79)	< 0.0001		

Table 5. Summary ANOVA results for CH₄ production and CH₄ yield of high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers (n=16) while grazing on pasture.

	High RFI _{FAT}		Low RFI _{FAT}	
	LSM	SE	LSM	SE
CH ₄ production (g day ⁻¹)	203.3ª	27.46	195.6ª	27.46
CH ₄ production (g kg ⁻¹ BW)	0.61ª	0.083	0.58ª	0.083
CH ₄ yield (g kg DM ⁻¹)	21.7ª	0.93	20.7ª	0.93

Table 6. Summary of least square means for CH₄ production and CH₄ yield of high and low RFI_{FAT} heifer groups while grazing on pasture.



Fig. 6. Regression of daily DMI (g head⁻¹ day⁻¹) and individual RFI_{FAT} value for each day of the pasture DMI trial. The black line represents the overall trend of DMI.

Total data: y = 8.97 - 0.03x, $R^2 = 0.0001$, Adjusted $R^2 = -0.011$, P-Value = 0.92. Day 1: y = 8.93 + 0.96x, $R^2 = 0.17$, Adjusted $R^2 = 0.007$, P-Value = 0.11 Day 2: y = 8.17 - 0.05x, $R^2 = 0.001$, Adjusted $R^2 = -0.07$, P-Value = 0.90 Day 3: y = 8.47 - 0.28x, $R^2 = 0.06$, Adjusted $R^2 = -0.011$, P-Value = 0.38 Day 4: y = 8.66 + 0.08x, $R^2 = 0.004$, Adjusted $R^2 = -0.067$, P-Value = 0.81 Day 5: y = 7.27 - 0.09x, $R^2 = 0.002$, Adjusted $R^2 = -0.069$, P-Value = 0.86 Day 6: y = 6.52 - 0.75x, $R^2 = 0.096$, Adjusted $R^2 = 0.031$, P-Value = 0.24



Fig 7. Mean diurnal pattern of CH_4 production (g head⁻¹ hour⁻¹) for high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers grazing on pasture over a 24-hour period of time, separated into three hour time bins. Arrow indicates the timing of pasture entry.

* Indicates significant differences in CH_4 production between high and low RFI_{FAT} groups (P<0.05). Upper case letters indicate overall differences among sampling times (P<0.05).

Chapter 5: Synthesis

RESEARCH CONCLUSIONS

A commercial herd of Hereford-Angus cross cows with molecular breeding values (MBVs) for high and low RFI was separated into three groups based on their predicted RFI values. Cows with MBVs for low RFI were bred to bulls with low RFI phenotypes, cows with MBVs for high RFI were bred to bulls with high RFI phenotypes and cows with MBVs for medium RFI were bred to bulls with medium RFI phenotypes. Production metrics were collected and analyzed for all the cows and calves over a summer grazing period. The results from the trials in the study revealed that selection for cattle with divergent MBV for RFI on pasture does not have a negative impact on the performance of those cattle. More specifically, cows with MBV's for high and low RFI did not differ in their ability to gain weight or put on backfat over the summer grazing period. It also did not affect their ability to become pregnant as the proportion of cows that became pregnant in the first and second breeding cycles, as well as the proportion of open cows, was similar among all three predicted RFI groups. Additionally, calves born to dams with MBV's for high and low RFI did not differ in average daily gain (ADG), growth or body weight following the summer grazing period. The results suggest that using MBV's as a means of increasing a herd's feed efficiency on pasture will not compromise the performance of those cattle.

Eighteen replacement heifers, born to dams with MBVs for high and low RFI were assessed for drylot feed intake and CH₄ emissions. Dry matter intake was measured using GrowSafe Systems technology which automatically monitors individual feed intake. Additionally, CH₄ emissions were monitored using a GreenFeed emissions monitoring system. Individual feed intake observations of the high and low RFI_{FAT} (RFI adjusted for backfat)

replacement heifers, revealed that high RFI_{FAT} heifers consumed significantly more feed than low RFI_{FAT} heifers. Despite the significant difference in feed intake, high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers had similar body weights and similar weight gain over the trial period. Although the mechanism is unclear, low RFI cattle have the ability to gain the same amount of weight using less energy and ultimately fewer resources. Even though there was a significant difference in dry matter intake (DMI) overall methane (CH₄) production did not differ between the high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers. It was hypothesized that CH₄ production would differ, especially considering a significant difference in DMI. It is likely that CH₄ yield played a role in the results of CH₄ production as the low RFI_{FAT} heifers had significantly greater CH₄ yields. There is a possibility that the high CH₄ yields experienced by low RFI_{FAT} heifers contributed to the similarity in overall CH₄ production. Although not tested in the current study, it's possible that the low RFI_{FAT} heifers had significantly greater CH₄ yields as a result of increased digestibility and increased rumen retention times, resulting in more hydrogen available for CH₄ production.

A subset of 18 replacement heifers, previously tested for individual feed intake in drylot were assessed for feed intake and CH₄ production on pasture. Feed intake was assessed using an n-alkane marker, while group CH₄ emissions were monitored using an open-path Fourier transform infrared (OP-FTIR) spectrometry system. The results rejected the hypotheses that high RFI_{FAT} heifers would have greater DMI and greater CH₄ production. Although there were no significant differences, there was a slight tendency for greater DMI and greater CH₄ production in the high RFI_{FAT} heifers, a trend that was expected and supported by literature. It is possible that DMI values were not significantly different, resulting from a low number of observation days. Feed intake observations in drylot are often collected over a period of at least 35 days to

capture accurate results. Because observations were only collected for five days it is possible that DMI values were affected by the low number of days in which observations were collected. It is also possible that CH₄ production did not differ as a result of similarities in DMI.

INDUSTRY IMPLICATIONS

The results from the research conducted in the current study reveal that selection for RFI in cattle that are raised in a pasture environment, using MBV's, should not have an effect on the performance and overall productivity of those cattle. From a producer's perspective this a desirable outcome as it indicates that cattle can be more efficient without compromising their ability to maintain a healthy weight or healthy backfat cover, both of which are necessary for rebreeding. The results also indicate that the low RFI cows, which tend to eat significantly less than their high RFI counterparts, are still able to produce calves with similar weaning weights. Ultimately this means that producers would be able to produce the same amount of beef using fewer resources. Not only does this allow a producer to be more profitable, it also allows them to reduce their carbon footprint as the need for land or feed resources decreases.

Results from the replacement heifers indicate that heifers with low RFI or RFI_{FAT} values consume less feed and are more likely to produce less CH₄ in drylot. This means that beef operations which retain low RFI replacement heifers will require fewer feed resources. Such operations are also more likely to produce fewer CO₂ emissions, and possibly also fewer CH₄ emissions, meaning that their contribution to overall greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions is reduced. Although results of pasture feed intake and CH₄ emissions were not significantly different between the high and low RFI_{FAT} heifers, there was a trend to suggest that low RFI_{FAT} heifers consume less feed and produce less CH₄. These results indicate that replacement heifers

which were identified as low RFI_{FAT} in drylot, tended to also consume less feed and emit fewer CH₄ emissions on pasture. By selecting for and retaining low RFI replacement heifers on pasture or in drylot, it is likely that producers can reduce their overall feed costs allowing for greater profitability.

FUTURE RESEARCH

Due to the lack of RFI-related research with cow-calf herds on pasture, future studies should look to validate the results from the current study. More specifically, future research should focus on understanding whether differences in grazing behaviors between high and low RFI cattle contribute to their efficiency and/or their productivity. Future research should also seek to validate the pasture feed intake and CH₄ emissions results. Very few studies have been published in which high and low RFI cattle were monitored for their emissions on pasture using and OP-FTIR system, future studies will be necessary to further validate the results from the current study. Additionally, subsequent studies should aim to study a larger number of replacement heifers to reflect more realistic herd sizes. Examining rumen retention times, alongside CH₄ and feed intake measurements, would also be beneficial to help explain differences in overall CH₄ production and yield measurements.

LITERATURE CITED

- Allen, M. S. 1996. Physical constraints on voluntary intake of forages by ruminants. J. Anim. Sci. 74: 3063-3075.
- Allen, V.G., Fontenot, J. P., Notter, D. R. and Hammes, R. C. 1992. Forage systems for beef production from conception to slaughter: I cow-calf production. J. Anim. Sci. 70: 576-587.
- Archer, J. A., Arthur, P. F., Herd, R. M. and Richardson, E. C. 1998. Genetic variation in feed efficiency and its component traits. Proc. 6th World Congr. Gen. Appl. Livest. Prod. 25: 81-84.
- Archer, J. A., Richardson, E. C., Herd, R. M. and Arthur, P. F. 1999. Potential for selection to improve efficiency of feed use in beef cattle: a review. Aust. J. Agr. Res. 50: 147-161.
- Alberta Agriculture and Forestry (AAF). 2014. The Economics of Feed Efficiency the case for RFI. Retrieved February 9, 2017, from http://www1.agric.gov.ab.ca/\$department/deptdocs.nsf/all/beef14854.
- Alberta Agriculture and Rural Development (ARD). 2005. Alberta agriculture and rural development. Economic, Productive and Financial benchmarks for Alberta cow/calf operations. Retrieved November 10, 2016, from http://www1.agric.gov.ab.ca/\$department/deptdocs.nsf/all/econ8479.
- Alexander, D. H., Novembre, J. and Lange, K. 2009. Fast model-based estimation of ancestry in unrelated individuals. Genome research 19: 1655-1664.
- Arthur, P. F., Herd, R. M., Wright, J., Xu, G., Dibley, K., Richardson, E. C. and Parnell, P. 1996. Net feed conversion efficiency and its relationship with other traits in beef cattle. Proc. Aust. Soc. Anim. Prod. 21: 107-110.
- Arthur, P. F., Renand, G. and Krauss, D. 2001. Genetic and phenotypic relationships among different measures of growth and feed efficiency in young Charolais bulls. Livest. Prod. Sci. 68: 131-138.
- Arthur, P. F., Archer, J. A., Johnson, D. J., Herd, R. M., Richardson, E. C. and Parnell, P. F. 2001a. Genetic and phenotypic variance and covariance components for feed intake, feed efficiency and other postweaning traits in Angus cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 79: 2805-2811.
- Arthur, P. F., Herd, R. M., Wilkins, J. F. and Archer, J. A. 2005. Maternal productivity of Angus cows divergently selected for post-weaning residual feed intake. Aust. J. Exp. Agric. 45: 985-993.
- Bai, M., Flesch, T. K., McGinn, S. M. and Chen, D. 2015. A snapshot of greenhouse gas emissions from a cattle feedlot. J. Environ. Qual. 44(6): 1974-1978.
- Bailey, D. W., Gross, J. E., Laca, E. A., Rittenhouse, L. R., Coughenour, M. B., Swift, D. M. and Sims, P. L. 1996. Mechanisms that result in large herbivore grazing distribution patterns. J. Range Manage. 49: 386-400.
- Baker, S. D., Szasz, J. I., Klein, T. A., Kuber, P. S., Hunt, C. W., Glaze, J. B., Falk, D., Richard, R., Miller, J. C., Battaglia, R. A. and Hill, R. A. 2006. Residual feed intake of purebred Angus steers: Effects on meat quality and palatability. J. Anim. Sci. 84: 938-945.
- Baldwin, R. L. and Sainz, R. D. 1995. Energy partitioning and modeling in animal nutrition. Annu. Rev. Nutr. 15: 191-211.

- Bardense, W., Reverter, A., Bunch, R. J., Harrison, B. E., Barris, W. and Thomas, M. B. 2007. A validated whole genome association study of efficient food conversion in cattle. Genetics 176: 1893-1905.
- Basarab, J. A., Beauchemin, K. A., Baron, V. S., Ominski, K. H., Guan, L. L., Miller, S. P. and Crowley, J. J. 2013. Reducing GHG emissions through genetic improvement for feed efficiency: effects on economically important traits and enteric methane production. Animal 7(s2): 303-3015.
- Basarab, J. A., Baron, V., Lòpez-Campos, Ò., Aalhus, J., Haugen-Kozyra, K. and Okine, E. 2012. Greenhouse gas emissions from calf- and yearling-fed beef production systems, with and without the use of growth promotants. Animal 2: 195-220.
- Basarab, J. A., Colazo, M. G., Ambrose, D. J., Novak, S. McCartney, D. and Baron, V. S. 2011. Residual feed intake adjusted for backfat thickness and feeding frequency is independent of fertility in beef heifers. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 91: 573-584.
- Basarab, J. A., McCartney, D., Okine, E. K. and Baron, V. S. 2007. Relationships between progeny residual feed intake and dam productivity traits. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 87:489-502.
- Basarab, J. A., Price, M.A., Aalhus, J. L., Okine, E. K., Snelling, V. M., and Lyle, K. L. 2003. Residual feed intake and body composition in young growing cattle. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 83:189-204.
- Beauchemin, K. A., Janzen, H., Little, S. M., McAllister, T. A. and McGinn, S. M. 2010. Life cycle assessment of greenhouse gas emissions from beef production in western Canada; a case study. Agr. Syst. 103:371-379.
- Beauchemin, K. A., McAllister, T. A. and McGinn, S. M. 2009. Dietary mitigation of enteric methane from cattle. CAB Reviews: Perspectives in Agriculture, Veterinary Science, Nutrition and Natural Resources 4(35).
- Beef Cattle Research Council (BCRC). 2017. Beef Cattle Research Council Forage Quality. Accessed on June 24, 2017 from http://www.beefresearch.ca/research-topic.cfm/forage-quality-86?language=&print.
- Berry, D. P. 2012. Breeding strategies to reduce environmental footprint in dairy cattle animal and grassland research and innovation centre. Teagasc, Moorepark, Fermony, Co., Cork, Ireland.
- Bessman, S. P. and Carpenter, C. L. 1985. The creatine-creatine phosphate energy shuttle. Ann. Rev. Biochem. 54: 831-862.
- Bishop, S. C. 1992. Phenotypic and genetic variation in body weight, food intake, and energy utilization in Hereford cattle II. Effects of age and length of performance test. Livest. Prod. Sci. 30: 19-31.
- Bishop, M. D., Davis, M. E., Harvey, W. R., Wilson, G. R. and VanStavern, B. D. 1991. Divergent selection of postweaning feed conversion in Angus beef cattle: II Genetic and phenotypic correlations and realised heritability estimates. J. Anim. Sci. 69: 4360-4367.
- Bingham, G. M., Friend, T.H., Lancaster, P. A. and Carstens, G. E. 2009. Relationship between feeding behaviour and residual feed intake in growing Brangus heifers. J. Anim. Sci. 87: 2685-2689.
- Black, T. E., Bischoff, K. M., Mercadante, V. R. G., Marquezini, G. H. L., DiLorenzo, N., Chase, C. C., Coleman, Jr. S. W., Maddock, T. D. and Lamb, G. C. 2013. Relationships among performance, residual feed intake, and temperament assessed in growing beef heifers and subsequently as 3year-old, lactating beef cows. J. Anim. Sci. 91: 2254-2263.

- Blaxter, K. L. and Clapperton, J. L. 1965. Prediction of the amount of methane produced by ruminants. Br. J. Nutr. 19(1): 511-522.
- Blaxter, K. L. 1962. The energy metabolism of ruminants. (Hutchinson Scientific and Technical: London).
- Boichard, D., Ducrocq, V., Croiseau, P. and Fritz, S. 2016. Genomic selection in domestic animals: Principles, applications and perspectives. Comptes rendus biologies 339(7): 274-277.
- Bouquet, A., Fouilloux, M. –N., Renand, G. and Phocas, F. 2010. Genetic parameters for growth, muscularity, feed efficiency and carcass traits of young beef bulls. Livest. Sci. 129(1): 38-48.
- Bünger, L. MacLeod, M. G., Wallace, C. A. and Hill, W. G. 1998. Direct and correlated effects of selection for food intake corrected for body weight in the adult mouse. *In* Proceedings 6th world congress on genetics applied to livestock production. Vol. 26. pp. 97-100. University of New England, Armidale, NSW.
- Byerly, T. C. 1941. Feed and other costs of producing market eggs. Univ. Marlyland Agric. Exp. Stn., College Park, MD.
- Cameron, N. D. 1992. Correlated physiological responses to selection for carcass lean content in sheep. Livest. Prod. Sci. 30: 53-68.
- Canadian Council on Animal Care. 1993. Guide to the care and use of experimental animals. Vol. 1 *In* Olfert, E. D., Cross, B. M. and McWilliams, A. A., eds. CCAC, Ottawa ON.
- Capper, J. L. 2011. The environmental impact of beef production in the United States:1977 compared with 2007. J. Anim. Sci. 89: 4249-4261.
- Carberry, C. A., Kenny, D. A., Han, S., McCabe, M. S. and Waters, S. M. 2012. Effect of phenotypic residual feed intake and dietary forage content on the rumen microbial community of beef cattle. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 78:4949-4958.
- Carstens, G. E. and Tedeschi, L. O. 2006. Defining feed efficiency in beef cattle. Proceedings of the Beef Improvement Federation 38th Annual Research Symposium and Annual Meeting, April 18-21, Choctow, MS, USA, 12-21.
- Carstens, G. E., Theis, C. M., White, M.D., Welsh, T, H., Warrington, B. G., Randel, R. D., Forbes, T. D. A., Lippke, H., Greene, L. W. and Lunt, D. K. 2002. Residual feed intake in beef steers: I. Correlations with performance traits and ultrasound measures of body composition. J. Anim. Sci. 80(20) 135.
- Carstens, G. E., Johnson, D. E., Johnson, K. A., Hotovy, S. K. and Szymanski, T. J. 1989. Genetic variation in energy expenditures of monozygous twin beef cattle at 9 and 20 months of age. *In* Energy metabolism of farm animals: Proceedings 11th Symposium. Lutenen, The Netherlands. EAPP Publication No. 43.
- Castro Bulle, F. C. P., Paulino, P. V., Sanches, A. C. and Sainz, R. D. 2007. Growth, carcass quality, and protein and energy metabolism in beef cattle with different growth potentials and residual feed intakes. J. Anim. Sci. 85(4): 928-936.
- Caton, J. S. and Dhuyvettter, D. V. 1997. Influence of energy supplementation on grazing ruminants: requirements and responses. J. Anim. Sci. 75: 533-542.

- Cederberg, C. Persson, M., Neovius, K., Molander, S. and Clift, R. 2011. Including carbon emissions from deforestation in the carbon footprint of Brazilian beef. Environ. Sci. Technol. 45: 1773-1779.
- Charmley, E., Ouellet, D. R., Veira, D. M., Michaud, R., Duynisveld, J. L. and Petit, H. V. 2003. Estimation of intake and digestibility of silage by beef steers using a controlled release capsule of n-alkanes. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 83(4): 761-768.
- Chillard, Y., Ferlay, A., Delavaud, C. and Bocqier, F. 1998. Plasma leptin in underfed or overfed adult Holstein and Charolais cows and its relationship with adipose tissue cellularity. Int. J. Obes. 22(3): 171.
- Clarke, J. N., Binnie, D. B., Jones, K. R., Mowat, C. M., Purchas, R. W. and Uljee, A. E. 1996. Repeatabilities of blood plasma metabolites and their association with leanness in genotypes showing a wide divergence in carcass composition. Proc. N.Z. Soc. Anim. Prod. 56: 180-183.
- Cotta, M. A. 1992. Interaction of ruminal bacteria in the production and utilization of maltooligosaccrides from starch. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 58: 48-54.
- Crews, D. H. Jr. 2005. Genetics of efficient feed utilization and national cattle evaluation: a review. Genet. Mol. Res. 4: 152-165.
- Crews, D. H. Jr., Shannon, N. H., Genswein, B. M. A., Crews, R. E., Johnson, C. M. and Kendrick, B. A. 2003. Genetic parameters for net feed efficiency of beef cattle measured during postweaning growing versus finishing periods. Proceedings, Western Section, American Society of Animal Science 54: 1-4.
- Crowley, J. J., McGee, M., Kenny, D. A., Crews, D. H. Jr., Evans, R. D. and Berry, D. P. 2010. Phenotypic and genetic parameters for different measures of feed efficiency in different breeds of Irish performance-tested beef bulls 2010. J. Anim. Sci. 88: 885-894.
- Cruz, G. D., Rodriguez-Sanchez, J. A., Oltjen, J. W. and Sainz, R. D. 2010. Performance, residual feed intake, digestibility, carcass traits and profitability of Angus-Hereford steers housed in individual or group pens. J. Anim. Sci. 88: 324-329.
- Culbertson, M. M., Speidel, S. E., Peel, R. K., Cockrum, R. R., Thomas, M. G. and Enns, R. M. 2015. Optimum measurement period for evaluating feed intake traits in beef cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 93: 2482-2487.
- De Mendiburu, F. 2016. agricolae: Statistical Procedures for Agricultural Research. R package version 1.2-4. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=agricolae
- Dickerson, G. E. 1973. Inbreeding and heterosis in animals. J. Anim. Sci. 1973: 54-77.
- Dove, H. and Mayes, R. W. 1991. The use of plant wax alkanes as marker substances in studies of nutrition of herbivores: a review. Aust. J. Agric. Res. 42(6): 913-952.
- Drennan, M. J. and Berry, D. P. 2006. Factors affecting body condition score, live weight and reproductive performance in spring-calving suckler cows. Ir. J. Agric. Food Res. 45: 25-38.
- Durunna, O. N., Mujibi, F. D. N., Goonewardene, L., Okine, E. K., Basarab, J. A., Wang, Z. and Moore, S. S. 2011. Feed efficiency differences and re-ranking exist in beef steers fed grower and finisher diets. J. Anim. Sci. 89: 158-167.
- Eckard, R. J., Grainger, C. and de Klein, C. A. M. 2010. Options for the abatement of methane and nitrous oxide from ruminant production: a review. Livest. Sci. 130: 47-56.

- Ferrell, C. L. and Jenkins, T. G. 1985.Cow type and nutritional environment: nutritional aspects. J. Anim. Sci. 61: 725-741.
- Fitzsimons, C., Kenny, D. A., Deighton, M. H., Fahey, A. G. and McGee, M. 2013. Methane emissions, body composition, and rumen fermentation traits of beef heifers differing in residual feed intake. J. Anim. Sci. 91(12): 5789-5800.
- Flesch, T. K., McGinn, S. M., Chen, D., Wilson, J. D. and Desjardins, R. L. 2014. Data filtering for inverse dispersion calculations. Agric. Forest Meteorol. 198-199: 1-6.
- Flesch, T. K., Wilson, J. D., Harper, L. A., Crenna, B. P. and Sharpe, R. R. 2004. Deducing ground-air emissions from observed trace gas concentrations: A field trial. J. Appl. Meteorol. 43: 487-502.
- Fox, J. and Weisberg, S. 2011. An [R] Companion to Applied Regression, Second Edition. Thousand Oaks CA: Sage. URL: http://socserv.socsci.mcmaster.ca/jfox/Books/Companion
- Fox, J. E., Carstens, G. E., Brown, E. G., White, M. B., Woods, S. A., Welsh, Jr., T. H., Holloway, J. W., Warrington, B. G., Randel, R. D., Forrest, D. W. and Lunt, D. K. 2004. Net feed intake of growing bulls and relationships with performance, fertility, and ultrasound composition traits. Beef Cattle Research in Texas 117-120.
- Ghoshal, B., Hernandez-Sanabria, E., Zhou, M., Stothard, P. and Guan, L. L. 2012. Domesticated bovinae (cattle): terrestrial vertebrate metagenomics. In Encyclopedia of metagenomics (ed. KE Nelson, BA White, S Highlander and F Rodriguez-Valera). Springer.
- Gilbert, H. J., Bidanel, J. P., Gruand, J., Caritez, J. C., Billon, Y., Guillouet, P., Lagant, H., Noblet, J. and Sellier, P. 2007. Genetic parameters for residual feed intake in growing pigs, with emphasis on genetic relationships with carcass and meat quality traits. J. Anim. Sci. 85: 3182-3188.
- Golden, J. W., Kerley, M. S. and Kolath, W. H. 2008. The relationship of feeding behaviour to residual feed intake in crossbred Angus steers fed traditional and no-roughage diets. J. Anim. Sci. 86: 180-186.
- Gomes, R. D., Sainz, R. D. and Leme, P. R. 2013. Protein metabolism, feed energy partitioning, behavior patterns and plasma cortisol in Nellore steers with high and low residual feed intake. Revista Brasileira de Zootecnia 42:44-50.
- Gould, K. 2015. Calculating Calf Adjusted Weaning Weights and Herd Indexes. Michigan State University Extension. Retrieved February 24, 2017, from http://msue.anr.msu.edu/news/calculating calf adjusted weaning weights and herd indexes.
- Grainger, C. and Beauchemin, K. A. 2011. Can enteric methane emissions from ruminants be lowered without lowering their production? Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 166: 308-320.
- Grainger, C., Clarke, T., McGinn, S. M., Auldist, M. J., Beauchemin, K. A., Hannah, M. C., Waghorn, G. C., Clark, H. and Eckard, R. J. 2007. Methane emissions from dairy cows measured using the sulfur hexafluoride (SF6) tracer and chamber techniques. J. Dairy Sci. 90: 2755-2766.
- Griffith, D. W. T., Deutscher, N. M., Caldow, C. G. R., Kettlewell, G., Riggenbach, M. and Hammer, S. 2012. Fourier transform infrared trace gas analyser for atmospheric applications. Atmos. Meas. Tech. 5: 2481-2498.
- Guan, L. L., Nkrumah, D. J., Basarab, J. A. and Moore, S. S. 2008. Linkage of microbial ecology to phenotype: correlation of rumen microbial ecology to cattle's feed efficiency. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 288:85-91.

- Gunsett, F. C. 1984. Linear index selection to improve traits defined as ratios. J. Anim. Sci. 59: 1185-1193.
- Hagger, C. 1994. Relationships between income minus feed cost and residual feed consumption in laying hens. Poult. Sci. 73: 1341-1344.
- Hao, X., Chang, C., Larney, F. J. and Travis, G. R. 2001. Greenhous Gas Emissions during Cattle Feedlot Manure Composting. J. Environ. Qual. 30: 376-386.
- Harper, L. A., Denmead, O. T. and Flesch, T. K. 2-11. Micrometeorological techniques for measurement of enteric greenhouse gas emissions. Animal Feed Sci. Tech. 166-167: 227-239.
- Hardenbol, P., Yu, F., Belmont, J., Mackenzie, J., Bruckner, C., Brundage, T., Boudreau, A., Chow, S., Eberle, J., Erbilgin, A., Falkowski, M., Fitzgerald, R., Ghose, S., Iartchouk, O., Jain, M., Karlin-Neumann, G., Lu, X., Miao, X., Moore, B., Moorhead, M., Namsaraev, E., Pasternak, S., Prakash, E., Tran, K., Wang, Z., Jones, H. B., Davis, R. W., Willis, T. D. and Gibbs, R. A. 2005. Highly multiplexed molecular inversion probe genotyping: Over 10,000 targeted SNPs genotyped in a single tube assay. Genome Res. 15:269–275.
- Hayes, B. J., Bowman, P. J., Chamberlain, A. C. and Goddard, M. E. 2009. Genomic selection in dairy cattle: Progress and Challenges. J. Dairy Sci. 92: 433-443.
- Hegarty, R. S., Goopy, J. P., Herd, R. M. and McCorkell, B. 2007. Cattle selected for lower residual feed intake have reduced daily methane production. J. Anim. Sci. 85: 1479-1486.
- Herd, R. M., Arthur, P. F., Donoghue, K. A., Bird, S. H., Bird-Gardiner, T. and Hegarty, R. S. 2014. Measures of methane production and their phenotypic relationships with dry matter intake, growth, and body composition traits in beef cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 92(11): 5267-5274.
- Herd, R. M. and Arthur, P. F. 2009. Physiological basis for residual feed intake. J. Anim. Sci. 87: E64-E71.
- Herd, R. M., Arthur, P. F., Hegarty, R. S. and Archer, J. A. 2004. Potential to reduce greenhouse gas emissions from beef production by selection for reduce residual feed intake. Proceedings of the 7th world congress on genetics applied to livestock production, Montpellier, France. Comm. No. 10-22.
- Herd, R. M., Oddy, V. H. and Richardson, E. C. 2004a. Biological basis for variation in residual feed intake in beef cattle. 1. Review of potential mechanisms. Aust. J. Exp. Agric. 44: 423-430.
- Herd, R. M., Hegarty, R. S., Dicker, R. W., Archer, J. A. and Arthur, P. F. 2002. Selection for residual feed intake improves feed conversion in steers on pasture. Anim. Prod. Aust. 24: 85-88.
- Herd, R. M. and Bishop, S. C. 2000. Genetic variation in residual feed intake and its association with other production traits in British Hereford cattle. Livest. Prod. Sci. 63: 111-119.
- Hermisson, J., Hansen, T. F. and Wagner, G. P. 2002. Epistasis in polygenic traits and the evolution of genetic architecture under stabilizing selection. Amer. Nat. 161(5): 708-734.
- Hernandez-Sanabria, E., Guan, L. L., Goonewardene, L. A., Li, M., Fujibi, D., Stothard, P., Moore, S. S. and Leon-Quintero, M. C. 2010. Association between microbial diversity and microbial fermentation parameters in the bovine rumen and host's feed efficiency traits. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 76: 6338-6350.

- Hill, A. and Ahola, J. K. 2012. Feed efficiency interactions with other traits: growth and product quality. InFeed efficiency in the beef industry (ed. RA Hill), pp. 145-158. Wiley-Blackwell, Ames, Iowa, USA.
- Holechek, J. L. 1988. An Approach for Setting the Stocking Rate. Rangelands 10(1): 10-14.
- Hristov, A. N., Oh, J., Firkins, J. L., Dijkstra, J., Kebreab, E., Waghorn, G., Makkar, H. P. S., Adesogan, A. T., Yang, W., Lee, C., Gerber, P. J., Henderson, B., and Tricarico, M. 2013. Mitigation of methane and nitrous oxide emissions from animal operations: I. A review of enteric methane mitigation options. J. Anim. Sci. 91(11): 5045-5069.
- Hu, N., Flesch, T. K., Wilson, J. D., Baron, V. S. and Basarab, J. A. 2016. Refining an inverse dispersion method to quantify gas sources on rolling terrain. Agric. Forest. Meteorol. 225: 1-7.
- Huang, J. and Forsberg, N. 1998. Role of calpain in skeletal-muscle protein degradation. Proceedings of the national academy of sciences 95(21): 12100 12105.
- Hughes, T. E. and Pitchford, W. S. (2004) Does pregnancy and lactation affect efficiency of female mice divergently selected for postweaning net feed intake? Aust. J. Exp. Agric. 44: 501-506.
- Huhtanen, P.E., Cabezas-Garcia, H., Utsumi, S., and Zimmerman, S. 2015. Comparison of methods to determine methane emissions from dairy cows in farm conditions. J. Dairy Sci. 98: 3394–3409.
- Hunter, R. A., Sillence, M. N., Gazzola, C. and Spiers W. G. 1993. Increasing annual growth rates of cattle by reducing maintenance energy requirements. Aust. J. Agric. Res. 44: 579-595.
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). 2014. Global Warming Potential Values. Retrieved February 9, 2017 from https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar5/
- Janssen, P. H. 2010. Influence of hydrogen on rumen methane formation and fermentation balances through microbial growth kinetics and fermentation thermodynamics. Anim. Fee. Sci. Technol. 160: 1-22.
- Johnson, K. A., and Johnson, D. E. 1995. Methane emissions from cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 73: 2483-2492.
- Johnson, K., Huyler, M., Westberg, H., Lamb, B. and Zimmerman, P. 1994. Measuremetn of methane emission from ruminant livestock using a sulfur hexafluoride tracer technique. Environ. Sci. Technol. 28: 359-362.
- Johnston, D. J., Herd, R. M., KAdel, M. J., Graser, H-U., Arthur, P. F. and Archer, J. A. 2002. Evidence of IGF-1 as a genetic predictor of feed efficiency traits in beef cattle. *In* Proceedings 7th world congress on genetics applied to livestock production. CD-ROM Communication No. 10-16. Institut National de la Recherche Agronomique, Montpellier.
- Jones, F. M., Phillips, F. A., Naylor, T. and Mercer, N. B. 2011. Methane emissions from grazing Angus beef cows selected for divergent residual feed intake. Anim. Fee. Sci. Technol. 166-167, 302-307.
- Kahn, L. P., Leng, R. A. and Piper, L. R. 2000. Rumen microbial yield from sheep genetically different for fleece weight. Asian-Aus. J. Anim. Sci. 13C: 137.
- Kelly, A. K., McGee, M., Crews, D. H., Lynch, C. O., Wylie, A. R, Evans, R. D. and Kenny, D. A. 2011. Relationship between body instruments, metabolic hormones, metabolites and residual feed intake in performance tested pedigree beef bulls. Livest. Sci. 135: 8-16.
- Kelly, A. K., McGee, M., Crews, D. H. Jr., Fahey, A. G., Wylie, A. R. and Kenny, D. A. 2010. Effect of divergence in residual feed intake on feeding behaviour, blood metabolic variables, and body composition traits in growing heifers. J. Anim. Sci. 88: 3214-3225.

- Kelly, A. K., McGee, M., Crews, D. H. Jr., Sweeney, T., Boland, T. M. and Kenny, D. A. 2010a. Repeatability of feed efficiency, carcass ultrasound, feeding behaviour, and blood metabolic variables in finishing heifers divergently selected for residual feed intake. J. Anim. Sci. 88: 3214-3225.
- Kennedy, B. W., Van der Werf, J. H. J. and Meuwissen, T. H. E. 1993. Genetic and statistical properties of residual feed intake. J. Anim. Sci. 71: 3239-3250.
- Kerley, M. S. and Lardy, G. P. 2007. Grazing animal nutrition. In: Barnes, R. F., Nelson, C. J., Collins, M. (Eds.), The Science of Grassland Agriculture, vol. II. Wiley – Blackwell, p. 670.
- Knott, S. A., Cummins, L. J., Dunshea, F. R. and Leury, B. J. 2008. Rams with poor feed efficiency are highly responsive to an exogenous adrenocorticotropin hormone (ACTH) challenge. Domest. Anim. Endocrinol. 34: 261-268.
- Koch, R. M., Swiger, L. A., Chambers, D. and Gregory, K. E. 1963. Efficiency of Feed Use in Beef Cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 22(2) 486-494.
- Kolath, W. H., Kerley, M. S., Golden, J. W. and Keisler, D. H. 2006. The relationship between mitochondrial function and residual feed intake in Angus steers. J. Anim. Sci. 84: 861-865.
- Koots, K. R., Gibson, J. P., Smith, C. and Wilton, J. W. 1999. Analyses of published genetic parameter estimates for beef production traits. 2. Phenotypic and genetic correlations. Animal Breeding Abstracts 62: 309-338.
- Krueger, W. K., Carstens, G. E., Lancaster, P. A., Slay, L. J., Miller, J. C. and Forbes, T. D. A. 2009. Relationships between residual feed intake and apparent nutrient digestibility in growing calves. J. Anim. Sci. 86: 25.
- Lancaster, P. A., Carstens, G. E., Crews, Jr. D. H., Welsh, Jr. T. H., Forbes, T. D. A., Forrest, D. W., Tedeschi, L. O., Randel, R. D. and Rouquette, F. M. 2009. Phenotypic and genetic relationships of residual feed intake with performance and ultrasound carcass traits in Brangus heifers. J. Anim. Sci. 87: 3887-3896.
- Lande, R. and Thompson, R. 1990. Efficiency of marker-assisted selection in the improvement of quantitative traits. Genetics 124: 743–756.
- Lange, M., Westermann, P. and Ahring, B. K. 2005. Archaea in protozoa and metazoan. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 66: 465-474.
- Lawrence, P., Kenny, D. A., Earley, B. and McGee, M. 2012. Grazed grass herbage intake and performance of beef heifers with predetermined phenotypic residual feed intake classification. Animal 6: 1648-1661.
- Lawrence, P., Kenny, D. A., Earley, B., Crews, D. H. Jr. and McGee, M. 2011. Grass silage intake, rumen and blood variables, ultrasonic and body measurements, feeding behaviour and activity in pregnant beef heifers differing in phenotypic residual feed intake. J. Anim. Sci. 89: 3248-3261.
- Lenth, M. V. 2016. Least-Square Means: The R Package lsmeans. J. Stat. Softw. 69(1): 1-33. doi:10.18637/jss.v069.i01
- Lesmeister, J. L., Burfening, P. J. and Blackwell, R. L. 1973. Date of first calving in beef cows and subsequent calf production. J. Anim. Sci. 36:1-6.
- Lindsay, D. B., Hunter, R. A., Gazzola, C., Spiers, W. G., Sillence, M. N. 1993. Energy and Growth. J. Agric. Res. 44: 875-899.

- Lippke, H. 1975. Digestibility and volatile fatty acids in steers and whethers at 21 and 32 C ambient temperature. J. Dairy Sci. 58: 1860-1864.
- Luiting, P., Urff, E. M. and Verstegen, W. A. 1994. Between-animal variation in biological efficiency as related to residual feed consumption. Neth. J. Agric. Sci. 42: 59-67.
- Luiting, P. and Urff, E. M. 1991. Residual feed consumption in laying hens. 2. Genetic variation and correlations. Poult. Sci. 70: 1663-1672.
- Lush, J. M., Gooden, J. M. and Annison, E. F. 1991. The uptake of nitrogenous compounds from the gut of sheep genetically different in wool production. Proc. Nutr. Soc. Aust. 16: 144.
- Manafiazar, G., Basarab, J. A., McKeown, L., Stewart-Smith, J., Baron, V., MacNeil, M. D. and Plastow, G. 2017. Optimizing feed intake recording and feed efficiency estimation to increase the rate of genetic gain for feed efficiency in beef cattle. Can. J. Anim. Sci. (ja).
- Manafiazar, G., Zimmerman, S. and Basarab, J. A. 2016. Repeatability and variability of short-term spot measurement of methane and carbon dioxide emissions from beef cattle using GreenFeed emissions monitoring system. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 97(1):118-126.
- Manafiazar, G., Basarab, J. A., Baron, V. S., McKeowan, L., Doce, R. R., Swift, M., Undi, M., Wittenberg, K. and Ominski, K. 2015. Effect of post-weaning residual feed intake classification on grazed grass intake and performance in pregnant beef heifers. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 95(3): 369-381.
- Matukumalli, L. K., Lawley, C. T., Schnabel, R. D., Taylor, J. F., Allan, M. F., Heaton, M. P., O'Connell, J., Moore, S. S., Smith, T. P., Sonstegard, T. S. and Van Tassell, C. P. 2009. Development and characterization of a high density SNP genotyping assay for cattle. PloS one 4(4): e5350.
- Mayes, R. W., Lamb, C. S. and Colgrove, M. P. 1986. The use of herbage n-alkanes as markers for determination of herbage intake. J. Agric. Sci. (Camb.) 107: 161-170.
- McAllister, T. A. and Newbold, C. J. 2008. Redirecting rumen fermentation to reduce methanogenesis. Aust. J. Exp. Agric. 48: 7-13.
- McBride, B. W. and Kelly, J. M. 1990. Energy cost of absorption and metabolism in the ruminant gastrointestinal tract and liver: A review. J. Anim. Sci. 68: 2997-3010.
- McCaughey, W. P., Wittenberg, K. and Corrigan, D. 1999. Impact of pasture type on methane production by lactating beef cows. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 79: 221-226.
- McDonagh, M. B., Herd, R. M., Richardson, E. C., Oddy, V. H., Archer, J. A. and Arthur, P. F. 2001. Meat quality and the calpain system of feedlot steers following a single generation of divergent selection for residual feed intake. Aust. J. Exp. Agric. 41: 1013-1021.
- McDonald, T. J., Nichols, B. M., Herbac, M. M., Norvell, T. M. and Paterson, J. A. 2010. Dry matter intake is repeatable over parities and residual feed intake is negatively correlated with dry matter digestibility in gestating cows. Proc. Western Sec. American Soc. Anim. Sci. 61: 21-24.
- McDonnell, R. P., Hart, J. K., Boland, T. M., Kelly, A. K., McGee, M. and Kenny, D. A. 2016. Effect of divergence in phenotypic residual feed intake on methane emissions, ruminal fermentation, and apparent whole-tract digestibility of beef heifers across three contrasting diets. J. Anim. Sci. 94(3): 303-315.
- McGeough, E. J., O'Kiely, P., Hart, K. J., Moloney, A. P., Boland, T. M. and Kenny, D. A. 2010. Methane emissions, feed intake, performance, digestibility, and rumen fermentation of finishing

beef cattle offered whole-crop wheat silages differing in grain content. J. Anim. Sci. 88: 2703-2716.

- McGinn, S.M., Turner, D., Tomkins, N., Charmley, E., Bishop-Hurley, G. and Chen, D. 2011. Methane emissions from grazing cattle using point source dispersion. J. Environ. Qual. 40(1): 22-27.
- McGinn, S. M., Beauchemin, K. A., Iwaasa, A. D. and McAllister, T. A. 2006. Assessment of Sulfur Hexaflouride (SF₆) Tracer Technique for Measuring Enteric Methane Emissions from Cattle. J. Environ. Qual. 35: 1686-1691.
- McKeown, L. E., Aalhus, J. L., Larsen, I., Stothard, P., Wang, Z., Crews, D., Plastow, G. and Basarab, J. A. 2013. Bridging the "Phenomic Gap": Creation of a database containing phenotypes and genotyopes for economically important traits for beef cattle. Final Report to Alberta Livestock and Meat Agency, Suite 101, 1003 Ellwood Office Park south, Edmonton, AB, T6X 0B3, Canada.
- Meuwissen, T. H. E., Hayes, B. J. and Goddard, M. E. 2001. Prediction of total genetic value using genome-wide dense marker maps. Genetics 157: 1819-1829.
- Meyer, A. M. Kerley, M. S. and Kallenbach, R. L. 2008. The effect of residual feed intake classification on forage intake by grazing beef cows. J. Anim. Sci. 86(10): 2670-2679.
- Miller, T. L. and Wollin, M. J. 1985. *Methanosphaera stadtmaniae* gen. nov., sp. nov.: a species that forms methane by reducing methanol with hydrogen. Arch. Microbiol. 141(2): 116-122.
- Minton, J. E., Bindel, D. J., Drouillard, J. S., Titgemeyer, D., Grieger, D. M. and Hill, C. M. 1998. Serum leptin is associated with carcass traits in finishing cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 76(1): 231.
- Moe, P. W. and Tyrell, H. F. 1979. Methane production in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 62: 1583-1586.
- Montanholi, Y. R., Swanson, K. C., Palme, R., Schenkel, F. S., McBride, B. W., Lu, D. and Miller, S. P. 2010. Assessing feed efficiency in beef steers through feeding behaviour, infrared thermography and glucocorticoids. Animal 4: 692-701.
- Montano-Bermudez, M., Nielson, M. K. and Deutscher, G. H. 1990. Energy requirements for maintenance of crossbred beef cattle with different genetic potential for milk. J. Anim. Sci. 68: 2279-2288.
- Moore, K. L., Johnston, H. U., Graser, H. U. and Herd, R. M. 2005. Genetic and phenotypic relationships between insulin-like growth factor-i (IGF-I) and net feed intake, fat and growth traits in Angus beef cattle. Aust. J. Exp. Agric. 56: 211-218.
- Moore, S. S., Mujibi, F. D. and Sherman, E. L. 2009. Molecular basis for residual feed intake in beef cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 87(14_suppl): E41-E47.
- Morgan, J. B., Wheeler, T. L., Koohmaraie, M., Savell, J. W. and Course, J. D. 1993. Meat tenderness and the calpain proteolytic system in longissimus muscle of young bulls and steers. J. Anim. Sci. 71: 1471-1476.
- Moshtaghi-Nia, S. A. and Wittenberg, K. M. 2002. Evaluation of n-alkanes as markers for estimation of dry matter intake and digestibility in steers consuming all-forage or forage-concentrate diets. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 82: 419-425.
- Moss, A. R., Jouany, J. P. and Newbold, J. 2000. Methane production by ruminants: Its contribution to global warming. Ann. Zootech. 49: 231-253.

- Murphy, M. R., Baldwin, R. L. and Koong, L. J. 1982. Estimation of stoichiometric parameters for rumen fermentation of roughage and concentrate diets. J. Anim. Sci. 55(2): 411-421.
- National Research Council (NRC). 1996. Nutrient requirements of beef cattle. 7th ed. Nation Academy Press, Washington, DC.
- Nkrumah, D. J., Crews, D. H. Jr., Basarab, J. A., Price, M. A., Okine, E. K., Wang, Z., Li, C. and Moore, S. S. 2007. Genetic and phenotypic relationships of feeding behaviour and temperament with performance, feed efficiency, ultrasound, and carcass merit of beef cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 85: 2382-2390.
- Nkrumah, D. J., Sherman, E. L., Li. C., Marques, E., Crews Jr., D. H., Bartusiak, R., Murdoch, B., Wang, Z., Basarab, J. A. and Moore, S. S. 2007a. Primary genome scan to identify putative quantitative trait loci for feedlot growth rate, feed intake, and feed efficiency of beef cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 84: 145-153.
- Nkrumah, D. J., Okine, E. K., Mathison, G. W., Schnid, K., Li, C., Basarab, J. A., Price, M. A., Wang, Z. and Moore, S. S. 2006. Relationships of feedlot feed efficiency, performance, and feeding behaviour with metabolic rate, methane production, and energy partitioning in beef cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 84: 145-153.
- Nkrumah, J. D., Basarab, J. A., Price, M. A., Okine, E. K., Ammoura, A., Guercio, S., Hansen, C., Li, C., Benkel, B., Murdoch, B., and Moore, S. S. 2004. Different measures of energetic efficiency and their phenotypic relationships with growth, feed intake, and ultrasound and carcass merit in hybrid cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 82: 2451-2459.
- Oddy, V. H., Herd, R. M., McDonagh, M. B., Woodgate, R., Quin, C. A. and Zirkler, K. 1998. Effect of divergent selection for yearling growth rate and protein metabolism in hind-limb muscle and whole body of Angus cattle. Livest. Prod. Sci. 56: 225-231.
- Oddy, V. H. and Owens, P. C. 1996. Insulin-like growth factor-1 inhibits degradation and improves retention of protein in hindlimb muscle of lambs. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 271(E): 873-982.
- Osuji, P. O. The Physiology of Eating and the Energy Expenditure of the Ruminant at Pasture. J. Range Manage. 27(6): 437-443.
- Ojano-Dirain, C., Tinsley, N. B., Wing, T., Cooper, M. and Bottje, W. G. Membrane potential and H₂0₂ production in duodenal mitochondria from broiler chickens (*Gallus gallus domesticus*) with low and high feed efficiency. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A: Physiol. 147(4): 934-941.
- Pinheiro, J., Bates, D., DebRoy, S., Sarkar, D. and R Core Team. 2016. nlme: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects Models. R package version 3.1-128. http://CRAN.R-project.org/package=nlme
- Ramin, M. and Huhtanen, P. 2013. Development of equations for predicting methane emissions from ruminants. J. Dairy. Sci. 96: 2476-2493.
- Ramsey, R. Doyle, D, Ward, C., McGrann, J., Falconer, L. and Bevers, S. 2005. Factors affecting beef cow-herd costs, production, and profits. J. Agric. and Appl. Econ. 37: 91-99.
- R Core Team. 2016. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL https://www.R-project.org/.
- Richardson, E. C., Herd, R. M., Archer, J. A. and Arthur, P. F. 2004. Metabolic differences in Angus steers divergently selected for residual feed intake. Aust. J. Exp. Agric. 44:441-452.

- Richardson, E. C. Herd, R. M., Oddy, V. H., Thompson, J. M., Archer, J. A. and Arthur, P. F. 2001.Bocy composition and implications for heat production of Angus steer progeny of parents selected for and against residual feed intake. Aust. J. Exp. Agric. 41: 1065-1075.
- Ricks, C. A., Dalrymple, R. H., Baker, P. K. and Ingle, D. L. 1984. Use of a-agonist to alter fat and muscle deposition in steers. J. Anim. Sci. 59(5): 1247-1255.
- Riggs, J. K. 1958. Fifty Years of Progress in Beef Cattle Nutrition. J. Anim. Sci. 17(4): 981-1006.
- Robinson, D. L. and Oddy, V. H. 2004. Genetic parameters for feed efficiency, fatness, muscle area and feeding behaviour of feedlot finished beef cattle. Livest. Prod. Sci. 90: 255-270.
- Robinson, D. L., Hammond, K., Graser, H. U. and McDowell, G. H. 1992. Relationships between breeding values and physiological responses to fasting and refeeding in dairy bulls. J. Anim. Breed. Genet. 109: 26-36.
- Russell, J. B. 2002. Predominant ruminal bacteria and archaea. In Rumen Microbiology and its role in ruminant nutrition (ed. JB Russell)), pp. 19. JB Russell Publishing Company, Ithaca, NY, USA.
- Schenkel, F. S., Miller, S. P. and Wilton, J. W. 2004. Genetic parameters and breed differences for feed efficiency, growth and body composition traits of young beef bulls. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 84(2): 177-185.
- Schillo, K. K., Hall, J. B. and Hileman, S. M. 1992. Effects of nutrition and season on the onset of puberty in the beef heifer. J. Anim. Sci. 70: 3994-4005.
- Shaffer, K. S., Turk, P., Wagner, W. R. and Felton, E. E. D. 2011. Residual feed intake, body composition, and fertility in yearling beef heifers. J. Anim. Sci. 89: 1028-1034.
- Sherman, E. L., Nkrumah, J. D., Murdoch, B. M. and Moore, S. S. 2008. Identification of polymorphisms influencing feed intake and efficiency in beef cattle. Anim. Genet. 39: 225-231.
- Silverstein, J. T., Hostuttler, M. and Blemings, K. P. 2005. Strain differences in feed efficiency measured as residual feed intake in individually reared rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Wal-baum). Aquacult. Res. 36: 704-711.
- Soller, M. 1978. The use of loci associated with quantitative effects in dairy cattle improvement. Anim. Prod. 27: 133-139.
- Srivastava, A. K. and Garg, M. R. 2002. Use of Sulfr Hexaflouride Tracer Technique for Measurement of Methane Emission from Ruminants.
- Stevenson, D. M. and Weimer, P. J. 2007. Dominance of *Prevotella* and low abundance of classical ruminal bacteria species in the bovine rumen revealed by relative quantification real-time PCR. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 75: 165-174.
- Stewart, A. A., Undi, M., Wilson, C., Ominski, K. H. and Wittenberg, K. M. 2008. Estimation of carbon dioxide production and energy expenditure of grazing cattle by the sulphur hexafluoride (SF₆) tracer gas technique. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 88: 651-658.
- Stewart, C. S., Flint, H. J. and Bryant, M. P. 1997. The rumen bacteria. *In* The rumen microbial system, 2nd edition (ed. P. N. Hobson and C. S. Stewart), pp. 10-72. Blackie Academic and Professional, New York, NY, USA.
- St-Pierre, N. R., Cobanov, B. and Schnitkey, G. 2003. Economic losses from heat stress by US livestock industries. J. Dairy Sci. 86(E. Suppl.): E52-E77.

- Tatham, B. G., Davis, J. J. and Ferrier, G. R. 2000. Commercial application of net feed intake assessment, biochemical relationships and economic implications of using tested Angus bulls. Asian-Aus. J. Anim. Sci. 13(A): 327-330.
- Theodorou, M. K. and France, J. 2005. Rumen microorganisms and their interactions. *In:* J. Dijkstra, J. M. Forbes, and J. France, editors, Quantitative aspects of ruminant digestion and metabolism. 2nd ed. CABI, Wallingford, UK. P. 207-228.
- University of California, Davis. 2013. Gluconeogenesis. Chemistry LibreTexts. Retrieved December 20, 2016, from http://chem.libretexts.org/Core/Biological Chemistry/Metabolism/Gluconeogenisis.
- Van der Werf, J. H. J. 2004. It is useful to define residual feed intake as a trait in animal breeding programs? Aust. J. Exp. Agric. 44: 405-410.
- VanRaden, P. M., Van Tassell, C. P., Wiggans, G. R., Sonstegard, T. S., Schnabel, R. D., Taylor, J. F. and Schenkel, F. S. 2009. Invited review: reliability of genomic predictions for North American Holstein bulls. J. Dairy Sci. 92: 16-24.
- Verge, X. P. C., Dyer, J. A., Desjardins, R. L. and Worth, D. 2008. Greenhouse gas emissions from the Canadian beef industry. Agr. Sys. 98: 126-134.
- Waghorn, G. C. and Hegarty, R. S. 2011. Lowering ruminant methane emissions through improved feed conversion efficiency. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 166: 290-301.
- Waldo, D. R. 1986. Effect of forage quality on intake and forage concentration interactions. J. Dairy Sci. 69:617.
- Wallace, R. J., McKain, N. and Broderick, G. A. 1993. Breakdown of different peptides by Prevotella (Bacteroides) ruminicola and mixed microorganisms from the sheep rumen. Curr. Microbiol. 26: 333-336.
- Wang, Z., Colazo, M. G., Basarab, J. A., Goonewardene, L. A., Ambrose, D. J., Marques, E., Plastow, G., Miller, S. P. and Moore, S. S. 2012. Impact of selection for residual feed intake on breeding soundness and reproductive performance of bulls on pasture-based multisire mating. J. Anim. Sci. 90(9): 2963-2969.
- Wang, Z., Nkrumah, J.D., Li, C., Basarab, J. A., Goonewardene, L. A., Okine, E. K., Crews, Jr. D. H. and Moore, S.S. 2006. Test duration for growth, feed intake and feed efficiency in beef cattle using the GrowSafe System. J. Anim. Sci. 84: 2289-2298.
- Wolin, M. J., Miller, T. L. and Stewart, C. S. 1997. Microbe-microbe interactions. In the rumen microbial ecosystem, 2nd edition (ed. PM Hobson and CW Stewart), pp. 467-491. Blackie Academic and Professional, London, England, UK.
- Wulf, D. M., Tatum, J. D., Green, R. D., Morgan, J. B., Golden, B. L. and Smith, G. C. 1996. Genetic influences on beef longissimus palatability in Charolais- and Limousin-sired steers and heifers. J. Anim. Sci. 74: 2394-2405.
- Zhou, M., Hernandez-Sanabria, E. and Guan, L. L. 2010. Characterization of rumen methanogenic community variation under different diets and host feed efficiencies using PCR-DGGE analysis. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 76: 3776-3786.
- Zhou, M., Hernandez-Sanabria, E. and Guan, L. L. 2009. Assessment of microbial ecology of ruminal methane producers and cattle's high feed efficiency and low methane production activities. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 75: 6524-6533.

Appendix A: Evaluating Molecular Breeding Values

APPENDIX A: Genomic Molecular Breeding Value and Breed Composition Evaluations Molecular Breeding Values for RFI

In order to evaluate molecular breeding values (MBV) for RFI, tissue samples were collected on all 450 cows, using Typifix (Gene Check, Inc., Greeley, CO, USA) ear tags. Samples were genotyped using a BovineSNP50 Beadchip (Illumina Inc., San Diego, CA) 50K panel. MBVs for RFI were assigned by running a genetic evaluation using an animal model with a genomic relationship matrix, known as genomic best linear unbiased prediction (GBLUP). VanRaden et al. (2009) explained that the GBLUP method is a linear method that assigns all markers the same weight, suggesting they are normally distributed, rather than assigning more weight to more significant markers. GBLUP disregards the true genetic determinism of a trait. GBLUP models are most beneficial for polygenic traits (Boichard et al. 2016), traits which are influenced by several genes (Hermisson et al. 2002), such as RFI. A reference population (i.e. a population with both genotypes and phenotypes) of purebred Angus and Hereford-Angus crossbred cattle in the Phenomic Gap dataset (McKeown et al. 2013) as well as purebred Hereford cattle from the Olds College dataset (Olds, AB, Canada) were used, Individual animal solutions were taken as breeding values for RFI. Accuracy of the MBVs were calculated using the following formula:

$$1 - \sqrt{\frac{\text{PEV}}{\text{Var}_{\text{gen}}}}$$

, where PEV= prediction error variance and Var_{gen}=genetic variance. RFI values were significantly different (P < 0.0001) between groups of high, medium and low gRFI cattle. Tukey's HSD tests revealed significant differences in RFI among all three groups. The average gRFI values for each group, along with their accuracies and ranges, are shown in Table A1.

Genomic-based breed composition and retained heterozygosity

Genomic-based breed composition was predicted using 43,172 SNPs distributed across the 29 autosomes from the Illumina Bovine 50K SNPs with ADMIXTURE software (Alexander et al. 2009) to account for stratification due to breed effects in the association analyses. A larger dataset (n=7845) of purebred animals of different breeds was used as a reference population. Additionally, the heterosis effect was accounted for in the association analyses, by calculating the genomic-based retained heterozygosity (RH) for each individual according to (Dickerson 1973) as follows:

$$\mathrm{RH} = 1 - \sum_{k=1}^{n} P_i^2$$

where P is the fraction of breed i from each of the n breeds. Average RH and breed composition for high medium and low gRFI cows is summarized in Table A2.

Table A1. Mean parameters of gRFI groups of cows			
	Predicted RFI Group		
	High	Medium	Low
n =	86	287	77
RFI Value	$0.074^{\rm a} (0.028)^{\rm Z}$	-0.017 ^b (0.030)	-0.108° (0.036)
Accuracy	0.34 (0.059)	0.39 (0.060)	0.41 (0.081)
RFI Range	$0.14 \le x \ge 0.042$	$0.042 < x \ge -0.07$	$-0.071 \le x \ge -0.213$

a, b, c – indicate significant differences among groups within a row Z – Standard deviations in parentheses

		Predicted RFI Group		
		Low	Medium	High
Mean Retained Heterozygosity		0.233 (0.186) ^Z	0.293 (0.212)	0.323 (0.199)
Retained Heterozygosity Range		0.0003 - 0.525	0.0003 - 0.701	0.018 - 0.652
Number of each Breed gRFI Group ⁻¹	Angus	0	0	6
	Hereford	29	87	5
	Crossbred	6	81	30

 Table A2. Average retained heterozygosity and breed composition distribution of high, medium and low gRFI cows.

Z – Standard deviations in parentheses.

Appendix B: Analytical Procedure References

APPENDIX B: Analytical Procedure References (Cumberland Valley Analytical Services)

Nitrogen/Protein Concentration

Association of Official Analytical Chemists (AOAC) International. 2000. Protein (crude) in animal feed (990.03). Official Methods of Analysis, 17th edition, MD, USA.

Specification: Analysis conducted using a Leco FP-528 Nitrogen Combustion Analyzer (Leco, 3000 Lakeview Avenue, MI, USA)

Acid Detergent Fiber

AOAC International. 2000. Fiber (Acid Detergent) and Lignin in Animal Feed (973.18). Official Methods of Analysis, 17th edition, MD, USA.

 Modifications: Whatman 934-AH glass micro-fiber filters with 1.5um particle retention was used in place of fritted glass crucible.

Neutral Detergent Fiber

Van Soest, P.J., J.B. Robertson, and B.A. Lewis. 1991. Methods for Dietary Fiber, Neutral detergent fiber, and nonstarch polysaccharides in relation to animal nutrition. J. Dairy Science 74:3583-3597.

Modification: Whatman 934-AH glass micro-fiber filters were used with 1.5um particle retention.

Metals and Minerals

AOAC International. 2000. Metals and Other Elements in Plants (985.01). Official Methods of Analysis, 17th edition, MD, USA.

Modifications: Ash 0.35g sample for 1 hr at 535°C, then digest in open crucibles for 20 min in 15% nitric acid on a hotplate. Samples were diluted to 50ml and analyzed using an inductively coupled plasma (ICP) device (Perkin Elmer 5300 DV ICP, PerkinElmer, CT, USA).

Appendix C: N-Alkane Pellet Preparation

APPENDIX C: N-Alkane Pellet Preparation

Extruded pellets containing Beeswax and C_{32} were used as alkane markers and fed to replacement heifers to determine DMI on pasture. Feeding of C_{32} n-alkane pellets was approved by the University of Alberta Animal Care and Use Committee (AUP00001284). Pellets were prepared at the Food Science and Technology Centre (Brooks, Alberta, Canada) in accordance with standard operating procedures developed by researchers at the AAFC Lacombe Research Centre and the Food Science and Technology Centre. Pellets were prepared in 2015 and stored in large tote bags until the trial in 2016. All ingredients were supplied by Dr. John Basarab at the AAFC Lacombe Research Centre (Lacombe, Alberta, Canada).

- The pellet ingredient composition is listed in Table C1. The canola meal, ground wheat, ground barley and corn dried distillers grains and solubles (DDGS) were sieved with a 9-14 mm screen to remove contaminants and large grain kernels before weighing. Canola oil was mixed by hand into the canola meal prior to weighing. Weights of all of the ingredients in one batch are listed in Table C2. Each batch had a total weight of 215.6 kg.
- Beeswax, shredded using a stainless steel cheese grater, was stored at -20°C. Following freezing, the beeswax was crumbled by hand, 1.54 kg was hand-mixed with 16.60 kg of barley flour to create a premix, which was immediately stored in the freezer until final batch blending.
- 3. A synthetic alkane marker, C₃₂ dotriacontane, was added to the feed blend at a concentration of 0.04%. Due to its low inclusion rate, a C₃₂ premix was made using barley flour as a diluter. The premix included 4.3 kg barley flour and 0.088 kg C₃₂, for a total of 4.40 kg of C₃₂ premix added to each feed batch.
- **4.** A fluidizing paddle blender (Model FPB-20, American Process Systems, Gurnee, Illinois, USA) was used to mix the ingredients at 60 Hz for 2 minutes.
- 5. Pellet extrusion (i.e. the process of forming pellets) was done using a co-rotating, intermeshing twinscrew extruder (Model ZSK-57, Werner and Pfleiderer, Ramsey, New Jersey, USA) with a barrel diameter of 57 mm and length to diameter ratio of 24:1; the extruder had eight different barrels. Feed

ingredients were supplied to the second barrel and moved throughout subsequent barrels before being pressed through the die. Temperature was independently controlled for three different sets of barrels and for the die:

- a. Two and three: 51°C
- b. Four, five and six: 90°C to 80°C when moving from barrel four to barrel six
- c. Seven and eight: 132°C
- d. Die: 145°C
- 6. Feed ingredients were pressed through a circular 2.5 mm diameter die and cut at the die with a rotating knife to approximately 1.9 cm. Extrudates were then dried and cooled in a gas fired fluidized bed dryer (Carrier, Louisville, Kentucky, USA).
- 7. Dried pellets (48.75 kg) were coated with 1.25 kg canola oil using a garden sprayer and blended with a fluidizing paddle blender at a speed of 50 Hz to ensure even coating.
- **8.** Coated pellets were packed into tote bags with a total net weight of 200-250 kg per bag. Bags were stored indoors at the AAFC Lacombe Research Centre until used.

Table C1. Percentage of ingredients present in the n-alkane pellet feed blend.		
Barley Grain (%) ^Z	55	
Wheat Grain (%) ^Z	20	
Canola Meal (%)	16	
Corn DDGS (%)	5.3	
Canola Oil (%)	1	
Beeswax (%) ^X	0.7	
C ₃₂ (%) ^Y	0.04	
Canola Oil Coating (%) W		
Total	98.04	

Z: finely ground ingredients, X: natural marker, Y: synthetic marker

W: added after extrusion at a rate of approximately 2.5% of the total weight

Table C2. Ingredient preparation by batch.	
Barley Grain (kg)	100
Wheat Grain (kg)	44
Canola Meal (kg)	35.2
Corn DDGS (kg)	11.66
Canola Oil (kg)	2.2
Beeswax Premix (kg)	18.14
C ₃₂ Premix (kg)	4.4
Total (kg)	215.6

Appendix D: Paddock Layout and Forage Management

APPENDIX D: Paddock Layout and Forage Management

The north half of Irrigation Pivot 4, located at the University of Alberta Mattheis Research Ranch, was seeded to a monoculture of forage oats to allow for the assessment of feed intake and methane production from heifers on pasture. The seeded paddock was fenced in long narrow strips to allow for strip-grazing, adjacent to a large warm-up area at the perimeter of the seeded paddock (Fig. D1). Both the warm-up area (used for pre-conditioning animals to their new diet) and grazing strips were in close proximity to a cattle handling facility and the entire seeded area was relatively flat with few fluctuations in topography.

Forage Management

A grazing paddock, covering half the area of Pivot 4 (19.02 ha) was seeded to CDC Baler forage oats, and irrigated following seeding. Oats were seeded May 3, 2016 with a Bourgalt 5700 Air Hoe Drill at a rate of 78.46 kg ha⁻¹ with a seed row spacing of 24.13 cm. In addition, 8.97 kg ha⁻¹ of Italian Ryegrass was broadcasted with a Valmar after the oats were drilled in. Ammonium phosphate fertilizer (11-52-0) was incorporated with the seed at a rate of 50.44 kg ha⁻¹ along with 68.13 kg ha⁻¹ of urea (46-0-0) in midrow (i.e. the fertilizer was placed between 30 cm seed rows). The crop was sprayed once (June 3, 2016) with Curtail[®] to eliminate undesirable broadleaf weeds; specifically targeting Canada thistle, dandelion, lambs-quarter's, and wild buckwheat. Grazing restrictions and intervals were obeyed to ensure that cattle did not graze the paddock within seven days of herbicide application. Following seeding, and prior to the start of the grazing trials, the paddock was irrigated at least once every two weeks to ensure adequate forage growth by the start of grazing on June 13.

Strip Grazing Layout and Calculations

A section of the paddock was fenced off in long narrow strips, with enough strips to allow the heifers to access a new strip each day; strips were large enough to provide adequate feed for all the heifers within a group (8-9 head) for one day. The following calculations were done to determine the appropriate length and width of the strips. Calculations were based on daily feed utilization of 7% of the heifers' body

weight (Manafiazar et al. 2015), in which 2.5% was necessary to meet feed intake requirements (NRC 1996) and an additional 4.5% accounted for feed wastage and trampling; it also ensured that both groups of heifers (high and low RFI) consumed mostly leafy portions of the grass sward in an effort to maintain consistency of the diet.

- Three individual 0.5m² areas of pasture were clipped right to the base of the sward on June 29, 2016, one day prior to the start of the strip-grazing period. Areas were randomly selected as to represent the entire grazing area. Each of the three samples was weighed on an as-fed basis. Samples were collected shortly before grazing.
 - Sample 1 (collected on June 29, 2016): $1 \ 151.62 \ \text{g/m}^2$
 - Sample 2 (collected on June 29, 2016): 1 319.94 g/m²
 - Sample 3 (collected on June 29, 2016): 1 206.32 g/m²
- 2. Weights from the three samples were averaged and forage weight was calculated per square metre.

$$\frac{1151.62 + 1319.94 + 1206.32}{3} = 1\ 225.78\ \text{g/m}^2$$
$$X = 1225.78\ \text{g/m}^2 \qquad X = 1.226\ \text{kg/m}^2$$

3. Average weights of the heifers taken on June 21, 2016 were used to determine average estimated weights of the heifers on June 28, 2016 which were multiplied by 7% to determine the amount of feed necessary in each strip, for one day. (The estimated weight was slightly higher than the actual weight, to ensure that enough feed would be available).

$$351.47 \text{ kg } x \ 0.07 = 24.60 \text{ kg/animal/day}$$

4. The size of grazing strips needed was then determined based on the total amount of feed necessary for one day of grazing for all animals within each herd (initially 9, then 8 head per group).

$$24.60 \text{ kg } x 9 \text{ animals} = 221.43 \text{ kg/group}$$
5. All strips had a width of 5m to accommodate adequate measurements of laser methane emission from cattle. Length of the strips were adjusted to ensure a sufficient abundance of feed as well as appropriate length to capture methane observations. The amount of total feed within the area of the strips was calculated as follows:

5 m wide x 80 m long = 400 m² 1.226 kg x 400 m^2 = 490.40 kg/strip

Each group of nine heifers (later reduced to eight) had access to a new strip of forage each day, containing approximately 490 kg of dry matter biomass. Although each group of heifers only required approximately 221 kg each day, the abundance of forage allowed for about 45% maximum utilization (including feed intake and wastage). This ensured that heifers had *ad-libitum* access to feed and that they were able to select mostly leafy (i.e. high quality) components of the plant, rather than the stems, allowing for consistency in diet from one day to the next.



Figure D1. Pivot 4 at the University of Alberta Mattheis Research Ranch, fenced off and set-up for grazing during the warm-up (acclimation) period and for strip grazing during the subsequent collection of methane observations. The warm-up area was positioned between pivot tracks to prevent interference with pivot use. Long, fenced off alleyways were used to move cattle between the handling facilities, warm-up area, and the grazing strips. The original image was sourced from Google Earth.